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Business 
summary
ingenia communities Group (ASX ticker: iNA), previously known as the 
iNG Real Estate community Living Group, is a triple stapled property 
group that owns, manages and develops a diversified portfolio of seniors 
housing communities. Together the stapled group has total look-through 
assets of $429 million with operations located predominately in Australia. 

$429million
Assets under management

Garden Villages
Settlers Lifestyle
dmf conversions

ingenia is the largest 
pure‑play seniors living 
fund on the AsX.
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A dedicated, focused  
and industry experienced 
new Board to lead  
ingenia Communities.

Jim Hazel 
independent non‑Executive Chairman

Philip Clark AM 
independent non‑Executive director

Amanda Heyworth 
independent non‑Executive director
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directors’ report
 YeaR enDeD 30 June 2012

the directors of ingenia communities Holdings Limited 
(the “company”) present their report together with the 
company’s financial report for the year ended 30 June 
2012 and the independent auditor’s Report thereon. the 
company’s financial report comprises the consolidated 
financial report of the company and its controlled entities, 
including the ingenia communities Fund (“icF” or the “Fund”) 
and the ingenia communities management trust (“icmt”) 
(collectively, the “trusts”).

the Fund was formerly the ing Real estate community Living 
Fund. icmt was formerly the ing Real estate community 
Living management trust.

From 4 June 2012 ingenia communities Re Limited (“icRe”), 
a wholly owned subsidiary of the company became the 
responsible entity for the trusts. on that date, management 
of the trusts was internalised and the stapled entity known as 
ingenia communities group (consisting of the company and 
the trusts) (the “group”) was formed (“internalisation”).

Previously, the trusts operated as a stapled entity known as ing 
Real estate community Living group. the responsible entity 
for the trusts until 4 June 2012 was ing management Limited 
(“imL”). imL is an australian domiciled company and is a wholly 
owned company within the ing groep nV group of companies.

in accordance with accounting standard aasB 3 Business 
Combinations, the stapling of the company and the trusts 
is regarded as a business combination. the company has 
been identified as the parent for preparing consolidated 
financial reports.

1. dirECtors
the directors of the company at any time during or since the 
end of the financial year were:

Non-executive directors
Jim Hazel (chairman) appointed 1 march 2012

Philip clark am appointed 4 June 2012

amanda Heyworth appointed 16 april 2012

Executive directors
simon owen 
(managing Director)

 appointed 24 november 2011

greg inkson  appointed 24 november 2011; 
resigned 24 april 2012

Peter Day  appointed 24 november 2011; 
resigned 24 april 2012

1.1  Qualifications, experience and special 
responsibilities

Jim Hazel
Non-executive Chairman

mr Hazel has had an extensive 
corporate career in both the banking 
and retirement sectors. His retirement 
and village operations experience 
includes being managing director 
of Primelife corporation Limited 
(now part of Lend Lease). other 
listed company directorships include 
Bendigo and adelaide Bank Limited 
since 2010, centrex metals Limited 
since 2010 and impedimed Limited 
since 2006. Jim also serves on the 
boards of motor accident commission, 
coopers Brewery Limited and the 
council for ageing (sa) inc.

Philip Clark AM
Non-executive Director

mr clark is a member of the 
J.P. morgan advisory council and 
chairs a number of government and 
private company boards. He was 
managing partner and chief executive 
officer of minter ellison and worked 
with that firm from 1995 to 2005. 
Prior to joining minter ellison, mr clark 
was a director and head of corporate 
with aBn amro australia and prior to 
that he was managing partner with 
mallesons stephen Jaques for 16 years. 
mr clark is a former director of imL.

Amanda Heyworth
Non-executive Director

ms Heyworth serves as executive 
director of Playford capital. she has 
a wealth of experience in the finance, 
technology and government sectors. 
ms Heyworth brings a finance and 
growth focus to the group, having 
worked on many product launches and 
geographic expansions and over 40 
capital raisings and m&a transactions. 
she sits on a number of public sector 
and private boards including sa 
Lotteries and the Phoenix society.
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simon owen
Managing Director

mr owen joined the former ing 
Real estate community Living 
group in november 2009 as the 
chief executive officer. He has 
the overall responsibility for the 
strategic direction of the group 
including operational, financial and 
capital management. mr owen 
brings to ingenia communities 
in-depth experience in the retirement 
sector and is currently the national 
President of the Retirement Villages 
association (RVa), the peak industry 
advocacy group in australia. 
mr owen’s experience spans across 
multiple disciplines including finance, 
funds management, mergers and 
acquisitions, business development 
and sales and marketing. Prior to 
ingenia communities, mr owen was 
the ceo of aevum, a formerly listed 
retirement company. mr owen is 
a qualified accountant (cPa) with 
postgraduate diplomas in finance and 
investment, and advanced accounting.

greg inkson

an executive director from the date of incorporation 
until 24 april 2012, which was prior to completion 
of the internalisation.

Peter day

an executive director from the date of incorporation 
until 24 april 2012, which was prior to completion 
of the internalisation.

1.2 Meetings
the number of meetings of directors (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the year and the number 
of meetings attended by each director was as follows:

BoArd Audit CoMMittEE
rEMunErAtion & 

noMinAtion CoMMittEE

a B a B a B

Jim Hazel 3 3 – – – –

Philip clark am 1 1 – – – –

amanda Heyworth 2 2 – – – –

simon owen 4 4 – – – –

greg inkson 3 3 – – – –

Peter Day 3 3 – – – –

a: meetings eligible to attend B: meetings attended

1.3 interests of directors
securities in the group held by directors as at 30 June 2012 were:

issuEd stAPlEd
sECuritiEs

PErforMAnCE
QuAntuM rigHts

rEtEntion
QuAntuM rigHts

Jim Hazel 500,000 — —

Philip clark am 90,151 — —

amanda Heyworth 200,000 — —

simon owen 1,440,750 2,260,000 1,070,000
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2. CoMPAnY sECrEtAriEs
leanne ralph
mrs Ralph was appointed to the part-time position of 
company secretary in april 2012. mrs Ralph has over 21 years 
experience in chief financial officer and company secretarial 
roles for various publicly listed and unlisted entities. mrs Ralph 
is a member of chartered secretaries australia, australian 
institute of company Directors and cPa australia. mrs Ralph 
is the principal of Boardworx australia Pty Ltd, which supplies 
bespoke outsourced company secretarial services to a number 
of listed and unlisted companies.

tania Betts
ms Betts was appointed as chief Financial officer (“cFo”) in 
may 2012, after a 6 year career at stockland group where she 
held various positions including national Finance manager 
within their Retirement Living Division. ms Betts’ previous 
experience includes several years within the chartered 
accounting profession as well as working for a leading health 
care provider. she holds a Bachelor of Business in accounting 
and Finance, is a member of both the institute of chartered 
accountants and chartered secretaries australia and was the 
winner of the 2011 urban Development institute of australia 
Young Developer Leadership award.

3. CorPorAtE goVErnAnCE stAtEMEnt
this statement outlines the main corporate governance 
practices currently in place for ingenia communities group 
and also addresses the asX corporate governance council 
corporate governance Principles and Recommendations (asX 
Recommendations). the Board believes that the group accords 
with the majority of the principles and recommendations of the 
asX corporate governance council with the exception of one 
recommendation, which is outlined in the report.

the corporate governance policies and practices described 
below are those in place as at the end of the financial year, 
post internalisation. the Board will continue to review the 
governance framework and practices of the group to ensure 
they meet the interests of securityholders.

3.1 Corporate governance structure

(a) Ingenia Communities Group and its Constitutions
ingenia communities group is a triple stapled structure 
comprising the parent company, ingenia communities Holdings 
Limited, ingenia communities management trust, and ingenia 
communities Fund. the trust and Fund each have their 
own constitution (the “constitutions”) both of which have 
been lodged with the australian securities and investments 
commission (“asic”). the rights and obligations of unitholders 
are governed by these constitutions and the Corporations 
Act 2001. the terms contained in each constitution are 
substantially the same.

the responsible entity of the trust and the Fund, ingenia 
communities Re Limited is the holder of an australian Financial 
services Licence.

(b) Compliance plans
in accordance with the corporations act requirements, the 
responsible entity has registered compliance Plans with asic. 
the compliance Plans for the group describe the procedures 
that the responsible entity will apply in operating the trust 
and Fund to ensure compliance with the corporations act 
and the constitutions.

the Board of the responsible entity is responsible for 
monitoring the group’s compliance with the compliance 
Plan. Further details are provided under the section on 
risk management.

3.2 role of the Board
the Board of ingenia communities group is responsible for 
overseeing the effective management and operation of the 
group. the Board operates under a formal charter, which can 
be found on the group’s website (www.ingeniacommunities.
com.au). in addition to the function prescribed by law, the 
Board has the following functions and responsibilities:

Corporate strategy
•	 evaluate, approve and monitor the strategic and financial 

plans for the group.

•	 evaluate, approve and monitor the annual financial 
budgets of the group.

•	 evaluate, approve and monitor major capital expenditure, 
capital management and all major corporate transactions.

Board composition and structure
•	 Review the composition of the Board and consider 

Board succession.

•	 ensure an annual review of the performance of the Board, 
its committees and directors is carried out.

Other corporate
•	 approve changes to the group’s capital structure.

•	 approve the establishment and issue of any 
options in the group.

•	 establish and approve a distribution policy to 
securityholders and any changes to that policy.

•	 oversee the effective management and 
operation of the group.

•	 approve the issue of Public Disclosure statements.

Executive management
•	 appointment and removal of the managing 

director (“mD”).

•	 approve the employment terms and conditions of the mD.

•	 Review and provide feedback on the performance of 
the mD.

•	 approve the appointment of the mD’s direct reports and 
oversee their performance and remuneration.

•	 Review management succession planning.

•	 approve the level of delegated authority to the mD, via the 
Delegations and authority Policy.

•	 appointment and removal of the company secretary.
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Governance and risk management
•	 monitor the overall framework of governance and Risk 

management for the business in relation to the principles 
of best practice corporate governance.

•	 approve and monitor compliance with the group’s key 
corporate policies, and conduct a review of these policies 
on an annual basis.

•	 monitor the group’s operations in relation to, and 
compliance with, relevant regulatory requirements, and 
any other contractual, statutory or legal obligation.

•	 monitor compliance with the group Delegation of 
authority Policy.

•	 Recommending to securityholders the appointment 
of the external auditor.

Financial reporting
•	 Review and approve all financial reports of the group.

•	 establish an audit and Risk committee to review the 
group’s financial reporting and oversee the independence 
of the external auditors, and to review reports provided 
by the audit and Risk committee.

•	 Review and approve the disclosure in the annual report 
and any departures from the australian stock exchange 
best practice corporate governance principles and 
recommendations.

Investor communications
•	 approve all material reporting and other external 

communications by the group in accordance with the 
group’s communication Policy.

•	 Review management’s strategy for investor 
communications annually.

•	 Review management’s written policy and procedures 
to ensure compliance with the asX continuous 
disclosure requirements.

generally, the managing director is responsible for all matters 
not specifically identified as the responsibility of the Board.

3.3 role of the Board of the responsible entity
as the responsible entity, the Board of ingenia communities 
Re Limited has additional responsibilities for the operation 
of the Fund and trust. the responsible entity must exercise its 
powers and perform the obligations conferred on it under the 
constitutions and the Corporations Act 2001 and to ensure 
that the activities of the group are conducted in a proper 
and efficient manner in the best interests of unitholders. 
the responsible entity must also ensure compliance with the 
conditions of the australian Financial services Licence and 
approve and monitor compliance with compliance Plans.

3.4 Board size and composition
the constitution of the group provides that there will be a 
minimum of three directors and not more than ten directors.

Directors are appointed with the aim of ensuring the Board has:

•	 an appropriate range of skills, experience and expertise;

•	 a proper understanding of, and competence to deal 
with, current and emerging issues in the industry in 
which it engages;

•	 the ability to effectively review and challenge 
the performance of management and exercise 
independent judgement; and

•	 a majority of independent directors.

(a) Terms of appointment
non-executive directors are appointed pursuant to formal 
letters of appointment which, among other things, sets out 
the key terms and conditions of the appointment; the Board’s 
expectations in relation to the performance of the director, 
procedures for dealing with a director’s potential conflict of 
interest; and the disclosure obligations of the director, together 
with the details of the director’s remuneration.

(b) Directors’ interests
Directors are required to keep the Board advised of any interest 
that may be in conflict with those of ingenia communities 
group, and restrictions are applied to directors’ rights to 
participate in discussion and to vote, as circumstances dictate 
when a conflict has been identified. in particular, where a 
potential conflict of interest may exist, directors concerned 
may be required to leave the Board meeting while the matter 
is considered in their absence.

ingenia communities group has also entered into a deed of 
disclosure with each director, which is designed to facilitate the 
group’s compliance with its obligations under the asX Listing 
Rules relating to disclosure of changes in directors’ stapled 
security holdings. Directors and their nominated related party 
security holdings, are also monitored to identify changes that 
may require urgent disclosure.

(c) Independent advice
the Board has a policy of enabling directors to seek 
independent professional advice for ingenia communities 
group related matters at the group’s expense, subject to the 
prior notification of the chairman and where the estimated 
costs are considered to be reasonable.

(d) Directors’ independence
the Board has considered specific principles in relation to 
directors’ independence. the Board considers an independent 
director to be a non-executive director who is not a member 
of ingenia communities group’s management and who is 
free of any business or other relationship that could materially 
interfere with, or could reasonably be perceived to interfere 
with, the independent exercise of their judgement. the Board 
will consider the materiality of any given relationship on 
a case-by-case basis, having regard to both quantitative and 
qualitative principles.
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at the date of this report, the Board comprises three 
non-executive directors, and one executive director. the 
Boards’ of ingenia communities Holdings Limited and 
ingenia communities Re Limited have the same directors. 
the current members of the Board are mr Jim Hazel 
(chairman), ms amanda Heyworth (non-executive director), 
mr Philip clark (non-executive director) and mr simon owen 
(managing Director).

mr Jim Hazel, ms amanda Heyworth and mr Philip clark 
are considered by the Board to be independent. ingenia 
communities group recognises that having a majority of 
independent non-executive directors provides assurance that 
the Board is structured properly to fulfil its role in holding 
management accountable for the group’s performance.

the Board considers that the existing Board structure 
is appropriate for ingenia communities group’s current 
operations and stage of development.

Directors’ details are listed on pages 5 to 6, including details 
of their other listed company directorships and experience.

(e) Chairman
the role of chairman and managing director is not occupied 
by the same individual. the Board has agreed that it should 
continue to have a majority of independent non-executive 
directors, that the positions of chairman and managing 
director must be separate, and that the chairman should 
be an independent non-executive director.

mr Jim Hazel was appointed chairman of the group on 1 march 
2012 and is considered an independent director in accordance 
with recommendation 2.1 of the asX recommendations.

(f) Board diversity
in appointing members to the new ingenia communities 
group Board, consideration was given to the skills, business 
experience and educational backgrounds of candidates. the 
advantage of having a mix of relevant business, executive and 
professional experience on the Board; the importance of cultural 
and ethical values; and the benefits of diversity, including 
gender diversity is also recognised. these factors will also be 
considered in any future appointments to the Board including 
any identified skills ‘gaps’.

the Remuneration and nomination committee oversees 
the director nomination process. ultimately, the full Board 
determines who is invited to fill a casual vacancy after extensive 
one-on-one and collective interviews with candidates and 
thorough due diligence and reference checking.

the ingenia communities group Board has one female 
non-executive director out of four directors. ms amanda 
Heyworth was appointed to the Board for her specific 
skills and experience including financial, investment and 
marketing experience.

a formal diversity policy has not yet been adopted by the 
Board due to the group only recently internalising, but this 
will be considered by the Board in the coming months. once 
the Board adopts a diversity policy it will include measurable 
objectives for achieving gender diversity. However, the group 
has always had a policy of actively encouraging gender 
diversity at all levels in the organisation, and a culture that 
supports workplace diversity. this is evidenced by:

•	 the proportion of female employees in the whole 
organisation: 60%

•	 the proportion of female employees 
in senior positions: 47%

•	 the proportion of female employees on the 
executive committee: 75%

(g) Board meetings
the Board typically schedules meetings on a monthly basis, 
with additional meetings convened as required. agendas 
for each meeting are prepared by the company secretary 
together with the managing director and input from the 
chairman, and are distributed prior to the meeting together 
with supporting papers.

standing items include the managing director’s report and 
the financial report, as well as reports addressing matters of 
strategy, governance and compliance. senior executives are 
directly involved in Board discussions, and directors have a 
number of further opportunities to contact a wider group 
of employees, including visits to business operations.

Board papers include minutes of Board committees and 
subsidiaries as well as papers on material issues requiring 
consideration. significant matters are presented to the 
Board by senior executives, and the Board may seek 
further information on any issue, from any executive.

(h) Board and director performance
the Board has only been in its current form since internalisation 
on 4 June 2012. the Board intends to review its performance, 
the performance of its committees and that of individual 
directors at the appropriate intervals, likely to be commencing 
towards the mid-end of the 2013 calendar year. this timing 
will be approximately 12 months from internalisation. the 
Board has already compiled a skill-matrix to identify potential 
skills ‘gaps’ as the operations of the group grow in size and 
diversity. any future appointment of a non-executive director 
is likely to be specifically from the property sector and/or 
a marketing background.
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3.5 Board committees
the ultimate responsibility for the oversight of the operations 
of the group rests with the Board of Directors. However, 
the Board may discharge any of its responsibilities through 
committees of the Board in accordance with the constitutions 
and the Corporations Act 2001.

the Board has established the following committees, and it 
is the intention of the Board to review the composition and 
effectiveness of the committees on an annual basis:

•	 audit and Risk committee

•	 Remuneration and nomination committee

these committees operate in accordance with their committee 
charters approved by the Board. copies of these charters 
can be viewed on the ingenia communities group website 
(www.ingeniacommunities.com.au).

(a) Audit and Risk Committee
the Board has established an audit and Risk committee, which 
assists the Board in fulfilling its governance and disclosure 
responsibilities. the audit committee has a written charter 
outlining the role and responsibility of the committee.

the purpose of the committee is to review the integrity 
of the group’s financial reporting practices; oversee the 
independence of the external auditors; maintain open lines of 
communication among the Board and external auditors, serve 
as an independent and objective party to review the financial 
information submitted by management to the Board for issue 
to security holders, regulatory authorities and the general 
public; review the adequacy of the reporting and accounting 
controls of the group; and to oversee the group’s legislative 
compliance and risk management policies and procedures.

the committee has the following responsibilities.

(i) Review of the Group’s financial reports:

•	 Review the group’s financial reports and commentary 
prepared by management.

•	 Review any reports on the financial reports prepared 
by the group’s external auditor.

•	 assess the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
adopted in preparing the group’s financial reports.

•	 assess whether the financial reports are adequate for 
securityholder needs.

•	 Review the compliance with disclosure requirements.

•	 assess the adequacy of representations by management 
as to presentation of the financial reports.

•	 Recommend approval of the financial reports by the Board.

(ii) External auditors:

•	 establish and maintain procedures for the appointment 
and rotation of the group’s external auditor.

•	 assess the performance of the external auditor.

•	 assess the independence of the external auditor, having 
regard to the provision of non-audit services.

•	 Review the reasonableness of the external audit fees.

(iii) Internal control framework:

•	 Review the written policies and procedures designed 
to ensure accurate external financial reporting and make 
recommendations to the Board thereon.

•	 Receive reports from the internal audit function including 
on all incidents of actual or suspected fraud or theft 
(if applicable).

•	 Review of operational risk management.

•	 Review of the internal compliance and control systems 
in relation to functions other than financial reporting.

(iv) Compliance

•	 Review the adequacy of the group’s system for compliance 
with relevant laws, regulations, standards and codes.

(v) Risk management

•	 the committee shall be responsible for implementing and 
overseeing the group’s risk management policies.

•	 in addition, the committee shall:
 — identify and assess the group’s material business risks;
 — Regularly review and update the group’s 
risk profile; and

 — oversee the risk management policies and systems.

the audit and Risk committee consists of three non-executive 
directors, all of which are independent directors, and is chaired 
by an independent director, who is not chair of the Board. 
the chairman satisfies the test of independence.

the current members of the audit and Risk committee are 
ms amanda Heyworth (chair), mr Philip clark and mr Jim Hazel, 
in accordance with recommendation 2.1 of the asX 
recommendations.

at least one member of the committee has relevant accounting 
qualifications and experience and all members have a good 
understanding of financial reporting. Details of these directors’ 
qualifications and attendance at audit and Risk committee 
meetings are set out in the Directors’ Report.

the external auditor will attend the annual general meeting 
and be available to answer securityholder questions about 
the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content 
of the audit report, accounting policies adopted by ingenia 
communities group, and the independence of the auditor 
in relation to the conduct of the audit.

(b) Remuneration and Nomination Committee
the Board has an established Remuneration and nomination 
committee. the Remuneration and nomination committee 
has a written charter defining the role and responsibilities 
of the committee.

the Remuneration and nomination committee has been 
established by the Board to assist in the review of the overall 
strategies of the remuneration of the group’s non-executive 
directors and executives and for the review of the 
composition of the Board.



11

www.ingeniacommunities.com.au

the purpose of the committee is to support and advise the 
Board in the following areas:

•	 reviewing and recommending the executive remuneration 
policy to enable the group to attract and retain executives 
and directors who will create value for securityholders;

•	 ensuring that the executive remuneration policy 
demonstrates a clear relationship between key executive 
performance and remuneration;

•	 recommending to the Board the remuneration of executive 
and non-executive directors;

•	 reviewing and commenting on superannuation 
arrangements;

•	 fairly and responsibly rewarding executives having regard 
to the performance of the group, the performance 
of the executive and the prevailing remuneration 
expectations in the market;

•	 reviewing the group’s recruitment, retention 
and termination policies and procedures for 
senior management;

•	 reviewing and recommending to the Board the 
remuneration of direct reports to the managing director, 
and as appropriate other senior executives;

•	 reviewing and recommending to the Board any equity 
based plans and other incentive schemes;

•	 developing a process for evaluation of the performance 
of the Board, its committees and directors;

•	 overseeing the annual performance evaluations of senior 
executives of the group;

•	 making recommendations to the Board on the 
appointment and re-election of directors;

•	 reviewing and reporting to the Board on the mix of skills 
and experience of the Board with the aim of ensuring 
it remains an effective decision-making body.

the Remuneration and nomination committee consists of 
three non-executive directors all of which are independent 
directors and is chaired by an independent director who is not 
chair of the Board. the chair satisfies the test of independence.

the current members of the Remuneration and nomination 
committee are mr Philip clark (chair), ms amanda Heyworth 
and mr Jim Hazel.

each member of the senior executive team, including the 
executive director, have signed formal employment contracts 
at the time of their appointment, covering a range of 
matters including their duties, rights, responsibilities and any 
entitlements on termination. each contract refers to a specific 
formal job description. each contract sets out the remuneration 
of the executive, including his or her entitlements to any rights 
under incentive plans.

ingenia communities group aims to have a clear process for 
evaluating the performance of senior executives. the Board has 
delegated to the Remuneration and nomination committee 
the responsibility to oversee the annual performance evaluation 
of the group’s senior executives, but retains the performance 
evaluation of the managing director.

the evaluation for all executives will be based on specific 
criteria, including the business performance of the company, 
whether strategic objectives are being achieved, and the 
development of management and personnel.

non-executive directors receive director’s fees outlined in 
their letters of appointment. no non-executive director has 
any entitlement to participate in any executive incentive plan.

Further information on directors’ and executives’ remuneration, 
including principles used to determine remuneration, 
is set out in the Directors’ Report under the heading 
‘’Remuneration Report’’.

3.6 risk MAnAgEMEnt
the Board is responsible for ensuring that sound risk 
management strategy and polices are in place. the Board 
has established an audit and Risk committee that has the 
delegated responsibility for identifying and overseeing major 
risks and ensuring that systems are in place to manage them.

in addition, the committee:

•	 identifies and assesses the group’s material business risks;

•	 regularly reviews and updates the group’s risk profile; and

•	 oversees the risk management policies and systems.

ingenia communities group’s risk management framework 
is integrated with its day-to-day business processes and 
functional responsibilities, and is supported by a dedicated 
compliance officer.

a compliance officer has been appointed under the rules of 
the compliance plans of the Fund and trust. the compliance 
officer is responsible for ensuring adequate internal systems and 
controls have been implemented to ensure compliance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, the trusts’ constitutions, the responsible 
entity’s australian Financial services Licence, and internal and 
industry standards. these duties include promoting a strong 
compliance culture within the organisation and to external 
service providers.

the compliance officer is primarily responsible for reviewing 
compliance on an ongoing basis; reporting on compliance 
matters, including breaches, to the audit and Risk committee; 
and acting on recommendations of the audit and Risk 
committee. matters will be escalated to the Board of the 
responsible entity or asic when necessary.

the compliance officer has direct access to the chair of the 
audit and Risk committee to ensure the compliance officer 
is well placed to adequately deal with compliance issues. 
management, via the compliance officer, is required to assess 
risk management and associated internal compliance and 
control procedures, and is required to report back quarterly 
to the audit and Risk committee as to whether those risks are 
being managed effectively. a quarterly risk and compliance 
report is prepared by the compliance officer for review and 
consideration by the Board.
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(a) Compliance plans
each of the trusts has a formal compliance plan in place that 
has been adopted by the Board and lodged with asic. the 
purpose of each compliance plan is to set out key processes, 
systems and measures the responsible entity will apply to 
ensure compliance with:

•	 the Corporations Act 2001;

•	 the constitutions of the Fund and trust;

•	 industry practice standards relevant to the 
particular scheme; and

•	 internal policies and procedures.

each compliance plan is a ‘how to’ document and has been 
prepared following a structured and systematic process to 
consider the responsible entity’s key obligations under the act, 
and the constitutions; the risk of non-compliance; and measures 
required to meet the risks of non-compliance.

each compliance plan describes the key obligations that must 
be met by the responsible entity, and how compliance with 
these measures will be monitored. in addition, the compliance 
plans detail the risk of not complying with these obligations, 
and how breaches are to be reported and addressed.

3.7 External auditors

(a) Compliance plan audit
our external auditors conduct annual audits on the compliance 
Plan and report on:

•	 whether the responsible entity has compiled with the 
compliance plans of the trust and the Fund for the 
financial year end; and

•	 whether the compliance plans continue to meet the 
requirements of Part 5c.4 of the Corporations Act 2011 
as at year end.

(b) Australian Financial Services Licence audit
the aFsL audit is conducted annually by the external auditor. 
the auditor reports on the following:

•	 whether the responsible entity has complied 
with the specified provisions of Part 7.8 of the 
Corporations Act 2011;

•	 whether the responsible entity has complied with sections 
981B and 982B of the act (relating to the control and 
operation of trust accounts);

•	 whether the responsible entity has complied with specific 
aFsL conditions relating to financial requirements, 
including internal procedures used by the Licensee 
to comply with the financial requirements under 
the Licence; and

•	 whether the cash projections meet the cash need 
requirement conditions of the aFsL.

3.8 other external review

(a) ASIC
asic may undertake a review of the responsible entity’s risk 
and compliance processes and systems at any time.

(b) AUSTRAC
austRac may undertake a review of the responsible entity’s 
compliance with the anti-money Laundering laws at any time.

(c) Executive confirmations
in accordance with ingenia communities group’s legal 
obligations, simon owen (managing Director or “mD”) and 
tania Betts (chief Financial officer or “cFo”) have made the 
following certifications to the Board:

•	 ingenia communities group’s financial records have been 
properly maintained in accordance with section 286 of the 
Corporations Act 2001;

•	 ingenia communities group’s financial statements, 
and notes thereto; present a true and fair view, in all 
material respects, of the consolidated group’s financial 
condition and operational results and are prepared in 
accordance with relevant australian accounting standards, 
Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements;

•	 the statements made with respect to the integrity 
of ingenia communities group financial reports are 
founded on a sound system of risk management and 
internal compliance and control systems which, in all 
material respects, implement the policies adopted 
by the Board; and

•	 the risk management and internal compliance and control 
systems, to the extent they relate to the financial reporting, 
were operating efficiently and effectively in all material 
respects throughout the period.

since 30 June 2012, nothing has come to the attention of the 
mD or cFo that would indicate any material change to any of 
the statements made above.

3.9 Code of conduct and ethical behaviour
the Board acknowledges the need for high standards of 
corporate governance practice and ethical conduct by all 
directors and employees of ingenia communities group.

the Board has endorsed a code of conduct which outlines 
‘acceptable behaviour’ and attitudes expected from all staff 
to promote and maintain the confidence and trust of all those 
dealing with ingenia communities group.

Various measures have been established to ensure that a high 
standard of ethical business behaviour is observed by all staff 
members, including policies and procedures for:

•	 managing conflicts of interests;

•	 personal security trading;

•	 whistleblower procedures;

•	 acceptance of gifts and entertainment as part of the gifts, 
entertainment and anti-Bribery Policy; and

•	 handling confidential information.

in addition to their obligations under the Corporations 
Act 2001 in relation to inside information, all directors, 
employees and consultants have a duty of confidentiality 
to ingenia communities group in relation to confidential 
information they possess.
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3.10  Employee and director trading in ingenia 
Communities group securities

ingenia communities group securities trading Policy was 
released to the australian securities exchange in June 2012. 
subject to necessary prior written consents being obtained, 
the group’s directors, executives and employees may trade 
in ingenia communities group stapled securities (“securities”) 
at any time outside closed periods which cover a four week 
period preceding any of the following:

•	 release of half yearly results;

•	 release of annual results; and

•	 the annual general meeting or any extraordinary 
general meeting.

Directors and senior executives may, in exceptional 
circumstances as defined in the policy, trade during a closed 
period but, only with the prior written consent of the chair 
for directors, the managing director for key executives, and 
the compliance officer for other employees. notwithstanding 
the closed periods and approval requirements, a person is 
prohibited from trading at any time if they possess material, 
price-sensitive information about ingenia communities group 
that is not generally available to the public.

the group’s securities trading Policy may be 
viewed on the ingenia communities group website 
(www.ingeniacommunities.com.au).

3.11 securityholder confirmation
the Board aims to ensure that its securityholders are kept 
well-informed of all major developments and business events 
that are likely to materially affect ingenia communities 
group operations and financial standing, and the market 
price of its securities. information is communicated to 
securityholders through:

•	 annual and half year financial reports lodged with the 
asX and made available to all securityholders;

•	 securityholder review sent to all securityholders;

•	 announcement of market-sensitive and other information, 
including annual and Half Year results announcements and 
analyst presentations released to the asX;

•	 the chair’s and managing director’s addresses to, and the 
results of, the annual general meeting; and

•	 copies of announcements, presentations, past and 
current reports to securityholders made available 
on the ingenia communities group website 
(www.ingeniacommunities.com.au).

the group has a continuous disclosure policy that includes 
a formal procedure for dealing with potentially price-sensitive 
information. the policy sets out how ingenia communities 
group meets its disclosure obligations under asX Listing 
Rule 3.1. ingenia communities group policy is to lodge with the 
australian securities exchange (“asX”) and place on its website 
all market-sensitive information, including annual and half year 
result announcements and analyst presentations, as soon 
as practically possible.

ingenia communities group produces two sets of financial 
information each financial year: the half year financial report 
for the six months ended 31 December and the annual financial 
report for the year ended 30 June. Both are made available to 
securityholders and other interested parties. the securityholder 
review is sent to all securityholders.

securityholders have the right to attend the ingenia 
communities group annual general meeting, usually held 
towards the end of november each year, and are provided 
with an explanatory memorandum on the resolutions proposed 
through the notice of meeting. a copy of the notice of meeting 
is also posted on the ingenia communities group website and 
lodged with the asX.

securityholders are encouraged to vote on all resolutions. 
unless specifically stated otherwise in the notice of meeting, 
all securityholders are eligible to vote on all resolutions. 
securityholders who cannot attend the annual general meeting 
may lodge a proxy in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001. Proxy forms may be lodged by facsimile or electronically.

transcripts of the chair and managing director’s reports 
to securityholders are also released to the asX upon the 
commencement of the annual general meeting. these 
transcripts, together with the results of the annual general 
meeting are also posted on the ingenia communities group 
website (www.ingeniacommunities.com.au).

3.12  Continuous disclosure
ingenia communities group is committed to continuous 
disclosure of material information as a means of promoting 
transparency and investor confidence.

the group’s continuous Disclosure Policy incorporates the 
continuous disclosure framework as set out in the asX Listing 
Rules chapter 3, as well as asX guidance note 8 and embraces 
the principles contained in asic guidance note titled “Better 
Disclosure for Investors”.

the company secretaries have been nominated as the persons 
responsible for communications with the asX. this role 
includes the responsibility for monitoring compliance with the 
continuous disclosure requirements in the asX listing rules and 
overseeing and co-ordinating information disclosure to asX.

the group has written policies and procedures on information 
disclosure that focus on continuous disclosure of any 
information concerning the group that a reasonable person 
would expect to have a material effect on the price of the 
group’s securities.

4. PrinCiPAl ACtiVitiEs
the principal activities of the group are ownership, 
development and management of seniors living communities.
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5. oPErAting And finAnCiAl rEViEw
a summary of the group’s result for the financial year is:

2012  2011

Profit/(Loss) from continuing operations ($’000) 1,448 (5,603)

net profit attributable to securityholders ($’000) 33,627 13,051

operating income from continuing operations ($’000) 2,053 (1,846)

Distributions per security (cents) – –

Basic earnings per security from continuing operations (cents) 0.3 (1.3)

Basic earnings per security (cents) 7.6 3.0

operating income from continuing operations per security (cents) 0.5 (0.4)

operating income per security (cents) 1.7 1.6

the directors use the group’s operating income as an additional performance indicator as it more closely reflects the directors’ 
assessment of the results of the ongoing business activities of the group.

operating income does not take into account certain items recognised in the income statement including unrealised gains 
or losses on the revaluation of the group’s properties and derivatives. consequently, operating income is a less volatile measure 
of underlying performance than net profit.

operating income for the financial year has been calculated as follows:

2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

net profit attributable to security holders 33,627 13,051

adjusted for:

 net foreign exchange loss 249 503

 net loss on disposal of investment property 35 (2,256)

 net (gain)/loss on change in fair value of:

  investment properties (2,399) 2,189

  Derivatives (111) 2,149

  Retirement village resident loans 284 (182)

 gain on revaluation of newly constructed retirement villages 5,124 2,743

 gain on internalisation (2,758)  –

 amortisation of intangibles 215  –

 Deferred income tax benefit (34) (1,389)

 Profit from discontinued operations  (32,179)  (18,654)

operating income from continuing operations  2,053  (1,846)

operating income from discontinuing operations  5,381  8,735

operating income  7,434  6,889
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financial position
•	 Look-through gearing of 52.0%.

•	 net asset value per security of 34.3 cents.

•	 $29.6m held in cash and the australian debt facility 
subsequently refinanced to september 2015.

operational highlights

Garden Villages Rental
•	 occupancy at 83% which, represents an all time high 

since the group took over garden Villages management 
in september 2008.

•	 operating income of $7.0m, up 7.7%.

•	 exchanged conditional contracts in June 2012 to sell Lovely 
Banks village in Victoria for 6.8% premium to book value.

Garden Villages DMF Conversion Portfolio
•	 settled 51 units worth $9.7m with a further 

14 contracted and reserved.

•	 operating income of $3.9m, up from $0.5m last year.

•	 Board approved the conversion of cessnock gardens 
village in new south wales in June 2012, with first sales 
anticipated in early 2013.

 Settlers Lifestyle Portfolio
•	 occupancy at 96% and sales of $12.1m completed during 

the year.

•	 operating income of $1.6m, down from $2.8m last year due 
to shift in sales mix.

•	 Highly accretive acquisition of Ridge estate village settled 
in July 2012 (iRR >50%) which complements the closely 
situated cessnock gardens conversion village.

Overseas Portfolios – Discontinued Operations
•	 in may 2012, entered into a conditional contract to sell the 

remaining us seniors assets for us$173.3m, a 2.1 cents 
per security uplift to book value. settlement expected 
to occur in late 2012 with net proceeds of $49.9m to be 
repatriated to australia.

•	 nZ students occupancy of 95% with active negotiations 
underway with local universities for new long term 
contracts expected in late 2013.

•	 new Zealand debt facility of nZ$20.8m successfully 
refinanced for a further six months to march 2013.

6.  signifiCAnt CHAngEs in tHE stAtE 
of AffAirs

on 4 June 2012, management of the trusts was internalised 
and the stapled entity known as ingenia communities group 
(consisting of the company and the trusts) was formed 
(“internalisation”), after the internalisation was approved 
by unitholders at meetings held on 31 may 2012. the 
internalisation involved:

•	 a capital distribution by the Fund which was applied 
towards the issue of shares in the company to unitholders 
of the trusts (other than foreign resident unitholders);

•	 the change of the responsible entity of both trusts from 
ing management Limited to icRe; and

•	 the stapling of each share in the company to each unit 
in each trust to form the new stapled securities of ingenia 
communities group.

Previously, the trusts operated as a stapled entity known as 
ing Real estate community Living group.

7. EVEnts suBsEQuEnt to rEPorting dAtE
on 13 July 2012, ingenia communities acquired Ridge estate 
Village, a partially developed deferred management fee 
retirement village, in gillieston Heights, nsw. the purchase 
price was $2,025,000 and was funded from cash reserves.

on 28 august 2012, the group refinanced its variable rate 
australian dollar denominated bank debt facility, which was 
due to expire in march 2013. the new facility is a market 
competitive variable rate revolving debt facility of $82.0m with 
commonwealth Bank of australia expiring 30 september 2015.

on 13 august 2012, the expiry date of the Bank of new Zealand 
debt facility, which funds the nZ students portfolio, was 
extended by six months to 31 march 2013. all other terms and 
conditions remain unchanged.

8. likElY dEVEloPMEnts
management are continuing to explore options to unlock value 
within the new Zealand student portfolio, whilst the settlement 
of the united states seniors sale remains on schedule for 
settlement in late 2012.

overall, the group will continue to pursue strategies aimed 
at growing its australian seniors living communities business 
through acquisitions and development whilst maintaining 
discipline around capital management and allocation to drive 
securityholder returns via improved profitability, earnings per 
share and share price.
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9. EnVironMEntAl rEgulAtion
the group’s operations are not subject to any particular 
and significant environmental regulation under a law of the 
commonwealth or of a state or territory.

10. indEMnitiEs
the group has purchased an insurance policy that covers any 
loss that the officers of the company and its subsidiaries may 
suffer as a result of serving as officer.

11. Auditor’s indEPEndEnCE dEClArAtion
a copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required 
under section 307c of the Corporations Act 2001 is set 
out on page 27.

12. rounding of AMounts
ingenia communities group is an entity of the kind referred 
to in asic class order 98/100, and in accordance with that 
class order, amounts in the financial report and directors’ 
report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, 
unless otherwise stated.

13.  MEssAgE froM tHE rEMunErAtion 
And noMinAtion CoMMittEE

Dear securityholders

the Remuneration and nomination committee conducted 
an extensive review of the approach to executive remuneration 
as part of the preparation for internalisation, which was 
effective from 4 June 2012. the committee are focused on 
ensuring that remuneration aligns executive reward with; 
the delivery of key business goals and objectives; and with 
returns to securityholders, and are confident that the current 
approach achieves this aim.

13.1  Performance and resulting remuneration 
outcomes for the 2012 year

the impact of internalisation which came into effect on 4 June 
2012, is that no short term incentive (sti) payments are payable 
by ingenia communities group to executives in respect of 
the 2012 year. any sti remuneration received by executives 
during 2012 was paid by ing management Limited or its related 
parties, which was the employing entity prior to internalisation.

Long term incentives in the form of performance rights 
were granted as part of internalisation with the aim of 
ensuring both retention of key talent and aligning the ‘at risk’ 
compensation payable to executives with securityholder 
returns. the performance hurdle for the ‘at risk’ rights is total 
securityholder Returns. the measurement period for the ‘at 
risk’ rights will be 3 years from 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2015.

13.2  remuneration changes
as part of the internalisation process, the chairman of the 
Board engaged external consultants to provide independent 
recommendations in relation to executive remuneration. these 
recommendations provided market benchmarking of executive 
remuneration and recommendations on base salary packages 
together with short term and long term incentive plans.

Details of the remuneration packages of executives were 
outlined in the meeting Booklet provided to securityholders 
as part of internalisation. at the extraordinary meeting held 
on 31 may 2012, securityholders approved the remuneration 
package of the managing director.

13.3 Executive changes
Prior to internalisation the executive team was employed by the 
responsible entity of the Fund, being ing management Limited 
or its related parties. Following internalisation, the executive 
team is now employed by ingenia communities group and are 
disclosed within this report.

13.4 non‑executive director remuneration
the remuneration of non-executive directors consists only of 
director fees. the maximum aggregate fee pool available to 
directors has not yet been established or approved due to the 
recent internalisation. it is the intention that an amount will be 
put to securityholders for approval at the next annual general 
meeting (“agm”).

the Board values securityholder feedback and i look forward  
to answering any questions you may have at our agm.

Yours faithfully

Philip marcus clark am 
chairman – Remuneration and nomination committee

directors’ report
YeaR enDeD 30 June 2012 | continued
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14. rEMunErAtion rEPort (AuditEd)
14.1 details of key management personnel
this Remuneration Report which forms part of the Directors’ Report sets out information about the remuneration of the group’s 
key management personnel (KmP) for the year ended 30 June 2012. the KmP are those persons who are identified as having 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the group, directly or indirectly, including any 
executive or non-executive director (neD) of the group.

Prior to the internalisation of the group on 4 June 2012, the management of the Fund was conducted by ing management Limited 
(imL) being the previous responsible entity. as such, there are no comparative figures or details for the KmP for the prior year. 
in addition, some KmP are identified as commencing with the group on 4 June 2012, which is the effective date of internalisation. 
Prior to this date, they were employed by imL.

the KmP that have been appointed as part of the internalisation of the group are:

Position

Non-executive directors
Jim Hazel chairman appointed: 1 march 2012

amanda Heyworth Director
chairman of the audit and Risk committee

appointed: 16 april 2012

Philip clark am Director
chairman of the Remuneration and nomination committee

appointed: 4 June 2012

Executive directors
simon owen managing Director Director appointment date: 

24 november 2011 
mD commenced: 4 June 2012

greg inkson Director (prior to internalisation) appointed: 25 november 2011, 
Resigned 24 april 2012

Peter Day Director (prior to internalisation) appointed: 25 november 2011, 
Resigned 24 april 2012

Other executives
tania Betts chief Financial officer commenced: 14 may 2012

nicole Fisher chief operating officer commenced : 4 June 2012

Prior to internalisation, simon owen and nicole Fisher were employed by imL.

there have been no changes to the KmP after the reporting date and before the date of signing this Directors’ Report.
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14.2 remuneration governance

(a) Remuneration Committee
the Board has established the Remuneration and nomination 
committee (the “committee”), which is directly responsible for 
reviewing and recommending remuneration arrangements for 
directors, the managing director and senior executives who are 
direct reports of the managing director.

the committee was established on 5 June 2012 and comprises:

•	 Philip marcus clark am (chairman);

•	 Jim Hazel; and

•	 amanda Heyworth.

as a consequence of the Board size, the members 
of the committee are the same as the non-executive 
directors of the Board.

the committee provides oversight for general remuneration 
levels of the group ensuring they are set at appropriate 
levels to access the skills and capabilities the group needs 
to operate successfully.

the committee operates under the delegated authority of the 
Board for some matters related to remuneration arrangements 
for both executives and non-executives, and is required 
to make recommendations to the Board. the committee 
also reviews and makes recommendations to the Board on 
incentive schemes.

the committee is required to meet regularly throughout 
the year, and in any event at least twice per year, and 
considers recommendations from internal management and 
external consultants.

the Board is ultimately responsible for recommendations 
from the committee. the Board also sets the aggregate 
remuneration of neDs, which is then subject to 
securityholder approval.

(b) External remuneration advisers
During the year, the Board engaged godfrey Remuneration 
group Pty Ltd (“gRg”) to provide independent recommendations 
in relation to remuneration of the executive roles within the 
group as it transitioned from being an externally managed 
real estate investment trust (“Reit”) to an independent 
asX listed entity.

a report on market benchmarking of executive remuneration 
outlined the following:

•	 new legislation requirements and regulatory developments;

•	 overall remuneration framework and strategy;

•	 considerations relating to termination of contracts; and

•	 market data and trends in remuneration structures.

gRg also provided recommendations on base salary packages 
and the design of short-term and long-term incentive 
plans for the key executives of the group, including the 
managing director.

For the provision of this advice and recommendations the 
advisers were commissioned by, engaged with, and addressed 
reports directly to the chairman of the Board. the Board 
is satisfied that the remuneration recommendations were 
made free from undue influence by members of the KmP to 
whom the recommendations related, due to there being no 
engagement with the remuneration consultants outside of the 
chairman of the Board. a declaration of independence from 
gRg was received by the Board prior to their engagement.

the remuneration consultants were paid $49,000 for 
their assignment.

14.3  rEMunErAtion of kMP (EXCluding 
non‑EXECutiVE dirECtors)

(a) Remuneration policy
the groups’ remuneration policy is to ensure that 
remuneration packages properly reflect the person’s duties 
and responsibilities and that the remuneration is competitive in 
attracting, retaining and motivating people of suitable quality.

the structure of remuneration, as explained below, is 
designed to attract suitably qualified candidates, reward the 
achievement of strategic objectives, and achieve the broader 
outcome of long-term value creation for securityholders. the 
remuneration structures take into account a range of factors, 
including the following:

•	 capability, skills and experience;

•	 ability to impact achievement of the strategic 
objectives of the group;

•	 Performance of the KmP in their roles;

•	 the group’s overall performance;

•	 Remuneration levels being paid by competitors for 
similar positions; and

•	 the need to ensure continuity of executive talent.

Refer below for detail around the mechanisms in place, 
which link the remuneration outcomes to individual and 
group performance.
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(b) Link between remuneration and reward
the Board understands the importance of the relationship between the group’s remuneration policy for KmP and the group’s 
performance. the remuneration packages for KmP are aimed at achieving this balance.

rEMunErAtion CoMPonEnt link to grouP PErforMAnCE

Fixed Remuneration Fixed remuneration is not linked to group performance. it is set with reference to the individual’s 
role, responsibilities and performance and remuneration levels for similar positions in the market.

short-term incentive (sti) stis are awarded to individuals whose achievements, behaviour and focus meets the group’s 
business plan and key result expectations during one or more specified measurement periods.

the Board maintains sole discretion over the granting of the sti to eligible employees.

Long-term incentive (Lti) the group provides Ltis in the form of a retention scheme and a performance scheme.

Retention quantum rights (RQRs) – are aimed at incentivising key executives to remain with the 
business during the important transitional phase of internalisation.

Performance quantum rights (PQRs) – are aimed at aligning executive and securityholder goals.

the tables below sets out summary information about the group’s earnings and movement in securityholder wealth for the five 
years to 30 June 2012:

30 JunE
2012

30 JunE
2011

30 JunE
2010

30 JunE
2009

30 JunE
2008

operating income ($000) 7,434 6,889 18,260 26,210 46,567

Profit from continuing operations ($000) 1,448 (5,603) (50,508) (284,176) (38,803)

ePs from continuing operations (cents) 0.3 (1.3) (11.5) (37.9) (8.9)

naV per security (cents) 34.3 25.9 24.9 40.0 94.0

security price 30 June (cents) 19.5 11.5 5.0 5.0 45.0

(c) Target mix of remuneration components
executive remuneration packages include a mix of fixed remuneration, bonuses and equity-based remuneration. the group 
aims to reward executives with a mix of remuneration commensurate with their position and responsibilities and aligned with 
market practice.

the group’s policy is to set the total employment cost (“tec”) of KmP around the 50th percentile range of direct industry peers 
and other australian listed companies of similar size and complexity, whilst also taking into account the individual’s competence 
and the potential impact of incentives.

the target remuneration mix for executives, expressed as a percentage of total remuneration, is detailed in the table below.

tArgEt MiX

totAl fiXEd
rEMunErAtion

(tfr)
(%)

sti
(%) lti

totAl
rEMunErAtion

(%)

Retention
quantum rights

(%)

Performance
quantum rights

(%)

managing Director 43.5% 13.1% 21.7% 21.7% 100.0%

chief Financial officer 57.1% 14.3% 14.3% 14.3% 100.0%

chief operating officer 57.1% 14.3% 14.3% 14.3% 100.0%
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(d) Total fixed remuneration
total Fixed Remuneration (“tFR”) is a guaranteed annual salary, which is calculated on a total cost basis, which may include 
salary-packaged benefits grossed up for FBt payable, as well as employer contributions to superannuation funds and other 
non-cash benefits that may be agreed to from time to time.

the committee reviews and makes recommendations to the Board in relation to fixed remuneration levels on an annual basis.

the table below details the current tFR for each of the executives:

EXECutiVE Position totAl fiXEd rEMunErAtion (p.a.)

simon owen managing Director $400,000

tania Betts chief Financial officer $280,000

nicole Fisher chief operating officer $280,000

in line with the recommendations from the remuneration consultants appointed to inform the Board, the fixed remuneration 
of simon owen is approximately 30% less than the commercial benchmark for comparable roles and this factor was taken into 
account in setting the potential indicative sti and Lti benefits to which he may become entitled.

Further information on executive employment contracts is available in section 14.3(h).

(e) Short-term incentive scheme (STI)
the short-term incentive scheme aims to reward eligible employees whose achievements, behaviour and focus meets the group’s 
business plan and key result expectations during one or more specified measurement periods.

the initial year of the short-term incentive scheme commenced on 1 July 2012 and ends on 30 June 2013 (scheme Year), and 
where not expressly withdrawn the scheme will apply each financial year.

initial participation in the scheme is completely at the discretion of the Board or its delegate from time to time, on behalf 
of the employer.

For those employees who participate in the scheme, the opportunity for reward is assessed against specific key performance 
indicators (KPi’s) for each employee, which are documented in a written statement (Plan statement) identifying:

•	 the KPi’s against which the employee’s performance will be assessed during the year;

•	 the percentage weighting for each KPi;

•	 the measurement period for the KPis;

•	 the KPi outcome measures that align with achieving each of the following:
 — threshold performance;
 — on target performance; and
 — stretch performance; and
 — the maximum sti award amount payable for achieving each of the performance levels, calculated on the employee’s base 
remuneration at the time the Plan statement is issued.

the Board has granted an sti opportunity to the executive KmP in relation to the year ending 30 June 2013. the maximum 
amount of this opportunity for each executive KmP is as follows:

•	 simon owen – $120,000, being 30% of tFR

•	 tania Betts – $70,000, being 25% of tFR

•	 nicole Fisher – $70,000, being 25% of tFR

the quantum of the sti opportunity was determined based upon recommendations from the remuneration consultants.

the Board will structure the KPis around both financial metrics, such as operating income, earnings per security and operating 
cashflows, and non-financial metrics around business performance, people and stakeholders. Full disclosure of the KPis and 
executive performance against them will be provided as part of the FY13 Remuneration Report.
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(f) STI –termination of employment
the following table outlines the treatment of the short-term incentive scheme at the time of a termination of employment:

tErMinAtion CirCuMstAnCE sti AwArds

Dismissal (termination for cause) all are forfeited.

Resignation all are forfeited, unless otherwise determined by the Board at its complete discretion.

other circumstances a pro rata reduction in the sti opportunity for each KPi with the assessor taking into 
account a variety of factors.

(g) Long-term incentive scheme (LTI)
the objective of the group’s Lti scheme is to align long-term securityholder returns with the ‘at risk’ compensation payable 
to executive level employees whilst also acting as a mechanism to retain key talent.

the scheme comprises two types of security rights, Retention Quantum Rights (RQRs) and Performance Quantum Rights (PQRs).

it is the Board’s intention to use RQRs as an initial grant to ensure stability during the internalisation transition and PQRs for 
regular annual grants, subject to review on an annual basis.

the maximum number of Quantum Rights that may be granted in the scheme Year are 7,066,667. the initial scheme Year 
commenced on 1 July 2012 and ends 30 June 2013, and thereafter on 30 June of each financial year.

upon vesting of a number of Quantum Rights, the holder will be issued with securities equivalent to the value of vested Quantum 
Rights on the vesting date, provided and to the extent that the value of the Quantum Rights on the vesting date exceeds $1,000. 
the value of each Quantum Right on the vesting date shall be equivalent to the security price on the vesting date.

the Long-term incentive components of simon owen’s remuneration were approved by securityholders at the extraordinary 
general meeting held on 31 may 2012.

(i) retention Quantum rights (rQr)
these are rights granted to encourage the retention of key executives and are subject to the holder remaining an employee of the 
group until the end of the retention period. this period is 2 years after the commencement of the scheme Year. an employee 
is not required to pay for a RQR.

RQRs have been granted to the following employees during the year ended 30 June 2012 as a one off retention bonus of up to 
50% of the executive’s total fixed annual remuneration in Year 1 only. these rights are aimed at incentivising them to remain with 
the business during the important transitional phase of internalisation.

grAnt dAtE
rEtEntion 
PEriod VEsting dAtE

VEsting 
Conditions VAluE of rQrs nuMBEr of rQrs

simon owen 31 may 2012 2 years 31 may 2014 Remaining 
employed 
at vesting date

50% of annual 
remuneration in 
year 1, $200,000

1,070,000

tania Betts 14 may 2012 2 years 14 may 2014 Remaining 
employed 
at vesting date

25% of annual 
remuneration in 
year 1, $70,000

374,000

nicole Fisher 4 June 2012 2 years 4 June 2014 Remaining 
employed 
at vesting date

25% of annual 
remuneration in 
year 1, $70,000

374,000

there are no circumstances where deferred quantum rights will be vested to these executives prior to the end of the 
retention period.
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(ii) Performance Quantum rights (PQr)
the Board has adopted an Lti plan with the aim of rewarding executives for delivering returns to securityholders that are 
consistent with, or exceed, expectations.

PQRs vest based on the group’s performance (as measured by the total securityholder Returns, (“tsR”)). tsR is calculated 
as the percentage gain from an investment in ingenia communities securities over the vesting period, assuming that distributions 
are reinvested.

the percentage of PQRs held by an eligible employee on the vesting date in respect of a scheme Year that may vest shall 
be determined in accordance with the table below:

wHErE grouP’s ACtuAl tsr oVEr tHE VEsting PEriod is:
PErCEntAgE of EMPloYEE’s PQrs tHAt 
MAY VEst in rEsPECt of tHE sCHEME YEAr:

Below 26% – below threshold performance. 0%

26% (approximately 8%pa compound) on threshold performance. 25%

at or above 26% but below 40% performance between threshold and 
target performance.

25%-50%, in the same proportion as the group’s actual 
tsR bears to the threshold and target performance.

40% (approximately 12%pa compound) on target performance. 50%

above 40% but below 56% performance between target and 
stretch performance.

50%-100%, in the same proportion as the group’s actual 
tsR bears to the target tsR and stretch performance.

56% or above (approximately 16%pa compound) stretch performance. 100%

Vesting Period: 3 years from the commencement of the scheme Year.

Vesting conditions: Based on group performance over the vesting period as measured by the tsR.

the Board has absolute discretion to vary the vesting conditions outlined in the table above.

the value and number of PQRs granted to executives during the year ended 30 June 2012 were:

VAluE of PQrs nuMBEr of PQrs VEsting dAtE

simon owen 50% of annual remuneration in year 1, $200,000 2,260,000 30 June 2015

tania Betts 25% of annual remuneration in year 1, $70,000 791,000 30 June 2015

nicole Fisher 25% of annual remuneration in year 1, $70,000 791,000 30 June 2015

(iii) lti – termination of employment
the following table outlines the treatment of unvested Rights at the time of a termination of employment:

tErMinAtion CirCuMstAnCE unVEstEd QuAntuM rigHts

Dismissal (termination for cause) all are forfeited.

Resignation all are forfeited unless and to the extent otherwise determined by the Board.

other circumstance Rights granted in the financial year of termination of employment are forfeited in the same 
proportion as the remainder of the financial year bears to the full financial year.

Rights that do not lapse at the termination of employment will continue to be held by 
participants with a view to testing for vesting at the end of the measurement period.

if the security price at the end of the measurement period is less than the security price at 
the date of termination of employment then:
RQR – the Rights will lapse and an amount up to their value will be paid in cash.
PQR – the Rights will lapse and an amount up to the value of the Rights that would 
otherwise have vested will be paid in cash.

if the security price at the end of the measurement period is not less than the security price 
at the date of termination of employment then:
RQR – the Rights will vest.
PQR – the Rights will be tested for vesting in accordance with the terms of Rights.
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(h) KMP employment contracts

Managing director – simon owen

contract duration commenced 4 June 2012, open-ended.

Fixed remuneration total remuneration package includes fixed remuneration and superannuation.

Variable remuneration eligibility sti: eligible for an on-target annual bonus of up to 30% of the executive’s total cost fixed 
annual remuneration.

Lti: eligible for an on-target annual bonus of up to 50% of the executive’s total cost of fixed 
annual remuneration, and a one-off retention bonus of up to 50% of the executive’s total cost 
fixed annual remuneration.

non-compete period 12 months.

non-solicitation period 12 months.

notice by ingenia 12 months.

notice by executive 12 months.

treatment on termination Payment in lieu of notice: Payment may be made in lieu of notice, which would include pro 
rata fixed remuneration and statutory entitlements.

treatment of incentives: as per the outline provided in section 14.3(f) and 14.3(g).

Chief financial officer – tania Betts

contract duration commenced 14 may 2012, open-ended.

Fixed remuneration total remuneration package includes fixed remuneration and superannuation.

Variable remuneration eligibility sti: eligible for an on-target annual bonus of up to 25% of the executive’s total cost fixed 
annual remuneration.

Lti: eligible for an on-target annual bonus of up to 25% of the executive’s total cost of fixed 
annual remuneration, and a one-off retention bonus of up to 25% of the executive’s total cost 
fixed annual remuneration.

non-compete period 12 months.

non-solicitation period 12 months.

notice by ingenia 6 months.

notice by executive 6 months.

treatment on termination Payment in lieu of notice: Payment may be made in lieu of notice, which would include pro 
rata fixed remuneration and statutory entitlements.

treatment of incentives: as per the outline provided in section 14.3(f) and 14.3(g).

Chief operations officer – nicole fisher

contract duration commenced 4 June 2012, open-ended.

Fixed remuneration total remuneration package includes fixed remuneration and superannuation.

Variable remuneration eligibility sti: eligible for an on-target annual bonus of up to 25% of the executive’s total cost fixed 
annual remuneration.

Lti: eligible for an on-target annual bonus of up to 25% of the executive’s total cost of fixed 
annual remuneration, and a one-off retention bonus of up to 25% of the executive’s total cost 
fixed annual remuneration.

non-compete period 12 months.

non-solicitation period 12 months.

notice by ingenia 6 months.

notice by executive 6 months.

treatment on termination Payment in lieu of notice: Payment may be made in lieu of notice, which would include pro 
rata fixed remuneration and statutory entitlements.

treatment of incentives: as per the outline provided in section 14.3(f) and 14.3(g).
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14.4 rEMunErAtion tABlEs
the following table outlines the remuneration provided to KmP excluding non-executive directors for the year ended 30 June 2012.

no KmP appointed during the period received a payment as part of their consideration for agreeing to hold the position.

key Management Personnel – Executive remuneration

sHort‑tErM
otHEr

long‑tErM lti(4) PErforMAnCE rElAtEd

salary

non-
monetary

benefits
other

payments
super-

annuation sti(3)

total
short-term

Long 
service leave

Performance
quantum rights

Retention
quantum rights

termination
benefits total

sti+Lti
Percent
of total

Lti
Percent
of total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % %

Executive director
simon owen(1) managing  

Director 22,562 – – 2,031 – 24,593 – – 8,157 – 32,750 25 25

Senior executives
tania Betts(2) chief  

Financial 
officer 31,786 – – 2,861 – 34,647 – – 4,108 – 38,755 11 11

nicole Fisher(1) chief  
operating 
officer 15,722 – – 1,415 – 17,137 – – 2,471 – 19,608 13 13

total executive kMP 70,070 – – 6,307 – 76,377 – – 14,736 – 91,113 16 16

(1) simon owen and nicole Fisher commenced employment with the group effective on the internalisation date of 4 June 2012.
(2) tania Betts commenced employment with the group on 14 may 2012.
(3) no stis were accrued or paid in the current financial year.
(4) no rights vested or lapsed during the year and no rights have vested since the end of the financial year.

directors’ report
YeaR enDeD 30 June 2012 | continued
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Senior executives
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officer 31,786 – – 2,861 – 34,647 – – 4,108 – 38,755 11 11

nicole Fisher(1) chief  
operating 
officer 15,722 – – 1,415 – 17,137 – – 2,471 – 19,608 13 13

total executive kMP 70,070 – – 6,307 – 76,377 – – 14,736 – 91,113 16 16

(1) simon owen and nicole Fisher commenced employment with the group effective on the internalisation date of 4 June 2012.
(2) tania Betts commenced employment with the group on 14 may 2012.
(3) no stis were accrued or paid in the current financial year.
(4) no rights vested or lapsed during the year and no rights have vested since the end of the financial year.
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14.5 non‑EXECutiVE dirECtors rEMunErAtion

(a) Directors’ fees
the maximum aggregate fee pool available to neDs has not yet been established or approved by securityholders. it is the 
intention that an amount will be put to securityholders for approval at the next agm. Directors of the group currently receive 
remuneration of $70,000 per year and the chairman of the Board receives $150,000 per year.

neDs are remunerated by way of cash benefits. they are not permitted to participate in performance based remuneration 
practices unless approved by securityholders. the group currently has no intention to remunerate neDs by any other way other 
than cash benefits.

(b) Performance-based remuneration
neDs do not receive any performance-based remuneration.

(c) Equity-based remuneration
there is currently no equity-based remuneration plan in place for neDs, however all neDs have self funded the purchase 
of securities on market thereby aligning their interests with securityholders.

(d) NED remuneration table
the following table outlines the remuneration provided to non-executive directors for the year ended 30 June 2012.

non‑EXECutiVE dirECtors dirECtors fEEs otHEr totAl

Jim Hazel(1) 12,500 37,500 50,000

amanda Heyworth(2) 5,833 8,750 14,583

Philip clark(3) 5,833 – 5,833

greg inkson(4) – – –

Peter Day(5) – – –

total non-executive KmP 24,166 46,250 70,416

(1) Jim Hazel was appointed as director on 1 march 2012. During the year Jim Hazel provided consultation services amounting to $37,500 to the 
group in relation to its internalisation. these are one off consultation services that are not related to amounts paid for acting in the capacity of 
non-executive director.

(2) amanda Heyworth was appointed as director on 16 april 2012. During the year, amanda Heyworth provided consultation services amounting to 
$8,750 to the group in relation to its internalisation. these are one off consultation services that are not related to amounts paid for acting in the 
capacity of non-executive director.

(3) Philip clark was appointed as director on 4 June 2012.
(4) greg inkson was appointed as director on 25 november 2011 and resigned 24 april 2012. no fees were paid over this period.
(5) Peter Day was appointed as director on 25 november 2011 and resigned 24 april 2012. no fees were paid over this period.

signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Jim Hazel 
chairman 
sydney 
29 august 2012
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Consolidated income statement
 YeaR enDeD 30 June 2012

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

Revenue
Rental income  17,901  19,283

accrued deferred management fee income  4,453  4,256

other property income  2,991  2,908

interest income  861  468

 26,206  26,915

Other income
net foreign exchange loss  (225)  (448)

net gain/(loss) on disposal of investment properties  (35)  2,256

net gain/(loss) on change in fair value of:

 investment properties  2,399  (2,189)

 Derivatives  111  (2,149)

 Retirement village resident loans  (284)  182

gain on internalisation 4  2,758  –

Expenses
Property expenses  (17,474)  (19,154)

Finance expense 5  (8,538)  (9,398)

Responsible entity fees 26  (2,006)  (1,836)

amortisation of intangible assets 14  (215)  –

other  (1,287)  (1,157)

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations before income tax  1,410  (6,978)

income tax benefit 6  38  1,375

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations  1,448  (5,603)

Profit from discontinued operations 7  32,179  18,654

net profit for the year  33,627  13,051

attributable to securityholders of:

 ingenia communities Holdings Limited  (19,190)  –

 ingenia communities Fund  44,083  3,197

 ingenia communities management trust  8,735  9,854

 33,627  13,051

note
 2012
Cents

 2011
cents

Distributions per security  –  –

Basic earnings from continuing operations 3

 Per security  0.3  (1.3)

 Per company share  (4.4)  –

Basic earnings 3

 Per security  7.6  3.0

 Per company share  (4.3)  –

Diluted earnings from continuing operations 3

 Per security  0.3  (1.3)

 Per company share  (4.3)  –

Diluted earnings 3

 Per security  7.6  3.0

 Per company share  (4.3)  –
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Consolidated statement 
of Comprehensive income
 YeaR enDeD 30 June 2012

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

net profit for the year 33,627 13,051

other comprehensive income/(expense):

Foreign currency translation differences arising during the year 19 3,216 (8,759)

share-based payment transactions 19 15  –

total comprehensive income for the year net of tax 36,858 4,292

total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:

 ingenia communities Holdings Limited 31,305  –

 ingenia communities Fund 5,553 (7,399)

 ingenia communities management trust  – 11,691

36,858 4,292
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Consolidated Balance sheet
 as at 30 June 2012

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

Current assets
cash and cash equivalents 8  29,561  14,855

trade and other receivables 9  2,577  4,252

Derivatives 10  1,659  –

assets of discontinued operations 7  95,324  10,047

 129,121  29,154

Non-current assets
trade and other receivables 9  354  1,297

investment properties 11  327,632  344,490

Plant and equipment  769  309

equity accounted investments 13  –  45,407

intangible assets 14  585  –

 329,340  391,503

total assets  458,461  420,657

Current liabilities
trade and other payables 15  8,241  19,597

Retirement village resident loans 1(s)  162,603  150,761

Borrowings 16  81,739  266

Derivatives 10  970  213

Liabilities of discontinued operations 7  45,698  5,675

 299,251  176,512

Non-current liabilities
trade and other payables 15  117  –

Borrowings 16  –  121,515

Derivatives 10  –  269

Deferred tax liabilities 17  7,921  8,047

 8,038  129,831

total liabilities  307,289  306,343

net assets  151,172  114,314

Equity
issued securities 18  490,044  490,044

Reserves 19  (17,009)  (20,240)

accumulated losses 20  (321,863)  (355,490)

total equity  151,172  114,314

Attributable to securityholders of:
ingenia communities Holdings Limited

 issued securities 18  6,000  –

 Reserves 19  (17,009)  –

 accumulated losses 20  (19,190)  –

 (30,199)  –

ingenia communities Fund  172,611  114,848

ingenia communities management trust  8,761  (534)

 151,172  114,314

net asset value per security $0.34 $0.26
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Consolidated Cash flow 
statement
 YeaR enDeD 30 June 2012

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

Cash flows from operating activities 30

Rental and other property income  26,619  30,270

Payment of management fees (including arrears)  (10,019)  (1,209)

Property and other expenses  (20,060)  (26,544)

Proceeds from resident loans  20,885  11,622

Repayment of resident loans  (5,977)  (2,951)

Distributions received from equity accounted investments  3,118  3,801

interest received  862  471

Borrowing costs paid  (10,223)  (6,912)

income taxes paid  (60)  –

goods and services taxes recovered from investing and financing activities  7  85

 5,152  8,633

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase and additions of plant and equipment  (299)  –

additions to investment properties  (2,106)  (7,759)

Proceeds/(costs) from sale of investment properties  (35)  12,738

acquisition of subsidiary net of cash acquired 28b  2,268  –

Proceeds from sale of equity accounted investments 28b  29,940  –

Purchase of equity accounted investments  (702)  –

Return of capital from equity accounted investments  –  766

 29,066  5,745

Cash flows from financing activities
Payments for derivatives  (1,060)  –

Payments for internalisation  (1,228)  –

termination of derivatives  –  (16,020)

Proceeds from borrowings  3,246  19,870

Repayment of borrowings  (17,951)  (22,806)

 (16,993)  (18,956)

net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  17,225  (4,578)

cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  15,041  20,246

effects of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held  546  (627)

cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 8  32,812  15,041
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statement of Changes in Equity
 YeaR enDeD 30 June 2012

AttriButABlE to sECuritY HoldErs

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs Holdings liMitEd

 Fund &
icmt

$’000

 total
equity
$’000

 issued
capital
$’000

Reserves
$’000

Retained
earnings

$’000
total

$’000

Carrying amounts at 1 July 2010  –  –  –  –  110,022  110,022

net profit for the year  –  –  –  –  13,051  13,051

other comprehensive income  –  –  –  –  (8,759)  (8,759)

total comprehensive income for the year  –  –  –  –  4,292  4,292

Carrying amounts at 30 June 2011  –  –  –  –  114,314  114,314

net profit/(loss) for the year  –  –  (19,190)  (19,190)  52,817  33,627

other comprehensive income  –  (17,009)  –  (17,009)  2,609  (14,400)

total comprehensive income for the year  –  (17,009)  (19,190)  (36,199)  55,426  19,227

transactions with equity holders in their 
capacity as equity holders:

 issue of securities 18  6,000  –  –  6,000 –  6,000

 capital distribution 18  –  –  –  –  (6,000)  (6,000)

 6,000  –  –  6,000  (6,000)  –

Carrying amounts at 30 June 2012  6,000  (17,009)  (19,190)  (30,199)  163,740  133,541
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notes to the financial statements
 YeaR enDeD 30 June 2012

1.  suMMArY of signifiCAnt ACCounting 
PoliCiEs

(a) the group
the financial report of ingenia communities Holdings 
Limited (the “company”) comprises the consolidated 
financial report of the company and its controlled entities, 
including ingenia communities Fund (“icF” or the “Fund”) 
and ingenia communities management trust (“icmt”) 
(collectively, the “trusts”). Both the company and the trusts 
are domiciled in australia.

the Fund was formerly the ing Real estate community Living 
Fund. icmt was formerly the ing Real estate community 
Living management trust.

the responsible entity for the trusts from 4 June 2012 is 
ingenia communities Re Limited (“icRe”), a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the company. on that date, management of the 
trusts was internalised and the stapled entity known as ingenia 
communities group (consisting of the company and the 
trusts) (the “group”) was formed (“internalisation”).

Previously, the trusts operated as a stapled entity known as 
ing Real estate community Living group. the responsible 
entity for the trusts until 4 June 2012 was ing management 
Limited. ing management Limited is an australian domiciled 
company and is a wholly owned company within the 
ing groep nV group of companies.

the constitutions of the company and the trusts require that, 
for as long as they remain jointly quoted on the australian 
stock exchange, the number of shares in the company and of 
units in each trust shall remain equal and that shareholders in 
the company and unitholders in each trust shall be identical.

the stapling structure will cease to operate on the 
first to occur of:

(a) the company or either of the trusts resolving by special 
resolution in accordance with its constitution to terminate 
the stapling provisions; or

(b) the commencement of the winding up of the company or 
either of the trusts.

the financial report as at and for the year ended 30 June 2012 
was authorised for issue by the directors on 29 august 2012.

(b) Basis of preparation
the financial report is a general purpose financial report which 
has been prepared in accordance with australian accounting 
standards, australian interpretations, other authoritative 
pronouncements of the australian accounting standards Board 
(“aasBs”) and the Corporations Act 2001.

the financial report complies with australian accounting 
standards as issued by the australian accounting standards 
Board and international Financial Reporting standards (iFRs) 
as issued by the international accounting standards Board.

as permitted by class order 05/642, issued by the australian 
securities and investments commission, the financial statements 
and accompanying notes of the trusts have been presented in 
the attached combined financial report.

the financial report is presented in australian dollars and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000) 
unless otherwise stated.

the financial report is prepared on an historical cost basis, 
except for investment properties, retirement village resident 
loans and derivative financial instruments, which are 
measured at fair value.

(c)  Adoption of new and revised accounting 
standards

in the current year, the group has adopted all the new and 
revised standards and interpretations issued by the australian 
accounting standards Board that are relevant to its operations 
and effective for the current annual reporting period. there was 
no material effect on the financial statements.

(d) Principles of consolidation
the group’s consolidated financial statements comprise 
the company and its subsidiaries (including the trusts). 
subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose 
entities) over which the company or the trusts have the power 
to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain 
benefits from their activities.

the financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for 
the same reporting period as the parent, using consistent 
accounting policies. inter-company balances and transactions 
including dividends and unrealised gains and losses from 
intra-group transactions have been eliminated.

subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the 
parent obtains control. they are de-consolidated from the 
date that control ceases.

investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost in the parent’s 
financial statements.

the company was incorporated on 24 november 2011 and this is 
its first financial report. in accordance with accounting standard 
aasB 3 Business Combinations, the stapling of the company 
and the trusts is regarded as a business combination. under 
aasB 3, the stapling is accounted for as a reverse acquisition 
with the Fund “acquiring” the company and the company has 
subsequently been identified as the ongoing parent for preparing 
consolidated financial reports. consequently, the consolidated 
financial statements are a continuation of the financial statements 
of the trusts, and include the results of the company for the 
period from incorporation to 30 June 2012 and the results of the 
trusts from 1 July 2011. comparative data reflects the results and 
financial position of the trusts for the year ended 30 June 2011 
and as at that date respectively.

(e) Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition 
method. the cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate 
of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date 
fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree. For each business combination, the group elects 
whether it measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. acquisition costs incurred are expensed 
and included in other expenses.
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when the group acquires a business, it assesses the financial 
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification 
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, 
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the 
acquisition date.

if the business combination is achieved in stages, the 
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the 
acquisition date through profit or loss.

goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount 
recognised for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. if this consideration 
is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary 
acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

(f) discontinued operations and assets held for sale
the group has classified certain components as discontinued 
operations. a discontinued operation is a component of the 
entity that has been disposed of, or is classified as held for 
sale, and that represents a separate major line of business 
or geographical area of operations, or is part of a single 
co-ordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or 
area of operations. the results of discontinued operations are 
presented separately on the face of the income statement.

components of the entity are classified as held for sale if 
their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a 
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. they are 
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell, except for assets such as investment property, 
which are carried at fair value.

an impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent 
write-down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less 
costs to sell. a gain is recognised for any subsequent increases 
in fair value less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group), 
but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously 
recognised. a gain or loss not previously recognised by the 
date of the sale of the non-current asset (or disposal group) 
is recognised at the date of derecognition.

non-current assets classified as held for sale, and the assets 
of a disposal group classified as held for sale, are presented 
separately from the other assets on the face of the balance 
sheet. the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for 
sale are presented separately from other liabilities on the face 
of the balance sheet.

Details of discontinued operations and disposal groups are 
given at note 7.

(g) dividends and distributions
a liability for any dividend or distribution declared on or 
before the end of the reporting period is recognised on the 
balance sheet in the reporting period to which the dividend 
or distribution pertains.

(h) foreign currency

(i) Functional and presentation currencies
the presentation currency of the group, and functional 
currency of the company, is the australian dollar.

(ii) Translation of foreign currency transactions
transactions in foreign currency are initially recorded in 
the functional currency at the exchange rate prevailing at 
the date of the transaction. monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currency are retranslated at the rate 
of exchange prevailing at the balance date. all differences 
in the consolidated financial report are taken to the income 
statement with the exception of differences on foreign currency 
borrowings designated as a hedge against a net investment 
in a foreign entity. these are taken directly to equity until 
the disposal of the net investment at which time they are 
recognised in the income statement.

a non-monetary item that is measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency is translated using the exchange rates at the date 
when the fair value was determined.

(iii)  Translation of financial statements of foreign 
subsidiaries

the functional currency of certain subsidiaries is not the 
australian dollar. at reporting date, the assets and liabilities of 
these entities are translated into the presentation currency of 
the group at the rate of exchange prevailing at balance date. 
Financial performance is translated at the average exchange 
rate prevailing during the reporting period. the exchange 
differences arising on translation are taken directly to the 
foreign currency translation reserve in equity.

on disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount 
recognised in equity relating to that foreign operation is 
recognised in the income statement.

(i) leases
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risk and 
benefits of ownership are classified as operating leases. For 
operating leases for which the group is lessor, initial direct 
costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added 
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as 
an expense over the term of the lease on the same basis as 
the lease income.

operating lease payments are recognised as an expense 
in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease.

(j) financial assets and liabilities
current and non-current financial assets and liabilities within 
the scope of aasB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement are classified as at fair value through profit or 
loss; loans and receivables; held-to-maturity investments; or as 
available-for-sale. the group determines the classification of 
its financial assets and liabilities at initial recognition with the 
classification depending on the purpose for which the asset or 
liability was acquired or issued. Financial assets and liabilities 
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable 
transaction costs unless their classification is at fair value 
through profit or loss. they are subsequently measured at fair 
value or amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

1.  suMMArY of signifiCAnt ACCounting 
PoliCiEs ContinuEd
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changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are 
recorded directly in equity. changes in fair values of any other 
financial assets and liabilities classified as at fair value through 
profit or loss are recorded in the income statement.

the fair values of financial instruments that are actively traded 
in organised financial markets are determined by reference 
to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the 
balance sheet date. For those with no active market, fair values 
are determined using valuation techniques. such techniques 
include: using recent arm’s length market transactions; 
reference to the current market value of another instrument 
that is substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis 
and option pricing models, making as much use of available 
and supportable market data as possible and keeping 
judgemental inputs to a minimum.

(k) impairment of non‑financial assets
assets other than investment property and financial assets 
carried at fair value, are tested for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. an impairment loss is recognised for 
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. the recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the 
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from 
other assets or groups of assets. non-financial assets excluding 
goodwill which have suffered impairment are reviewed for 
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents
cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet and cash flow 
statement comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term 
deposits that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(m) trade and other receivables
trade and other receivables are recognised initially at 
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any provision for 
impairment. an allowance for impairment is made when there 
is objective evidence that collection of the full amount is no 
longer probable.

(n) derivative financial instruments
the group uses derivative financial instruments such as foreign 
currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its risks 
associated with foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations. 
such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at 
fair value on the date in which the derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently remeasured to fair value.

For hedge accounting, hedges are classified as fair value 
hedges when they hedge the exposure to changes in the 
fair value of a recognised asset or liability; cash flow hedges 
where they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that 
is attributable either to a particular risk associated with a 
recognised asset or liability or to a forecast transaction; or 
hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

any gain or loss arising from measuring fair value hedges that 
meets the conditions for hedge accounting is recognised in 
the income statement. any gain or loss on the hedged item 
attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying 
amount of the relevant financial instrument.

any gain or loss arising on cash flow hedges, which hedge 
firm commitments and which qualify for hedge accounting, is 
recognised directly in equity. amounts accumulated in equity 
are recycled in the income statement in the periods when the 
hedged item affects profit or loss.

any gain or loss arising on hedges of a net investment in 
a foreign operation that qualify for hedge accounting is 
recognised directly in equity in foreign currency translation 
reserve. on disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative 
amount of any such gains and losses is transferred to 
profit or loss.

For derivatives that do not meet the documentation 
requirements to qualify for hedge accounting and for the 
ineffective portion of qualifying hedges, any gains or losses 
arising from changes in fair value are recognised in the 
income statement.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedge instrument 
expires, is sold, exercised, terminated or no longer deemed 
effective. any cumulative gains or losses relating to the hedge 
that were previously recognised in equity are transferred to 
the income statement.

(o) investment property
Land and buildings have the function of an investment and are 
regarded as composite assets. in accordance with applicable 
accounting standards, the buildings, including plant and 
equipment, are not depreciated.

investment property includes property under construction.

it is the group’s policy to have all investment properties 
externally valued at intervals of not more than three years 
and that such valuation be reflected in the financial reports of 
the group. it is the policy of the responsible entity to review 
the fair value of each investment property every six months 
and to cause investment properties to be revalued to fair 
values whenever their carrying value materially differs to 
their fair values.

Fair value represents the amount at which an asset could be 
exchanged between a knowledgeable, willing buyer and a 
knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm’s length transaction at 
the date of valuation. it is based on current prices in an active 
market for similar property in the same location and condition 
and subject to similar lease and other contracts, adjusted 
for any differences in the nature, location or condition of the 
property, or in the contractual terms of the leases and other 
contracts relating to the property.

in the absence of current prices in an active market, the group 
considers information from a variety of sources, including 
current prices in an active market for properties of different 
nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect those 
differences, recent prices of similar properties on less active 
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic 
conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred at 
those prices, and discounted cash flow projections based on 
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reliable estimates of future cash flows, using discount rates that 
reflect current market assessments of the uncertainty in the 
amount and timing of the cash flows.

in determining fair values, expected net cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a market determined 
risk adjusted discount rate. the assessment of fair value of 
investment properties does not take into account potential 
capital gains tax assessable. changes in the fair value of an 
investment property are recorded in the income statement.

(p) Equity accounted investments
a jointly controlled entity is a joint venture that involves the 
establishment of a corporation, partnership or other entity in 
which each venturer has an interest. a contractual arrangement 
between the venturers establishes joint control over the 
economic activity of the entity. associates are those entities 
over which the group has significant influence, but not control. 
Jointly controlled entities and associates, and investments 
in those entities, are referred to as “equity accounted 
investments”. equity accounted investments are accounted 
for in the parent’s financial statements using the cost method 
and in the consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method. the group’s share of net profit is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement and its share of any movement 
in reserves is recognised in reserves in the consolidated balance 
sheet. the accumulation of post-acquisition movements in the 
group’s share of net assets is adjusted against the carrying 
value of the investment. Distributions received or receivable 
are recognised in the company’s income statement and 
reduce the carrying value of the investment in the consolidated 
financial statements.

(q) intangible assets
intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial 
recognition at cost. the cost of intangible assets acquired in a 
business combination and those resulting from internalisation 
are their fair values as at the date of acquisition. Following 
initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

internally generated intangible assets are not capitalised and 
expenditure is reflected in the income statement in the year in 
which the expenditure is incurred.

the useful lives of intangible assets have been assessed 
as finite. consequently, intangible assets are amortised on 
a straight-line basis over their useful economic lives and 
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that 
the intangible asset may be impaired. amortisation expense is 
recognised in the income statement in the expense category 
consistent with the function of the intangible assets.

the useful life of transitional services is the period from 
internalisation to 25 august 2012. the useful life of rental 
support is the period from internalisation to 30 June 2013.

(r) Payables
trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and due 
to their short-term nature are not discounted. they represent 
liabilities for goods and services provided to the group prior to 
the end of the financial year that are unpaid and are recognised 
when the group becomes obliged to make future payments 
in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. the 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 60 days 
of recognition.

(s) retirement village resident loans
these loans, which are repayable on the departure of the 
resident, are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit and loss with resulting fair value adjustments recognised 
in the income statement. the fair value of the obligation is 
measured as the ingoing contribution plus the resident’s 
share of capital appreciation to reporting date. although the 
expected average residency term is around eleven years, these 
obligations are classified as current liabilities, as required by 
accounting standards, because the group does not have 
an unconditional right to defer settlement to more than 
twelve months after reporting date.

this liability is stated net of accrued deferred management fees 
at reporting date, because the group’s contracts with residents 
require net settlement of those obligations.

(t) Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recorded at the fair value of the 
consideration received less directly attributable transaction 
costs associated with the borrowings. after initial recognition, 
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method. under this method 
fees, costs, discounts and premiums that are yield related are 
included as part of the carrying amount of the borrowing and 
amortised over its expected life.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the group 
has an unconditional right to defer settlement to more than 
twelve months after reporting date.

Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred except where they 
are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset. when this is the case, they 
are capitalised as part of the acquisition cost of that asset.

(u) issued equity
issued and paid up securities are recognised at the fair value of 
the consideration received by the group. any transaction costs 
arising on issue of ordinary securities are recognised directly 
in equity as a reduction of the security proceeds received.

(v) revenue
Revenue from rents, interest and distributions is recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will 
flow to the entity and the revenue can be reliably measured. 
Revenue brought to account but not received at balance date 
is recognised as a receivable.

1.  suMMArY of signifiCAnt ACCounting 
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Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. contingent rentals 
are recognised as income in the financial year that they 
are earned. Fixed rental increases that do not represent 
direct compensation for underlying cost increases or capital 
expenditures are recognised on a straight-line basis until the 
next market review date.

Reflecting this accounting policy, deferred management 
fee income is calculated as the expected fee to be earned 
on a resident’s ingoing loan, allocated pro-rata over the 
resident’s expected tenure, together with any share of 
capital appreciation that has occurred at reporting date.

interest income is recognised as the interest accrues using 
the effective interest rate method.

(w) share‑based payment transactions
certain senior executives of the group receive remuneration 
in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby 
employees render services as consideration for equity 
instruments (equity-settled transactions). the group does 
not have any cash-settled share-based payment transactions.

the cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together 
with a corresponding increase in reserves in equity, over 
the period in which the performance and service conditions 
are fulfilled. the cumulative expense recognised for these 
transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date 
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired 
and the group’s best estimate of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest. the income statement 
expense or credit for a period represents the movement in 
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end 
of that period and is recognised in other expenses.

no expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately 
vest, except for equity-settled transactions for which vesting is 
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition. these are 
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market 
or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other 
performance and service conditions are satisfied.

when the terms of an equity-settled transaction are modified, 
the minimum expense recognised is the expense as if the terms 
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are 
met. an additional expense is recognised for any modification 
that increases the total fair value of the transaction, or is 
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date 
of modification.

when an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if 
it vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not 
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. this 
includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the 
control of either the group or the employee are not met. 
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, 
and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is 
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they 
were a modification of the original award, as described in the 
previous paragraph.

the dilutive effect of outstanding rights is reflected as 
additional share dilution in the computation of diluted 
earnings per share.

(x) income tax

(i) Current income tax
under the current tax legislation, the Fund and its subsidiaries 
are not liable to pay australian income tax provided that its 
taxable income (including any assessable capital gains) is 
fully distributed to securityholders each year. tax allowances 
for building and fixtures depreciation are distributed to 
securityholders in the form of the tax-deferred component 
of distributions.

However, the company, icmt and their subsidiaries are subject 
to australian income tax.

current tax assets and liabilities for the current period are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from, or 
paid to, the taxation authorities based on the current period’s 
taxable income. the tax rates and tax laws used to compute the 
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date.

the subsidiaries that hold the group’s foreign properties may 
be subject to corporate income tax and withholding tax in 
the countries in which they operate. under current australian 
income tax legislation, securityholders may be entitled to 
receive a foreign tax credit for this withholding tax.

(ii) Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax represents foreign tax (including 
withholding tax) expected to be payable or recoverable by 
foreign taxable entities on the differences between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to 
the year when the asset is realised through continuing use or 
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at reporting date. 
income taxes related to items recognised directly in equity are 
recognised in equity and not against income.

(y) goods and services tax (“gst”)
Revenue, expenses and assets (with the exception of 
receivables) are recognised net of the amount of gst to the 
extent that the gst is recoverable from the taxation authority. 
where gst is not recoverable, it is recognised as part of the 
cost of the acquisition, or as an expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of gst. the net 
amount of gst recoverable from or payable to the tax authority 
is included in the balance sheet as an asset or liability.

cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross 
basis. the gst components of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities, which are recoverable from or payable 
to the tax authorities, are classified as operating cash flows.
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(z) Pending Accounting standards
aasB 9 Financial Instruments is applicable to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. the group has 
not early adopted this standard. it includes requirements for 
the classification and measurement of financial assets resulting 
from Phase 1 of the iasB’s project to replace ias 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (aasB 139 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement). 
these requirements improve and simplify the approach for 
classification and measurement of financial assets compared 
with the requirements of aasB 139. it also requires that a 
portion of any change in fair value relating to the entity’s 
own credit risk for financial liabilities measured at fair value 
utilising the fair value option to be separately presented in 
other comprehensive income, except when that would create 
an accounting mismatch. the group is currently evaluating 
the impact of this standard.

aasB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities is applicable to 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 
the group has not early adopted this standard. it includes 
all disclosures relating to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, 
joint arrangements, associates and structures entities. new 
disclosures have been introduced about the judgements made 
by management to determine whether control exists, and to 
require summarised information about joint arrangements, 
associates and structured entities and subsidiaries with 
non-controlling interests.

other new accounting standards, amendments to accounting 
standards and interpretations have been published that are 
not mandatory for the current reporting period. these are 
not expected to have any material impact on the company’s 
financial report in future reporting periods.

2.  ACCounting EstiMAtEs And 
JudgEMEnts

the preparation of financial statements requires the use 
of certain critical accounting estimates. it also requires the 
group to exercise its judgement in the process of applying 
the group’s accounting policies. the areas involving a 
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements, are disclosed below.

estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
the group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the 
future. the resulting accounting estimates, by definition, will 
seldom equal the related actual results. the estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(i) Valuation of investment property
the group has investment properties with a carrying amount 
of $327,632,000 (2011:$344,490,000) (refer note 11), and 

retirement village resident loans with a carrying amount of 
$162,603,000 (2011: $150,761,000), which together represent 
the estimated fair value of the group’s interest in retirement 
villages. in addition, the carrying amount of the Fund’s equity 
accounted investments of $nil (2011: Fund $45,407,000 (refer 
note 13) also reflects investment properties carried at fair value. 
these carrying amounts reflect certain assumptions about 
expected future rentals, rent-free periods, operating costs and 
appropriate discount and capitalisation rates. in forming these 
assumptions, the responsible entity considered information 
about current and recent sales activity, current market rents, 
and discount and capitalisation rates, for properties similar to 
those owned by the group, as well as independent valuations 
of the group’s property.

(ii) Fair value of derivatives
the fair value of derivative assets and liabilities is based on 
assumptions of future events and involves significant estimates. 
given the complex nature of these instruments and various 
assumptions that are used in calculating mark-to-market values, 
the group relies on counterparty valuations for derivative values. 
the counterparty valuations are usually based on mid-market 
rates and calculated using the main variables including the 
forward market curve, time and volatility.

(iii) Valuation of share-based payments
Valuation of share-based payment transactions is performed 
using judgements around the fair value of equity instruments on 
the date at which they are granted. the fair value is determined 
using a monte carlo simulation. Refer to note 22 for assumptions 
used in determining the fair value.

(iv) Valuation of intangibles
the valuation of transitional services and Rental support 
provided as part of the internalisation is based on the estimated 
market value of these services if they were to be obtained by a 
third party at arms length.

(v)  Valuation of assets acquired in business 
combinations

upon recognising the acquisition, management uses 
estimations and assumptions of the fair value of assets 
and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition, including 
judgements related to valuation of investment property as 
discussed above.

(vi) Valuation of retirement village resident loans
the fair value of the retirement village resident loans is 
calculated by reference to the initial loan amount plus the 
resident’s share of any capital gains in accordance with 
their contracts less any deferred management fee income 
earned to date by the group as operator. the key assumption 
for calculating the capital gain and deferred management fee 
income components is the value of the dwelling being occupied 
by the resident. this value is determined by reference to the 
valuation of investment property as referred to above.

(b)  Critical judgements in applying the entity’s 
accounting policies

there were no judgements, apart from those involving 
estimations, that management has made in the process of 
applying the entity’s accounting policies that had a significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial report.

1.  suMMArY of signifiCAnt ACCounting 
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2012 2011

3. EArnings PEr sECuritY
(a) Per security
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations ($’000)  1,448  (5,603)

Profit from discontinued operations ($’000)  32,179  18,654

weighted average number of securities outstanding (thousands):

 issued securities  441,029  441,029

 Dilutive securities:

  Performance quantum rights  354  –

  Retention quantum rights  167  –

weighted average number of issued and dilutive potential securities outstanding – thousands  441,550  441,029

Basic earnings per security from continuing operations (cents)  0.3  (1.3)

Basic earnings per security from discontinued operations (cents)  7.3  4.2

Basic earnings per security (cents) 7.6  3.0

Diluted earnings per security from continuing operations (cents)  0.3  (1.3)

Diluted earning per security from discontinuing operations (cents)  7.3  4.2

Diluted earnings per security (cents)  7.6  3.0

(b) Per Company share
Loss attributable to securityholders ($’000)  (19,190)  –

weighted average number of securities outstanding (thousands):

 issued securities  441,029  –

 Dilutive securities:

  Performance quantum rights  354  –

  Retention quantum rights  167  –

weighted average number of issued and dilutive potential securities outstanding – thousands  441,550  –

Basic earning per share (cents)  (4.4)  –

Diluted earnings per share (cents)  (4.3)  –
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4. gAin on intErnAlisAtion
on 4 June 2012, management of the trusts was internalised and the stapled entity known as ingenia communities group 
(consisting of the company and the trusts) was formed (“internalisation”), following approval by securityholders at meetings held 
on 31 may 2012. the internalisation involved:

•	 a capital distribution by the Fund which was applied towards the issue of shares in the company to unitholders of the trusts 
(other than foreign resident unitholders);

•	 the change of the responsible entity of the trusts from ing management Limited to icRe; and

•	 the stapling of each share in the company to each unit in each trust to form the new stapled securities of ingenia 
communities group.

Financial support for internalisation was provided by the previous responsible entity and its related parties, ing groep nV at no 
cost to the group. the gain resulting from this financial support, after deducting transaction costs, was:

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

waiver of accrued management fees (a)  2,500  –

gain on acquisition of 10% interest in new Zealand students (b)  1,298  –

transitional services (c)  600  –

Rental support (d)  200  –

transaction costs (e)  (1,840)  –

 2,758  –

(a) ing groep nV waived accrued management fees of $2,500,000.
(b) ing groep nV transferred its 10% equity (and 100% voting power) in the new Zealand students portfolio to icmt for no consideration. 

Refer note 28(b).
(c) ing groep nV provided transitional services to the group for the period from internalisation to 25 august 2012. Refer note 14.
(d) ing groep nV will provide office facilities to the group for the period from internalisation to 30 June 2013. Refer note 14.
(e) the group incurred transaction costs in relation to internalisation.

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

5. finAnCE EXPEnsE
interest paid or payable  8,538  9,578

Less interest capitalised  –  (180)

 8,538  9,398

6. inCoME tAX EXPEnsE
(a) income tax benefit
current tax  (4)  14

Decrease in deferred tax liabilities 17  (34)  (1,389)

 (38)  (1,375)

(b) reconciliation between tax expense and pre‑tax net profit
Profit/(loss) before income tax  1,410  (6,978)

income tax at the australian tax rate of 30% (2011: 30%)  423  (2,093)

tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/(taxable)  
in calculating taxable income:

 australian income  (461)  718

income tax benefit  (38)  (1,375)
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7. disContinuEd oPErAtions
(a) details of discontinued operations
on 23 november 2009, the trusts announced that they would cease to provide financial support to their united states students 
business, which had previously enabled that business to meet its interest and principal payments on debt. the cessation of this 
support resulted in a breach of borrowing agreements. since then management has worked with debt holders to dispose of all  
of the united states students properties. the final property was the subject of a foreclosure sale on 9 February 2012.

the group’s investment in its new Zealand students business (u-stay) was classified as a discontinued operation at 30 June 
2011, consistent with the previously announced strategy to focus on transitioning to an actively managed australian seniors living 
business. Following internalisation, the group holds a 100% interest in three facilities in wellington, new Zealand that provide 
student accommodation under a minimum rental guarantee to Victoria university of wellington. Prior to internalisation the Fund 
held a 90% interest in this investment.

the group’s investment in the united states seniors Living portfolio (the Bristals) was classified as a discontinued operation 
at 31 December 2011. this investment comprises a 50% interest in five seniors living communities and a 100% interest in one 
community (Lynbrook), all located on Long island, new York. on 23 may 2012, the trusts announced that they had entered 
into a conditional contract for the sale of this portfolio for approximately us$173.3m. settlement is conditional upon receiving 
all necessary united states regulatory and property level debt approvals, which are anticipated to be received in late 2012.

aasB5 (non-current assets Held for sale and Discontinued operations) requires, when a component of an entity is classified 
as a discontinued operation, comparative financial data to be restated in the income statements. Balance sheets and cash flow 
statements are not restated. accordingly, comparative income statements and associated notes have been restated to reflect 
the united states seniors Living portfolio being a discontinued operation.

(b) financial performance
the financial performance of components of the group disposed of or classified as discontinued operations at 30 June 2012 was:

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

Revenue  3,748  6,626

net gain on change in fair value of:

– Borrowings  6,427  27,778

– investment properties  725  (21,677)

other income  1,235  206

expenses  (3,608)  (4,837)

share of net profit of equity accounted investments  28,300  10,622

Profit from operating activities before income tax  36,828  18,718

income tax expense  (202)  (64)

Profit from operating activities  36,626  18,654

loss on sale of discontinued operations  (4,447)  –

Profit from discontinued operations for the year  32,179  18,654

(c) Cash flows
the cash flows of components of the group disposed of or classified as discontinued operations at 30 June 2012 were:

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

net cash flow from operating activities  3,444  85

net cash flows from investing activities:

 Proceeds on sale of discontinued operations  (20)  –

 acquisition of subsidiary net of cash acquired  2,268  –

 other  (702)  (340)

net cash flow from financing activities  (150)  –

net cash flows from discontinued operations  4,840  (255)
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7. disContinuEd oPErAtions ContinuEd
(d) Assets and liabilities
the assets and liabilities of components of the group classified as disposal groups at each reporting date were:

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

Assets
cash and cash equivalents 8  3,251  186

trade and other receivables  7,073  662

investment properties  48,017  5,325

equity accounted investments  36,983  3,874

total assets  95,324  10,047

Liabilities
Payables  2,509  114

Borrowings  42,962  5,561

Deferred tax liabilities  227  –

 45,698  5,675

net assets of disposal groups  49,626  4,372

(e) details of disposals
the trusts disposed of investment properties within three us student LLcs during the period for no consideration which had 
investment property carried at us$6,672,000 and interest bearing liabilities of us$6,672,000.

the trusts also disposed a 50% interest in 15 of their 21 us seniors communities to its joint venture partner chartwell seniors 
Housing Real estate investment trust. this transaction settled on 4 november 2011 and leaves the group with a 100% interest in 
Lynbrook and 50% in 5 other properties located on Long island, new York. this transaction was completed at a $4,447,000 loss 
and resulted in cash proceeds of $29,898,000 which were commercially hedged by foreign currency forward contracts.

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

8. CAsH And CAsH EQuiVAlEnts
cash at bank and in hand 24  5,210  8,398

short term deposits 24  24,351  6,457

 29,561  14,855

Reconciliation to statement of cash flows
cash and cash equivalents attributable to:

 continuing operations  29,561  14,855

 Discontinued operations  3,251  186

cash at end of the year as per cash flow statement  32,812  15,041
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ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
Holdings liMitEd

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

9. trAdE And otHEr rECEiVABlEs
Current
Rental and other amounts due 24  106  116

accrued income, prepayments and deposits  2,471  4,136

 2,577  4,252

Non-current
accrued income, prepayments and deposits 24  354  1,297

Rental and other amounts due are receivable within 30 days.

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

10. dEriVAtiVEs
Current assets
Foreign exchange options 24  1,659  –

Current liabilities
interest rate swap contracts 24  970  213

Non-current liabilities
interest rate swap contracts 24  –  269

11. inVEstMEnt ProPErtiEs
(a) summary of carrying amounts
completed properties  325,962  342,820

Properties under construction  1,670  1,670

 327,632  344,490
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11. inVEstMEnt ProPErtiEs ContinuEd
(b) individual valuations and carrying amounts

lAtEst EXtErnAl 
VAluAtion

CArrYing 
AMount

CAPitAlisAtion 
rAtE

Property
Date of

purchase

 cost
to date
$’000 Date

Valuation
$’000

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

 2012
%

 2011
%

Completed properties
garden Villages

Yakamia gardens Jun 04  5,403 Jun 11  3,870  3,100  3,870 10.0% 10.0%

mardross gardens Jun 04  5,563 Jun 12  2,200  2,200  2,830 8.5% 10.3%

seville grove gardens Jun 04  4,475 Dec 10  3,100  3,560  3,410 10.0% 10.0%

Hertford gardens Jun 04  4,042 Jun 12  2,650  2,650  2,140 10.0% 10.0%

carey Park gardens Jun 04  4,866 Jun 11  3,840  3,510  3,840 10.0% 10.0%

Jefferis gardens Jun 04  4,940 Dec 11  2,450  2,420  2,669 10.0% 10.0%

cessnock gardens Jun 04  5,802 Dec 09  4,570  2,930  3,290 10.0% 10.0%

claremont gardens Jun 04  4,258 Dec 11  3,690  3,520  3,520 10.0% 10.0%

taloumbi gardens Jun 04  5,005 Dec 10  3,730  4,220  4,160 10.8% 10.3%

Devonport gardens Jun 04  4,002 Dec 09  2,350  2,940  3,220 10.0% 10.0%

wheelers gardens Jun 04  4,328 Dec 11  3,520  3,740  2,768 10.0% 10.3%

elphinwood gardens Jun 04  4,353 Dec 10  3,600  3,110  3,840 10.0% 10.0%

glenorchy gardens Jun 05  4,141 Dec 11  3,130  3,239  3,350 10.0% 10.0%

chatsbury gardens Jun 04  4,744 Dec 11  2,970  2,890  3,212 10.0% 10.0%

grovedale gardens Jun 05  4,912 Dec 10  3,400  3,290  3,200 10.3% 10.3%

Horsham gardens Jun 04  4,432 Jun 12  3,100  3,100  3,280 9.8% 10.0%

Lovely Banks gardens Jun 05 5,594 Dec 09  3,750 2,830 2,649 9.8% 10.0%

sea scape gardens Jun 04  4,476 Jun 11  4,060  4,180  4,060 10.8% 10.0%

marsden gardens Jun 05  10,308 Dec 10  7,300  8,000  8,680 10.5% 10.0%

coburns gardens Jun 04  4,282 Dec 09  2,350  2,560  2,380 10.0% 10.0%

Brooklyn gardens Jun 04  4,143 Dec 09  2,500  2,150  1,680 8.5% 10.5%

oxley gardens Jun 04  4,385 Jun 11  2,720  2,630  2,720 10.0% 10.0%

townsend gardens Jun 04  4,735 Jun 12  3,250  3,250  2,830 9.8% 10.0%

st albans Park gardens Jun 04  5,042 Jun 12  3,400  3,400  2,840 9.8% 10.0%

swan View gardens Jan 06  7,813 Dec 10  6,130  5,480  6,210 10.6% 10.0%

taree gardens Dec 04  4,600 Jun 11  2,990  2,230  2,768 10.0% 10.0%

us seniors

Lynbrook, new York Dec 07  27,773 Dec 09  23,667  –  21,130 7.5% 7.3%

garden Villages dMf Conversions discount rate

Forest Lake gardens nov 05  13,506 Jun 11  10,124  11,346  10,124 16.8% 16.6%

south gladstone gardens nov 05  7,955 Jun 11  9,344  11,707  9,044 11.8% 22.9%

Rockhampton gardens nov 05  10,311 Dec 11  10,929  11,826  10,770 14.9% 15.1%

settlers

Lakeside apr 07  69,707 Jun 11  79,099  79,255  79,099 13.0% 13.5%

noyea Park apr 07  2,471 Dec 10  741  991  741 14.0% 14.0%

meadow springs apr 07  20,895 Jun 11  17,472  17,899  17,472 14.0% 14.0%

Ridgewood apr 07  85,231 Jun 11  105,024  105,809  105,024 13.0% 13.3%

 total completed properties  368,493  347,020  325,962  342,820
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lAtEst EXtErnAl 
VAluAtion

CArrYing 
AMount

CAPitAlisAtion 
rAtE

Property
Date of

purchase

 cost
to date
$’000 Date

Valuation
$’000

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

 2012
%

 2011
%

Property under construction
garden Villages

Lovely Banks gardens – land Jun 05  862 Dec 09  310  310  310

settlers

meadow springs apr 07  2,470 Dec 10  1,500  1,360  1,360

  total properties under construction  3,332  1,810  1,670  1,670

total all investment properties  371,825  348,830  327,632  344,490

investment property that has not been valued by external valuers at reporting date is carried at the responsible entity’s estimate 
of fair value in accordance with the accounting policy detailed at note 1(o). Properties acquired during the period are held at cost, 
which is reflective of the estimate of fair value.

Valuations made in a foreign currency have been converted at the rate of exchange ruling at reporting date.

Valuations of retirement villages are provided net of resident loans (after deducting any accrued deferred management fees).  
For presentation in this note, the external valuations shown are stated before deducting this liability to reflect its separate balance 
sheet presentation. the carrying amounts include the fair value of units completed since the date of the external valuation.

the garden Villages Deferred management Fee (“DmF”) conversion villages started converting from a rental to a deferred 
management fee model from January 2011. the discount rate reflects a combination of development risk on vacant units and DmF 
from both occupied and vacant units. over time, the garden Villages DmF conversion properties’ discount rate will likely revert 
towards settlers’ discount rates as project risk diminishes.

Lynbrook has been reclassified as a discontinued operation with the rest of the united states seniors segment from 
31 December 2011.

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

(c) Movements in carrying amounts
carrying amount at beginning of year  344,490  352,823

exchange rate fluctuations  –  (5,309)

additions to existing property  1,873  7,340

Disposals  –  (10,482)

transferred to discontinued operations  (21,130)  –

net change in fair value  2,399  118

carrying amount at end of year  327,632  344,490

12. PlAnt And EQuiPMEnt
Plant and equipment  1,330  989

Less: accumulated depreciation  (561)  (680)

 769  309

Movements in carrying amount
carrying amount at beginning of year  309  228

additions  343  204

Depreciation  117  (123)

carrying amount at end of year  769  309
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13. EQuitY ACCountEd inVEstMEnts
(a) details of investments
nAME PrinCiPAl ACtiVitY ownErsHiP intErEst

 2012  2011

csH – ingRe LLc(1) Real estate investment  – 50%

ina nZ subsidiary trust no 1 Real estate investment  –  –

(1) this investment is now classified as a discontinued operation. the group’s share of its assets and liabilities are not included in the figures below 
from the date of its reclassification, being 31 December 2011. the group’s share of its results are not included in the figures below for both 2012 
and 2011 which have been restated as required by aasB5 (non-current assets Held for sale and Discontinued operations). Refer note 7.

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

(b) share of assets and liabilities
total assets  –  272,783

total liabilities  –  (227,376)

net assets  –  45,407

14. intAngiBlE AssEts
Transitional services
at initial cost, being fair value  600  –

accumulated amortisation  (200)  –

 400  –

Rental support
at initial cost, being fair value  200  –

accumulated amortisation  (15)  –

 185  –

total intangible assets  585  –

these intangible assets form part of the financial support for internalisation provided by ing groep nV. although no consideration 
was provided by the group for these assets, accounting standards require their recognition at their fair value at the date of 
internalisation. Refer note 4.
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note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

15. trAdE And otHEr PAYABlEs
Current liabilities
trade and other payables  7,849  19,238

employee liabilities  392  359

 8,241  19,597

Non-current liabilities
employee liabilities  117  –

16. Borrowings
Current liabilities 24

Bank debt (a)  81,739  –

Bonds (b)  –  266

 81,739  266

Non-current liabilities
Bank debt (a)  –  96,161

Bonds (b)  –  25,354

 –  121,515

(a) Bank debt
the australian dollar denominated bank debt of $81,739,000 (2011: $96,161,000) is a variable rate facility expiring in march 2013. 
the main financial covenants to be maintained include:

•	 Loan to value ratios of 65% for completed rental villages and 50% for deferred management fee villages and properties 
under construction;

•	 total leverage ratio (calculated on a look-through basis) of less than 85%, reducing to 80% from 1 January 2012; and

•	 interest cover ratio of net income from mortgaged properties (including distributions from foreign assets) to facility interest 
expense of at least 1.4.

•	 the group may not make distributions without prior consent of the bank (unless pursuant to a distribution reinvestment plan 
approved by the bank) until:

 — Following a capital raising, the loan to value ratio is not more than 50% and the interest cover ratio is at least 1.75; or
 — without a capital raising and the loan to value ratio is not more than 40% and the interest cover ratio is at least 1.75.

the carrying value of investment property net of resident liabilities at reporting date for the group’s australian properties pledged 
as security is $165,029,000 (2011: $172,599,000).

after reporting date, this finance facility has been refinanced. Refer note 31.

(b) Bonds
this comprises two bonds whose terms exceed five years. the bonds are secured against a united states property with a carrying 
value of $27,966,000 (2011: $21,130,000).
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 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

17. dEfErrEd tAX liABilitiEs
the balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

investment properties  7,921  8,047

Deferred tax benefit recognised in the income statement in respect of deferred tax 
liabilities is attributable to temporary differences arising from:

investment properties  (34)  (1,389)

Deductible temporary differences for which no deferred tax asset has 
been recognised  98,536  117,383

18. issuEd sECuritiEs
(a) Carrying values
at beginning of year  490,044  490,044

issued during the year:

 on internalisation  6,000  –

capital distribution on internalisation  (6,000)  –

at end of year  490,044  490,044

the closing balance is attributable to the securityholders of:

 ingenia communities Holdings Limited  6,000  –

 ingenia communities Fund  480,693  486,693

 ingenia communities management trust  3,351  3,351

 490,044  490,044

 2012
thousands

2011
thousands

(b) number of issued securities
at beginning of year  441,029  441,029

at end of year  441,029  441,029

(c) terms of securities
all securities are fully paid and rank equally with each other for all purposes. each security entitles the holder to one vote, in 
person or by proxy, at a meeting of securityholders.
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 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

19. rEsErVEs
Foreign currency translation reserve
Balance at beginning of year  (20,240)  (11,481)

translation differences arising during the year  3,216  (8,759)

Balance at end of year  (17,024)  (20,240)

Share-based payment reserve
Balance at beginning of year  –  –

share-based payment transactions  15  –

Balance at end of year  15  –

total reserves at end of year  (17,009)  (20,240)

the closing balance is attributable to the securityholders of:

 ingenia communities Holdings Limited  (17,009)  –

 ingenia communities Fund  –  (19,680)

 ingenia communities management trust  –  (560)

 (17,009)  (20,240)

the foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of 
foreign subsidiaries. it is also used to record the effect of hedging net investments in foreign operations.

the share-based payment reserve records the value of equity-settled share-based payment transactions provided to employees, 
including key management personnel, as part of their remuneration. Refer note 22.

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

20. rEtAinEd EArnings
Balance at beginning of year  (355,490)  (368,541)

net profit for the year  33,627  13,051

Balance at end of year  (321,863)  (355,490)

the closing balance is attributable to the securityholders of:

 ingenia communities Holdings Limited  (19,190)  –

 ingenia communities Fund  (308,082)  (352,165)

 ingenia communities management trust  5,410  (3,325)

 (321,863)  (355,490)

21. CoMMitMEnts
commitments for capital expenditure on investment property contracted but not provided for at reporting date amounted to 
$455,500 (2011: nil), all payable within one year.

the group has entered into a non-cancellable operating lease for its Brisbane office. the lease has a remaining life of 2 years.

Future minimum rentals payable under this lease as at reporting date were:

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

within one year  95  –

Later than one year but not later than five years  95  –

 190  –
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22. sHArE‑BAsEd PAYMEnt trAnsACtions
the group has established a long-term incentive scheme (“scheme”), which provides for the grant of conditional rights to receive 
securities in the group. the intention of the scheme is to align long-term securityholder returns with the ‘at-risk’ compensation 
potentially payable to executive level employees and to reward managers who remain in employment and perform at the required 
levels of performance.

the scheme encompasses two types of security rights: performance quantum rights (“PQRs”) and retention quantum rights 
“(RQRs”). PQRs vest on completion of a period of service, with the number of rights vesting being based on the group’s 
performance, as measured by total securityholder returns, and RQRs vest on completion of a period of service. on vesting, 
each right entitles the employee to receive one security of the group for no consideration.

movements in rights during the year were:

 2012
thousands

2011
thousands

PQRs
outstanding at beginning at year  –  –

granted during the year  3,842  –

outstanding at end of year  3,842  –

exerciseable at end of year  –  –

weighted average remaining contractual life of outstanding rights (years)  3.0  –

RQRs
outstanding at beginning at year  –  –

granted during the year  1,818  –

outstanding at end of year  1,818  –

exerciseable at end of year  –  –

weighted average remaining contractual life of outstanding rights (years)  1.9  –

the fair values of the rights granted during the current year have been measured using a monte carlo simulation model. 
assumptions made in determining these fair values, and the results of these assumptions, were:

grant date
 14 may

2012
 31 may

2012
 4 June

2012

PQRs
Price of stapled securities at grant date $0.190 $0.205 $0.205

Volatility of security price 50.0% 50.0% 50.0%

Distribution yield 2.63% 2.44% 2.44%

Risk-free rate at grant date 2.68% 2.35% 2.18%

expected remaining life at grant date  3.1  3.1  3.1

Fair value of each right $0.090 $0.102 $0.102

RQRs
Price of stapled securities at grant date $0.190 $0.205 $0.205

Volatility of security price 50.0% 50.0% 50.0%

Distribution yield 2.63% 2.44% 2.44%

Risk-free rate at grant date 2.68% 2.35% 2.18%

expected remaining life at grant date  2  2  2

Fair value of each right $0.171 $0.186 $0.186

in determining the volatility factor, reference has been made to historical volatility measures for the group and comparable 
companies using weekly share price data between 31 may 2007 and 31 may 2012.

the fair value of the rights is recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase in reserves. the fair value 
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. the expense recognised for the financial year was $14,736 (2011: nil).
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23. CAPitAl MAnAgEMEnt
the group aims to meet its strategic objectives and operational needs and to maximise returns to securityholders through the 
appropriate use of debt and equity, while taking account of the additional financial risks of higher debt levels.

in determining the optimal capital structure, the group takes into account a number of factors, including the views of investors 
and the market in general, the capital needs of its portfolio, the relative cost of debt versus equity, the execution risk of raising 
equity or debt, and the additional financial risks of debt including increased volatility of earnings due to exposure to interest rate 
movements, the liquidity risk of maturing debt facilities and the potential for acceleration prior to maturity.

in assessing this risk, the group takes into account the relative security of its income flows, the predictability of its expenses, 
its debt profile, the degree of hedging and the overall level of debt as measured by gearing.

the actual capital structure at a point in time is the product of a number of factors, many of which are market driven and to 
various degrees outside of the control of the group, particularly the impact of revaluations on gearing levels, the availability of 
new equity and the liquidity in real estate markets. while the group periodically determines the optimal capital structure, the 
ability to achieve the optimal structure may be impacted by market conditions and the actual position may often differ from 
the optimal position.

the group’s capital position is primarily monitored through its ratio of total liabilities to total assets (“Leverage Ratio”), calculated 
on a look-through basis, in which the group’s interest in its joint ventures and associates are proportionately consolidated based 
on the group’s ownership interest. the group’s medium term strategy is to maintain the Leverage Ratio in the range of 45% – 55%. 
at 30 June 2012, the Leverage Ratio was 72.8%, compared to 82.4% at 30 June 2011, calculated as follows:

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

total consolidated liabilities  307,289  306,343

Plus share of liabilities of equity accounted investments  99,784  227,376

total look-through liabilities  407,073  533,719

total consolidated assets  458,461  420,657

Less equity accounted investments  (36,983)  (45,407)

Plus share of assets of equity accounted investments  137,314  272,783

total look-through assets  558,792  648,033

Leverage ratio 72.8% 82.4%

in addition, the group monitors the ratio of debt to total assets (“gearing Ratio”), calculated on a look-through basis. at 30 June 
2012, the gearing Ratio was 52.0%, compared to 69.3% at 30 June 2011, calculated as follows:

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

total consolidated borrowings  124,701  127,342

Less cash & cash equivalents (including associates)  (34,300)  (20,180)

net consolidated debt  90,401  107,162

Plus share of debt of equity accounted investments  97,725  235,035

total look-through debt  188,126  342,197

total consolidated assets  458,461  420,657

Less cash & cash equivalents  (32,812)  (15,041)

Less retirement village resident loans  (162,603)  (150,761)

Less equity accounted investments  (36,983)  (49,281)

Plus share of assets of equity accounted investments  137,314  293,425

Less cash and cash equivalents of equity accounted investments  (1,488)  (5,139)

total look-through assets  361,889  493,860

gearing ratio 52.0% 69.3%
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24. finAnCiAl instruMEnts
(a) introduction
the group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and short-term deposits, receivables, payables, interest bearing 
liabilities, other financial liabilities, and derivative financial instruments.

the main risks arising from the group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, credit risk and liquidity 
risk. the group manages its exposure to these risks primarily through its treasury Policy. the policy sets out various targets aimed 
at restricting the financial risk taken by the group. management reviews actual positions of the group against these targets on a 
regular basis. if the target is not achieved, or forecast not to be achieved, a plan of action is, where appropriate, put in place with 
the aim of meeting the target within an agreed timeframe. Depending on the circumstances of the group at a point in time, it may 
be that positions outside of the treasury Policy are accepted and no plan of action is put in place to meet the treasury targets, 
because, for example, the risks associated with bringing the group into compliance outweigh the benefits. the adequacy of the 
treasury Policy in addressing the risks arising from the group’s financial instruments is reviewed on a regular basis.

while the group aims to meet its treasury Policy targets, many factors influence its performance, and it is probable that at any one 
time it will not meet all its targets. For example, the group may be unable to negotiate the extension of bank facilities sufficiently 
ahead of time, so that it fails to achieve its liquidity target. when refinancing loans it may be unable to achieve the desired maturity 
profile or the desired level of flexibility of financial covenants, because of the cost of such terms or their unavailability. Hedging 
instruments may not be available, or their cost may outweigh the benefit of risk reduction or they may introduce other risks such 
as mark to market valuation risk. changes in market conditions may limit the group’s ability to raise capital through the issue of 
new securities or sale of properties.

(b) interest rate risk
the group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates arises primarily from its use of borrowings. the main 
consequence of adverse changes in market interest rates is higher interest costs, reducing the group’s profit. in addition, one 
or more of the group’s loan agreements may include minimum interest cover covenants. Higher interest costs resulting from 
increases in market interest rates may result in these covenants being breached, providing the lender the right to call in the loan 
or to increase the interest rate applied to the loan.

the group manages the risk of changes in market interest rates by maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and floating rate 
borrowings. Fixed rate debt is achieved either through fixed rate debt funding or through derivative financial instruments permitted 
under the treasury Policy. the policy sets minimum and maximum levels of fixed rate exposure over a ten-year time horizon.

at 30 June 2012, after taking into account the effect of interest rate swaps, approximately 70% of the group’s borrowings are at 
a fixed rate of interest (30 June 2011: ).

exposure to changes in market interest rates also arises from financial assets such as cash deposits and loan receivables subject 
to floating interest rate terms. changes in market interest rates will also change the fair value of any interest rate hedges.
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(c) interest rate risk exposure
the group’s exposure to interest rate risk at reporting date was:

 fiXEd intErEst MAturing in:

30 June 2012

 floating
interest

rate
 less than

 1 year
 1 to 5
 years

 More than
 5 years  total

Principal amounts $'000
financial assets

cash at bank  5,210  –  –  –  5,210

short term deposits  24,351  –  –  –  24,351

financial liabilities

Bank debt denominated in auD  81,739  –  –  –  81,739

Bank debt denominated in nZD  16,287  –  –  –  16,287

other external debt denominated in usD  – – –  26,675  26,675

interest rate swaps:

 – denominated in auD; Fund pays fixed rate  (60,000)  60,000  –  –  –

the group’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rates on financial instruments at the end of the previous 
financial year was:

 fiXEd intErEst MAturing in:

30 June 2011

 Floating
interest

rate
 Less than

 1 year
 1 to 5
 years

 more than
 5 years  total

Principal amounts $'000
financial assets

cash at bank  8,398  –  –  –  8,398

short term deposits  6,457  –  –  –  6,457

financial liabilities

Bank debt denominated in auD  96,161  –  –  –  96,161

Bonds denominated in usD  –  266  1,250  24,104  25,620

interest rate swaps:

 – denominated in auD; Fund pays fixed rate  (60,000)  60,000  –  –  –

other financial instruments of the group not included in the above tables are non-interest bearing and are therefore not subject to 
interest rate risk.

(d) interest rate sensitivity analysis
the impact of an increase or decrease in average interest rates of 1% (100 basis points) at reporting date, with all other variables 
held constant, is illustrated in the tables below. this analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence at balance 
sheet date. as the group has no derivatives that meet the documentation requirements to qualify for hedge accounting, there 
would be no impact on securityholders interest (apart from the effect on profit).
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24. finAnCiAl instruMEnts ContinuEd
(i) Increase in average interest rates of 1%
the effect on net interest expense for one year would have been:

EffECt on Profit AftEr tAX 
HigHEr/(lowEr)

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

Variable interest rate instruments denominated in:

 australian dollars  (1,247)  (1,273)

the effect on change in fair value of derivatives would have been:

EffECt on Profit AftEr tAX 
HigHEr/(lowEr)

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

Fixed interest rate instruments denominated in:

 australian dollars  293  973

(ii) Decrease in average interest rates of 1%
the effect on net interest expense for one year would have been:

EffECt on Profit AftEr tAX 
HigHEr/(lowEr)

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

Variable interest rate instruments denominated in:

 australian dollars  1,247  1,273

the effect on change in fair value of derivatives would have been:

EffECt on Profit AftEr tAX 
HigHEr/(lowEr)

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

Fixed interest rate instruments denominated in:

 australian dollars  (298)  (979)

(e) foreign exchange risk
By holding properties in offshore markets, the group is exposed to the risk of movements in foreign exchange rates. Foreign 
exchange rate movements may reduce the australian dollar equivalent of the carrying value of the group’s offshore properties, 
and may result in lower australian dollar equivalent proceeds when an offshore property is sold. in addition, foreign exchange 
rate movements may reduce the australian dollar equivalent of the earnings from the offshore properties while they are 
owned by the group.

the group reduces its exposure to the foreign exchange risk inherent in the carrying value of its offshore properties and interests 
in offshore investments by partly or wholly funding their acquisition using borrowings denominated in the particular offshore 
currency, and by using derivatives. the treasury Policy sets a target for minimum and maximum hedging of the carrying value 
of its offshore properties.

the group’s exposure to the impact of exchange rate movements on its earnings from its offshore properties is partly mitigated 
by the foreign denominated interest expense of its foreign denominated borrowings and any derivative hedges. the group aims 
to reduce any residual exposure to its earnings arising because of its investment in offshore markets by using forward exchange 
contracts. the treasury Policy sets out targets of minimum and maximum hedging of its earnings from offshore properties over 
a five-year time horizon.
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(f) net foreign currency exposure
the group’s net foreign currency monetary exposure, after taking into account the effect of foreign exchange derivatives, as at 
reporting date is shown in the following table. the net foreign currency exposure reported is of foreign currencies held by entities 
whose functional currency is the australian dollar. it excludes assets and liabilities of entities, including the group’s united states 
subsidiaries and equity accounted investments, whose functional currency is not the australian dollar.

nEt forEign CurrEnCY 
AssEt/(liABilitY)

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

united states dollars  2,310  4,065

new Zealand dollars  8  3

 2,318  4,068

(g) foreign exchange sensitivity analysis
the impact of an increase or decrease in average foreign exchange rates of 10% at reporting date, with all other variables held 
constant, is illustrated in the tables below. this analysis is based on the foreign exchange risk exposures in existence at balance 
sheet date. in these tables, the effect on securityholders interest excludes the effect on profit after tax.

(i) Effect of appreciation in Australian dollar of 10%:
EffECt on Profit AftEr tAX 

HigHEr/(lowEr)

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

Foreign exchange risk exposures denominated in:

 united states dollars  (231)  (407)

(ii) Effect of depreciation in Australian dollar of 10%:
EffECt on Profit AftEr tAX 

HigHEr/(lowEr)

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

Foreign exchange risk exposures denominated in:

 united states dollars  231  407

the group believes that the reporting date risk exposures are representative of the risk exposure inherent in its 
financial instruments.

these tables do not show the effect on equity that would occur from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 
operations because of the assumed 10% change in exchange rates.

(h) foreign exchange derivatives held
Forward exchange contracts, options and foreign exchange swaps outstanding at reporting date are detailed below. these have 
been taken out to mitigate the effect of foreign exchange movements on the financial statements.

at balance sheet date, none of the following foreign exchange derivatives qualifies for hedge accounting and gains and losses 
arising from changes in fair value have been taken to the income statement. the consolidated gain for the year ended was $111,000 
(2011: loss $2,149,000).

the group held a usD put/auD call option at 30 June 2012 for a principal amount of auD$44.1m with a strike price of 1.0000 and 
expiry of 28 november 2012.

the effect of a 10% appreciation in the australian dollar would result in a higher profit after tax of $3.5m and a depreciation of 10% 
would result in a lower profit after tax of $2.3m.

the group did not hold any foreign exchange derivatives at 30 June 2011.
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24. finAnCiAl instruMEnts ContinuEd

(i) Credit risk
credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty defaults on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the group.

the major credit risk for the group is default by tenants, resulting in a loss of rental income while a replacement tenant is secured 
and further loss if the rent level agreed with the replacement tenant is below that previously paid by the defaulting tenant.

the group assesses the credit risk of prospective tenants, the credit risk of in-place tenants when acquiring properties and the 
credit risk of existing tenants renewing upon expiry of their leases. Factors taken into account when assessing credit risk include 
the financial strength of the prospective tenant and any form of security, for example a rental bond, to be provided.

the decision to accept the credit risk associated with leasing space to a particular tenant is balanced against the risk of the 
potential financial loss of not leasing up vacant space.

Rent receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and arrears actively followed up in order to reduce, where possible, 
the extent of any losses should the tenant subsequently default.

the group believes that its receivables that are neither past due nor impaired do not give rise to any significant credit risk.

credit risk also arises from deposits placed with financial institutions and derivatives contracts that may have a positive value 
to the group. the group’s treasury Policy sets target limits for credit risk exposure with financial institutions and minimum 
counterparty credit ratings. counterparty exposure is measured as the aggregate of all obligations of any single legal entity 
or economic entity to the group, after allowing for appropriate set offs which are legally enforceable.

the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date in relation to each class of financial instrument is its carrying 
amount as reported in the balance sheet.

(j) liquidity risk
the main objective of liquidity risk management is to reduce the risk that the group does not have the resources available to meet 
its financial obligations and working capital and committed capital expenditure requirements. the group’s treasury Policy sets a 
target for the level of cash and available undrawn debt facilities to cover future committed capital expenditure in the next year, 
75% of forecast net operating cashflow in the next year, estimated distributions and 5% of the value of resident loan liabilities.

the group may also be exposed to contingent liquidity risk under its term loan facilities, where term loan facilities include 
covenants which if breached give the lender the right to call in the loan, thereby accelerating a cash flow which otherwise was 
scheduled for the loan maturity. the group monitors adherence to loan covenants on a regular basis, and the treasury Policy sets 
targets based on the ability to withstand adverse market movements and remain within loan covenant limits.

in addition, the group targets the following benchmarks to ensure resilience to breaking covenants on its primary debt facilities:

•	 10% reduction in value of assets and 15% fall in the exchange rate for LVR covenants; and

•	 2% nominal increase in interest rates combined with a 5% fall in income for icR covenants.

the contractual maturities of the group’s non-derivative financial liabilities at reporting date are reflected in the following table. 
it shows the undiscounted contractual cash flows required to discharge the liabilities at market rates. Foreign currencies have been 
converted at rates of exchange ruling at reporting date.

although the expected average residency term is around eleven years, retirement village resident loans are classified as current 
liabilities, as required by accounting standards, because the group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement to 
more than twelve months after reporting date.

2012

 less than
 1 year
$’000

 1 to 5
 years
$’000

 More than
 5 years

$’000
 total

$’000

trade & other payables  8,241  –  –  8,241

Retirement village resident loans  162,603  –  –  162,603

Borrowings  98,026  –  26,675  124,701

 268,870  –  26,675  295,545

2011

trade & other payables  19,597  –  –  19,597

Retirement village resident loans  150,761  –  –  150,761

Borrowings  10,607  110,194  31,526  152,327

 180,965  110,194  31,526  322,685

notes to the financial statements
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the contractual maturities of the group’s derivative financial liabilities at reporting date are reflected in the following table. it 
shows the undiscounted contractual cash flows required to discharge the instruments at market rates. Foreign currencies have 
been converted at rates of exchange ruling at reporting date.

2012

 less than
 1 year
$’000

 1 to 5
 years
$’000

 More than
 5 years

$’000
 total

$’000

Liabilities
Derivative liabilities – net settled  970  –  –  970

the contractual maturities of the group’s derivative financial liabilities at 30 June 2011, on the same basis, were:

2011

 Less than
 1 year
$’000

 1 to 5
 years
$’000

 more than
 5 years

$’000
 total

$’000

Liabilities
Derivative liabilities – net settled  261  112  –  373

(k) other financial instrument risk
the group carries retirement village residents’ loans at fair value with resulting fair value adjustments recognised in the income 
statement. the fair value of these loans is dependent on market prices for the related retirement village units. the impact of an 
increase or decrease in these market prices of 10% at reporting date, with all other variables held constant, is shown in the table 
below. this analysis is based on the retirement village resident loans in existence at reporting date.

EffECt on Profit AftEr tAX 
HigHEr/(lowEr)

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

increase in market prices of investment properties of 10%  (16,000)  (14,700)

Decrease in market prices of investment properties of 10%  16,000  14,700

these effects are largely offset by corresponding changes in the fair value of the group’s investment properties.

the effect on equity would be the same as the effect on profit.

(l) fair value
the group uses the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

Level 1: fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active markets;

Level 2:  fair value is calculated using inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and

Level 3: fair value is calculated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

Quoted market price represents the fair value determined based on quoted prices on active markets as at the reporting date 
without any deduction for transaction costs. the fair value of the listed equity investments are based on quoted market prices.

the fair value of derivatives was calculated as the net present value of future payment obligations discounted at market rates 
adjusted for the group’s credit risk. the fair value of retirement village resident loans was measured as the ingoing resident’s 
contribution plus the resident’s share of capital appreciation to reporting date, less deferred management fee accrued to 
reporting date. these valuation techniques use both observable and unobservable market inputs.

Financial instruments that use valuation techniques with only observable market inputs or unobservable inputs that are not 
significant to the overall valuation include derivatives.

the fair value of retirement village resident loans is based on valuation techniques using market data that is not observable. 
Refer note 2 for assumptions used in valuing the loans.
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24. finAnCiAl instruMEnts ContinuEd
the following tables present the group’s financial instruments that were measured and recognised at fair value at reporting date.

2012
 level 1
$’000

 level 2
$’000

 level 3
$’000

 total
$’000

Financial assets
Derivatives  –  1,659  –  1,659

Financial liabilities
Retirement village resident loans  –  –  162,603  162,603

Derivatives  –  970  –  970

 –  970  162,603  163,573

the following tables present the group’s financial instruments that were measured and recognised at fair value at 30 June 2011.

2011
 Level 1
$’000

 Level 2
$’000

 Level 3
$’000

 total
$’000

Financial liabilities
Retirement village resident loans  –  –  150,761  150,761

Derivatives  –  482  –  482

 –  482  150,761  151,243

the following table presents the changes in the group’s level 3 instruments for both the current and previous financial year.

2012
 retirement village

residents’ loans
liabilities

$’000

2011
Retirement village

residents’ loans
Liabilities

$’000

opening balance  150,761  140,945

net (gain)/loss on change in fair value of resident loans  284  (182)

accrued deferred management fee income, net of cash collected  (3,654)  (3,074)

Proceeds from resident loans  20,885  15,178

Repayment of resident loans  (5,977)  (2,106)

other  304  –

closing balance  162,603  150,761

the current market value of the independent living units is an input to the valuation of retirement village resident loans. changing 
the value used for this input by an increase of 10% would increase the fair value of these loans by $16,000,000 (2011: $14,700,000).

the change has been calculated in accordance with the formula set out in the contracts with the residents and incorporates the 
market value of the property and the expected tenure of each resident.

the carrying amounts of the group’s other financial instruments approximate their fair values.

 2012  2011

25. Auditor’s rEMunErAtion
amounts received or receivable by ernst & Young for:

 audit or review of the financial reports  406,603  332,220

 other audit related services  33,020  6,338

 439,623  338,558

notes to the financial statements
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26. rElAtEd PArtiEs
(a) responsible entity
the responsible entity for both trusts from 4 June 2012 is ingenia communities Re Limited (“icRe”). icRe is an australian 
domiciled company and is a wholly owned subsidiary of ingenia communities Holdings Limited.

until 4 June 2012, the responsible entity for both trusts was ing management Limited (“imL”), a member of the ing group 
of companies for which the ultimate holding company is ing groep nV, a company incorporated in the netherlands.

(b) fees of the responsible entity and its related parties

 2012
$

 2011
$

ing management Limited:

 asset management fees  2,006,044  1,836,014

 Fees waived  (2,499,536)  –

 (493,492)  1,836,014

Fees paid to icRe have been eliminated on consolidation.

the responsible entity is entitled to a fee of 0.5% of total assets. in addition, it is entitled to recover certain expenses.

as part of the internalisation of the trusts that occurred on 4 June 2012, imL waived its right to receive $2,500,000 in fees that 
accrued to 30 June 2011.

the amount accrued and recognised but unpaid at reporting date was:

 2012
$

 2011
$

current trade payables  –  10,513,449

these are included in current trade payables in the balance sheet.

(c) other transactions with the responsible entity and its related parties
Details of the financial support provided by ing groep nV for internalisation are given in note 4.

(d) key management personnel
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director of the responsible entity.

the names of the directors of icRe, and their dates of appointment or resignation if they were not directors for all of the 
financial year, are:

Jim Hazel (chairman) appointed 27 march 2012
Philip clark am appointed 4 June 2012
amanda Heyworth appointed 16 april 2012
simon owen (managing Director) appointed 25 november 2011
greg inkson appointed 24 november 2011; resigned 24 april 2012
Peter Day appointed 24 november 2011; resigned 24 april 2012

the names of the directors of imL, and their dates of appointment or resignation if they were not directors for all of the period 
from 1 July 2011 to 4 June 2012, are:

michael coleman (chairman) appointed 1 July 2011
Hein Brand
Philip clark am Resigned 4 June 2012
michael easson am
scott macDonald Resigned 13 July 2011
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26. rElAtEd PArtiEs ContinuEd
the names of other key management personnel, and their dates of appointment or resignation if they did not occupy their 
position for all of the financial year, are:

simon owen managing Director
nicole Fisher chief operating officer
tania Betts chief Financial officer; appointed 14 may 2012
Denis Hickey imL chief executive officer; resigned 31 august 2011
Danny agnoletto imL chief Financial officer; resigned 31 august 2011
greg inkson imL chief executive officer; appointed 1 september 2011
Peter Day imL chief Financial officer; appointed 1 september 2011
sarah wiesener imL group general counsel; appointed 1 september 2011

Remuneration of key management personnel was:

note
 2012

$
 2011

$

Directors fees  70,416 –

salaries and other short-term benefits  70,070  –

short-term incentives  –  –

superannuation benefits  6,306  –

Long service leave  –  –

Long term incentives 22  14,736  –

 161,528  –

the amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognised as an expense during the reporting period related to key 
management personnel. they only include remuneration received directly from the group. Prior to internalisation some key 
management personnel also received remuneration from imL or its related parties in their capacity as directors or employees of 
the responsible entity or its related parties.

securities of the group held directly, indirectly or beneficially by each key management person, including their 
related parties, were:

 2012  2011

Jim Hazel

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  – –

 acquisitions  500,000  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  500,000  –

Philip clark

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  90,151  90,151

 acquisitions  –  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  90,151  90,151

amanda Heyworth

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  – –

 acquisitions  200,000  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  200,000  –

simon owen

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  367,600  367,600

 acquisitions  1,073,150  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  1,440,750  367,600

there were no distributions received or receivable from the group by any key management person in either financial year.

notes to the financial statements
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Performance quantum rights held by each key management person were:

 2012  2011

simon owen

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  –  –

 granted  2,260,000  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  2,260,000  –

nicole Fisher

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  –  –

 granted  791,000  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  791,000  –

tania Betts

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  –  –

 granted  791,000  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  791,000  –

Retention quantum rights held by each key management person were:

 2012  2011

simon owen

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  –  –

 granted  1,070,000  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  1,070,000  –

nicole Fisher

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  –  –

 granted  374,000  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  374,000  –

tania Betts

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  –  –

 granted  374,000  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  374,000  –
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27. CoMPAnY finAnCiAl inforMAtion
summary financial information about the company is:

 2012
$’000

current assets  50

total assets  6,635

current liabilities  30

total liabilities  30

shareholders' equity:

 issued securities  6,000

 Reserves  15

 Retained earnings  590

 total shareholders' equity  6,605

Profit from continuing operations  590

Profit from discontinued operations  –

net profit attributable to shareholders  590

total comprehensive income  605

as this is the company’s first financial report, there is no comparative data. the company’s results are for the period from 
incorporation on 24 november 2011 to 30 June 2012.

the company is a joint guarantor of the commonwealth Bank of australia debt facility, which has an outstanding balance of 
$81,739,000 at 30 June 2012.

28. suBsidiAriEs
(a) names of subsidiaries
the consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance with 
the accounting policy described in note 1(d):

ownErsHiP intErEst

name country of residence
2012

%
 2011

%

Bridge street trust australia  100  100

Browns Plains Road trust australia  100  100

casuarina Road trust australia  100  100

edinburgh Drive trust australia  100  100

garden Villages management trust australia  100  100

ina cc Holdings Pty Ltd australia  100  –

ina cc Pty Ltd australia  100  –

ina community Living Lynbrook trust australia  100  100

ina community Living oak tree subsidiary trust no.1 australia  100  100

ina community Living oak tree subsidiary trust no.2 australia  100  100

ina community Living subsidiary trust no. 1 australia  100  100

ina community Living subsidiary trust no. 2 australia  100  100

ina garden Villages Pty Ltd australia  100  –

notes to the financial statements
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ownErsHiP intErEst

name country of residence
2012

%
 2011

%

ina Kiwi communities Pty Ltd australia  100  –

ina Kiwi communities subsidiary trust no. 1 australia  100  100

ina management Pty Ltd australia  100  –

ina Real estate cc trust no. 1 australia  100  –

ina Regency co Pty Ltd australia  100  –

ina settlers co Pty Ltd australia  100  –

ina sunny communities Pty Ltd australia  100  –

ina sunny trust australia  100  100

ingenia communities Re Limited australia  100  –

Jefferis street trust australia  100  100

Lovett street trust australia  100  100

Regency operations trust australia  100  100

Regency subsidiary trust australia  100  100

settlers operations trust australia  100  100

settlers subsidiary trust australia  100  100

sunnycove gladstone unit trust australia  100  100

sunnycove Rockhampton unit trust australia  100  100

taylor street (1) trust australia  100  100

taylor street (2) trust australia  100  100

igc nZ student Holdings Ltd new Zealand  100  –

ina nZ subsidiary trust no 1(1) new Zealand  100  –

csH Lynbrook gP LLc united states of america  100  100

csH Lynbrook LP united states of america  100  100

Lynbrook Freer street member LLc united states of america  100  100

Lynbrook management, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing community Living Fund inc united states of america  100  100

ing community Living ii LLc united states of america  100  100

ing community Living LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 1, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 2, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 3, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 4, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 5, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 6, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 7, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 8, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 9, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 10, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 11, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 12, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 13, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 14, LLc united states of america  100  100

(1) on 4 June 2012, icmt acquired a 10% economic interest and all of the voting rights in respect of this trust, and consequently consolidates it from 
that date. icF has a 90% economic interest. 

the group’s voting interest in its other subsidiaries is the same as its ownership interest.
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28. suBsidiAriEs ContinuEd
(b) Acquisition of subsidiary
as noted above, icmt acquired a 10% economic interest and all of the voting rights in respect of ina nZ subsidiary trust no 1 
(“nZs”) for no consideration, as part of the internalisation of management of the group. at the date of acquisition, nZs owned the 
group’s new Zealand students portfolio.

the fair value of the assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition, and their carrying amounts in the financial statements of nZs 
immediately prior to the acquisition were:

 Fair
 values
$’000

 carrying
 amounts

$’000

cash  2,268  2,268

Receivables  904  904

Property investments  19,843  19,843

Payables  (1,202)  (1,202)

Borrowings  (16,153)  (16,153)

net assets  5,660  5,660

the purchase consideration compares to net assets acquired as follows:

$’000

carrying amount of former equity accounted investment  3,874

net assets  5,660

gross gain on acquisition  1,786

Less foreign currency translation reserve associated with former equity

accounted investment  (488)

gain on acquisition  1,298

the net inflow of cash resulting from the acquisition was:

$’000

Purchase consideration:

 cash paid  –

 cash included in net assets  2,268

inflow of cash  2,268

the net assets referred to in the above table represent 100% of the nZs entity assets. Prior to icmt acquiring the remaining 
10% economic interest, icF held its 90% economic interest as an equity accounted investment. on 30 June 2011 this equity 
accounted investment was reclassified as a discontinued operation. the purchase price above represents the carrying amount of 
the equity accounted investment adjusted for a reversal of the associated foreign currency translation reserve which effectively has 
been exchanged from the groups perspective for a 100% consolidated investment. no cash was exchanged for the remaining 10%.

the acquisition of nZs contributed a $1,595,000 gain to the net profit attributable to securityholders for the financial year.

if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the 2012 financial year, the group’s revenue would have been $30,373,000 
and net profit attributable to securityholders would have been $34,950,000.

notes to the financial statements
YeaR enDeD 30 June 2012 | continued
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29. sEgMEnt inforMAtion
(a) description of segments
the group invests in seniors accommodation properties located in australia. the rental villages in australia comprise the 
garden Villages segment; the rental villages that are moving to a deferred management fee structure comprise the DmF 
conversion segment; and the deferred management fee properties comprise the settlers segment. the group has identified its 
operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the chief operating decision maker in assessing 
performance and in determining the allocation of resources. other parts of the group are neither an operating segment nor part 
of an operating segment. assets that do not belong to an operating segment are described below as “unallocated”.

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

(b) segment revenue
Revenues from external customers:

 garden Villages  19,023  21,643 

 DmF conversion  1,325  – 

 settlers  4,996  4,804 

 total segment revenue  25,344  26,447 

interest income  861  468 

total revenue  26,205  26,915 

(c) segment result
garden Villages  7,000  7,214

DmF conversion  3,927  –

settlers  1,603  2,822

 total segment result  12,530  10,036

interest income  861  468

net foreign exchange loss  (249)  (448)

net gain/(loss) on disposal of investment properties  (35)  2,256

net gain/(loss) on change in fair value of:

 investment properties  2,399  (2,189)

 Derivatives  111  (2,149)

 Retirement village resident loans  (284)  182

gain on internalisation  2,758  –

Finance costs  (8,538)  (9,398)

Responsible entity fees  (2,006)  (1,836)

other expenses  (814)  (1,157)

gain on revaluation of newly constructed retirement villages  (5,124)  (2,743)

income tax benefit  38  1,375

other  16  –

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations  1,448  (5,603)

(d) segment assets
garden Villages  128,610  124,270

DmF conversion  3,234  –

settlers  224,639  205,015

total segment assets  356,483  329,285

Discontinued operations  95,325  79,681

unallocated  6,653  11,691

 458,461  420,657
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 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

29. sEgMEnt inforMAtion ContinuEd
(e) other information
net gain on change in fair value of investment property:

 garden Villages  1,136  (50)

 DmF conversion  (2,706)  –

 settlers  (829)  (2,139)

 (2,399)  (2,189)

additions to investment properties and equity accounted investments:

 garden Villages  1,501  1,669

 settlers  372  5,671

1,873 7,340

30. notEs to tHE CAsH flow stAtEMEnt
(a) reconciliation of profit to net cash flow from operating activities
net profit for the year  33,627  13,051

adjustments for:

 unrealised foreign exchange loss  225  653

 net (gain)/loss on disposal of investment properties  35  (2,256)

 Loss on disposal of equity accounted investments  3,969  –

 net (gain)/loss on change in fair value of:

  investment properties – continuing  (2,399)  (612)

  investment properties – discontinued  (246)  (1,673)

  Derivatives  (111)  2,149

  Borrowings – discontinued  (6,922)  –

  Retirement village resident loans  284  (182)

 excess of distributions received from equity

 accounted investments over share of profits

  continuing  –  (11,342)

  Discontinued  (26,089)  4,105

 Deferred income tax expense

  continuing  34  (1,389)

  Discontinued  70  –

 gain on internalisation  (2,758)  –

 amortisation of intangibles  215  –

 share based payments expense  15  –

 other non-cash items  706  –

operating profit for the year before changes in working capital  655  2,504

changes in working capital:

 increase in receivables  (735)  (1,956)

 increase in retirement village resident loans  11,557  8,675

 Decrease in other payables  (6,324)  (590)

net cash provided by operating activities  5,153  8,633

(b) non‑cash financing and investing activities
as described in note 4, a capital distribution by the Fund was applied towards the issue of shares in the company to unitholders of 
the trusts (other than foreign resident unitholders).

notes to the financial statements
YeaR enDeD 30 June 2012 | continued
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31. suBsEQuEnt EVEnts
on 13 July 2012, ingenia communities acquired Ridge estate Village, a partially developed deferred management fee retirement 
village, in gillieston Heights, nsw. the purchase price was $2,025,000 and was funded from cash reserves.

on 28 august 2012, the group refinanced its variable rate australian dollar denominated bank debt facility, which was due to 
expire in march 2013. the new facility is a market competitive variable rate revolving debt facility of $82.0m with commonwealth 
Bank of australia expiring 30 september 2015.

on 13 august 2012, the expiry date of the Bank of new Zealand debt facility, which funds the nZ students portfolio, was extended 
by six months to 31 march 2013. all other terms and conditions remain unchanged.
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 in accordance with a resolution of the directors of ingenia communities Holdings Limited, i state that:

1. in the opinion of the directors:

(a) the financial statements and notes of ingenia communities Holdings Limited for the financial year ended 30 June 2012  
are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of its financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of its performance for the year ended 

on that date; and
(ii) complying with accounting standards (including australian accounting interpretations) and Corporations 

Regulations 2001; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that ingenia communities Holdings Limited will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable.

2. the financial statements and notes also comply with international Financial Reporting standards as disclosed in note 1(b).

3. this declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in accordance with 
section 295a of the Corporations Act 2001.

on behalf of the Board

Jim Hazel 
chairman 
sydney  
29 august 2012

directors’ declaration
 YeaR enDeD 30 June 2012
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  Liability limited by a scheme approved 
under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

 

Independent auditor's report to the members of Ingenia Communities 
Holdings Limited 

Report on the financial report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Ingenia Communities Holdings Limited, which 
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2012, the consolidated income 
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors' declaration of the consolidated 
entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year's end or from time to time during 
the financial year. 

Directors' responsibility for the financial report  

The directors of Ingenia Communities Holdings Limited are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal controls as the directors determine are necessary to enable 
the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. In Note 1(b), the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 

Auditor's responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity's preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's 
internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
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Independence 

In conducting our audit we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001.  We have given to the directors of the company a written Auditor’s Independence Declaration, a 
copy of which is included in the directors’ report.   

Opinion 
In our opinion: 

a. the financial report of Ingenia Communities Holdings Limited is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 

i giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June 2012 
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

ii complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 
and 

b. the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 
Note 1(b). 

Report on the remuneration report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 20 to 31 of the directors' report for the year 
ended 30 June 2012. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation 
of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Ingenia Communities Holdings Limited for the year ended 
30 June 2012, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 
 

 
Ernst & Young 
 

 
 
Chris Lawton 
Partner 
Sydney 
29 August 2012 
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the ingenia communities Fund (aRsn 107 459 576) and the ingenia communities management trust (aRsn 122 928 410) are 
australian registered schemes. ingenia communities Re Limited (acn 154 464 990; australian Financial services Licence number 
415862), the responsible entity of both trusts, is incorporated and domiciled in australia.
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the ingenia communities Fund (formerly the ing Real estate community Living Fund) (icF or the “Fund”) and the ingenia 
communities management trust (formerly the ing Real estate community Living management trust) (“icmt”) (collectively the 
“trusts”) were constituted on 22 november 2003 and 24 november 2006, respectively.

Previously, the trusts operated as a stapled entity known as ing Real estate community Living group. in accordance with 
accounting standard aasB 3 Business Combinations, the stapling of both trusts, which terminated on 4 June 2012, was regarded 
as a business combination and the Fund was identified as the parent for preparing consolidated financial reports. the responsible 
entity for both trusts until 4 June 2012 was ing management Limited. ing management Limited is an australian domiciled 
company and is a wholly owned company within the ing groep nV group of companies.

From 4 June 2012 ingenia communities Re Limited (“icRe”), a wholly owned subsidiary of ingenia Holdings Limited (the “company”) 
became the responsible entity for the trusts. on that date, management of the trusts was internalised and the stapled entity known 
as ingenia communities group (consisting of the company and the trusts) (the “group”) was formed (“internalisation”).

the directors’ report is a combined directors’ report that covers both trusts.

Directors
the directors of the ingenia communities Re Limited at any time during or since the end of the financial year were:

Jim Hazel (chairman) appointed 27 march 2012

Philip clark am appointed 4 June 2012

amanda Heyworth appointed 16 april 2012

simon owen (managing Director)  appointed 25 november 2011

greg inkson  appointed 25 november 2011; resigned 24 april 2012

Peter Day  appointed 25 november 2011; resigned 24 april 2012

Principal activity
the principal activity of the Fund is investment in seniors living communities. the principal activities of icmt are the development, 
management and operation of seniors living communities. there was no significant change in the nature of either trust’s activities 
during the financial year.

operating and financial review
a summary of the trusts’ results for the financial year is:

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs  
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

net profit for the year ($'000)  29,124  13,051  8,736  9,854 

Distributions per unit (cents)  –  –  –  – 

Basic and diluted earnings from continuing operations per unit (cents)  (0.6)  (1.3)  0.4  1.5 

Basic and diluted earnings per unit (cents)  6.6  3.0  2.0  2.2 

significant changes in the state of affairs
on 4 June 2012, management of the trusts was internalised and the stapled entity known as ingenia communities group 
(consisting of icH and both trusts) was formed (“internalisation”), after the internalisation was approved by unitholders at 
meetings held on 31 may 2012. the internalisation involved:

•	 a capital distribution by the Fund which was applied towards the issue of shares in icH to unitholders of the trusts (other than 
foreign resident unitholders);

•	 the change of the responsible entity of both trusts from ing management Limited to icRe; and

•	 the stapling of each share in icH to each unit in each trust to form the new stapled securities of ingenia communities group.

Previously, the trusts operated as a stapled entity known as ing Real estate community Living group.

events subsequent to reporting date
on 13 July 2012, ingenia communities acquired Ridge estate Village, a partially developed deferred management fee retirement 
village, in gillieston Heights, nsw. the purchase price was $2,025,000 and was funded from cash reserves.

directors’ report
 YeaR enDeD 30 June 2012
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on 28 august 2012, icF refinanced its variable rate australian dollar denominated bank debt facility, which was due to expire in 
march 2013. the new facility is a market competitive variable rate revolving debt facility of $82.0m with commonwealth Bank of 
australia expiring 30 september 2015.

on 13 august 2012, the expiry date of the Bank of new Zealand debt facility, which funds the nZ students portfolio, was extended 
by six months to February 2013. all other terms remained unchanged.

Likely developments
management are continuing to explore options to unlock value within the new Zealand student portfolio, whilst the settlement of 
the united states seniors sale remains on schedule for settlement in late 2012.

overall, the trusts will continue to pursue strategies aimed at growing its australian seniors living communities business through 
acquisitions and development whilst maintaining discipline around capital management and allocation to drive security holder 
returns via improved profitability, earnings per share and share price.

environmental regulation
the trusts’ operations are not subject to any particular and significant environmental regulation under a law of the commonwealth 
or of a state or territory.

indemnities
the trusts have not indemnified, nor paid any insurance premiums for, a person who is or has been an officer of the responsible 
entity or an auditor of either trust.

interests of directors of the responsible entity
units in each trust held by directors of the responsible entity as at 30 June 2012 were:

number
of units

Performance
quantum

rights

Retention
quantum

rights

Jim Hazel 500,000 – –

Philip clark am 90,151 – –

amanda Heyworth 200,000 – –

simon owen 1,440,750 2,260,000 1,070,000

other information
Fees paid to the responsible entity and its associates, and the number of units in each trust held by the responsible entity and its 
associates as at the end of the financial year; are set out in note 24 in the financial report.

auditor’s independence declaration
a copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307c of the Corporations Act 2001 is set 
out on page 74.

Rounding of amounts
the trusts are of a kind referred to in class order 98/100, issued by the australian securities and investments commission, relating 
to the ‘’rounding off’’ of amounts in this report and in the financial report. amounts in these reports have been rounded off in 
accordance with that class order to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors of the Responsible entity.

Jim Hazel 
chairman

sydney 
29 august 2012
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  Liability limited by a scheme approved 
under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

 
 
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Ingenia 
Communities RE Limited as Responsible Entity for the Ingenia 
Communities Fund and the Ingenia Communities Management Trust 
 
In relation to our audit of the financial report of Ingenia Communities Fund and its controlled entities and 
Ingenia Communities Management Trust and its controlled entities for the financial year ended 30 June 
2012, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of professional conduct. 
 
 
 

 
 
Ernst & Young 
 

 
 
Chris Lawton 
Partner 
29 August 2012 
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Consolidated income statements
 YeaR enDeD 30 June 2012

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

Revenue
Rental income  17,015  19,283  17,901  19,283

Deferred management fee  4,045  4,256  4,453  4,256

other property income  2,748  2,908  2,980  2,908

interest income  1,244  468  85  79

 25,052  26,915  25,419  26,526

other income
other income  234  –  8  –

net foreign exchange gain/(loss)  (225)  (448)  (123)  81

net gain/(loss) on equity accounted investments  (73)  –  –  –

net gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiary  (2,934)  –  2,934  –

net gain/(loss) on disposal of investment properties  (35)  2,256  –  –

net gain/(loss) on change in fair value of:

 investment properties  2,636  (2,189)  4,948  11,327

 Derivatives  111  (2,149)  –  –

 Retirement village resident loans  (322)  182  (284)  182

gain on internalisation 4  439  –  786  –

expenses
Property expenses  (15,876)  (19,154)  (25,948)  (30,150)

Finance costs 5  (8,521)  (9,398)  (4,897)  (2,047)

Responsible entity fees 24  (1,888)  (1,836)  (572)  (379)

other  (1,439)  (1,157)  (428)  (161)

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations 
before income tax  (2,841)  (6,978)  1,843  5,379

income tax benefit 6  158  1,375  38  1,389

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations  (2,683)  (5,603)  1,881  6,768

Profit from discontinued operations 7  31,807  18,654  6,855  3,086

net profit for the year  29,124  13,051  8,736  9,854

attributable to unit holders of:

 ingenia communities Fund  23,571  3,197  –  –

 ingenia communities management trust  5,553  9,854  8,736  9,854

 29,124  13,051  8,736  9,854

 2012
Cents

 2011
cents

 2012
Cents

 2011
cents

Distributions per unit  –  –  –  –

Basic and diluted earnings per unit from 
continuing operations 3  (0.6)  (1.3)  0.4  1.5

Basic and diluted earnings per unit 3  6.6  3.0  2.0  2.2
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Consolidated statements 
of Comprehensive income
 YeaR enDeD 30 June 2012

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

net profit for the year  29,124  13,051  8,736  9,854

other comprehensive income:

exchange differences on translation 
of foreign operations 17  2,663  (8,759)  (54)  1,837

total comprehensive income for the year  31,787  4,292  8,682  11,691

total comprehensive income for the year is 
attributable to:

 ingenia communities Fund  26,234  (17,253)  –  –

 ingenia communities management trust  5,553  11,691  8,682  11,691

 31,787  4,292  8,682  11,691

the components of other comprehensive income shown above are presented net of related income tax effects.
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Consolidated Balance sheets
 as at 30 June 2012

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

current assets
cash and cash equivalents 8  20,677  14,855  2,878  3,105

trade and other receivables 9  3,271  4,252  2,326  3,709

Receivable from related party  16,854  –  –  –

Derivatives 10  1,659  –  –  –

assets of discontinued operations 7  43,414  10,047  55,785  –

 85,875  29,154  60,989  6,814

non-current assets
trade and other receivables 9  34,607  1,297  2,187  4,810

investment properties 11  100,967  344,490  226,665  241,845

Plant and equipment  342  309  427  309

equity accounted investments 12  –  45,407  –  913

 135,916  391,503  229,279  247,877

total assets  221,791  420,657  290,268  254,691

current liabilities
trade and other payables 13  1,513  19,597  6,810  8,808

Retirement village resident loans 1(r)  –  150,761  162,602  150,761

Borrowings 14  81,739  266  3,003  27,521

Derivatives 10  970  213  –  –

Payable to related party  –  –  16,899  –

Liabilities of discontinued operations 7  515  5,675  45,184  –

 84,737  176,512  234,498  187,090

non-current liabilities
Payables 13  1,851  –  –  –

Borrowings 14  –  121,515  34,607  60,088

Derivatives 10  –  269  –  –

Deferred tax liabilities 15  –  8,047  7,921  8,047

 1,851  129,831  42,528  68,135

total liabilities  86,588  306,343  277,026  255,225

net assets  135,203  114,314  13,242  (534)

equity
issued units 16  480,693  490,044  3,351  3,351

Reserves 17  (16,896)  (20,240)  (614)  (560)

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) 18  (328,594)  (355,490)  5,411  (3,325)

unitholders' interest  135,203  114,314  8,148  (534)

non-controlling interest  –  –  5,094  –

total equity  135,203  114,314  13,242  (534)

attributable to unit holders of:
ingenia communities Fund

 issued units 16  480,693  486,693  –  –

 Reserves 17  (16,896)  (19,680)  –  –

 accumulated losses 18  (328,594)  (352,165)  –  –

 135,203  114,848  –  –

ingenia communities management trust  –  (534)  8,148  (534)

non-controlling interest  –  –  5,094  –

 135,203  114,314  13,242  (534)



78

INGENIACOMMUNITIES | ANNUALREPORT 2012

Consolidated Cash flow 
statements
 YeaR enDeD 30 June 2012

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

cash flows from operating activities 28

Rental and other property income  28,053  30,270  25,372  30,121

Payment of management fees (including arrears)  (8,670)  (1,075)  (439)  (134)

Property and other expenses  (12,186)  (26,678)  (35,143)  (29,833)

Proceeds from residents' loans  –  11,622  20,885  11,622

Repayment of residents' loans  –  (2,951)  (5,977)  (2,951)

Distributions received from equity accounted

investments  3,118  3,801  58  17

interest received  1,243  471  87  80

Borrowing costs paid  (8,270)  (6,912)  (2,134)  (1,834)

income taxes received/(paid)  235  –  (40)  –

goods and services taxes

recovered from investing and financing activities  7  85  –  –

 3,530  8,633  2,669  7,088

cash flows from investing activities
additions to investment properties  (814)  (7,759)  (1,549)  (6,915)

Proceeds from sale of investment properties  –  12,738  –  –

costs from sale of investment properties  (35)  –  –  –

net inflow on acquisition of subsidiary 26  –  –  2,268  –

Purchase of equity accounted investments  (702)  –  (702)  –

Proceeds of equity accounted investments  29,940  –  473  –

Return of capital from equity accounted investments  –  766  –  –

 28,389  5,745  491  (6,915)

cash flows from financing activities
internalisation costs  (1,228)  –  –  –

Distributions to unitholders 16  (6,000)  –  –  –

termination of derivatives  (1,060)  (16,020)  –  –

Proceeds from borrowings  3,246  19,870  134  –

Repayment of borrowings  (17,668)  (22,806)  (284)  (267)

 (22,710)  (18,956)  (150)  (267)

net increase/(decrease) in cash  9,209  (4,578)  3,011  (94)

cash at the beginning of the year  15,041  20,246  3,105  3,230

outflow of cash on deconsolidation of iLmt  (3,105)  –  –  –

effects of exchange rate changes on cash  (368)  (627)  (87)  (31)

cash at the end of the year  20,777  15,041  6,029  3,105
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statements of Changes 
in unitholders’ interest
 YeaR enDeD 30 June 2012

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs fund

 AttriButABlE to unitHoldErs
 non-

controlling
interest

 total
equity

 issued
capital Reserves

Retained
earnings total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Carrying amounts at 1 July 2010 490,044  (11,481)  (368,541)  110,022  –  110,022

net profit for the year  –  –  3,197  3,197  9,854  13,051

other comprehensive income  –  (8,759)  –  (8,759)  –  (8,759)

total comprehensive income for the year  –  (8,759)  3,197  (5,562)  9,854  4,292

Carrying amounts at 30 June 2011  490,044  (20,240)  (365,344)  104,460  9,854  114,314

net profit for the year  –  –  23,571  23,571  5,553  29,124

other comprehensive income  –  2,663  –  2,663  –  2,663

total comprehensive income for the year  –  2,663  23,571  26,234  5,553  31,787

transactions with unitholders in their 
capacity as unitholders:

 Deconsolidation of icmt  (3,351)  681  3,325  655  (5,553)  (4,898)

 capital distribution 16  (6,000)  –  –  (6,000)  –  (6,000)

Carrying amounts at 30 June 2012  480,693  (16,896)  (338,448)  125,349  9,854  135,203

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs MAnAgEMEnt trust

 AttriButABlE to unitHoldErs
 non-

controlling
interest

 total
equity

 issued
capital Reserves

Retained
earnings total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Carrying amounts at 1 July 2010  3,351  (2,397)  (13,179)  (12,225)  –  (12,225)

net profit for the year  –  –  9,854  9,854  –  9,854

other comprehensive income  –  1,837  –  1,837  –  1,837

total comprehensive income for the year  –  1,837  9,854  11,691  –  11,691

Carrying amounts at 30 June 2011  3,351  (560)  (3,325)  (534)  –  (534)

net profit for the year  –  –  8,736  8,736  –  8,736

other comprehensive income  –  (54)  –  (54)  –  (54)

total comprehensive income for the year  –  (54)  8,736  8,682  –  8,682

Carrying amounts at 30 June 2012  3,351  (614)  5,411  8,148  5,094  13,242



80

INGENIACOMMUNITIES | ANNUALREPORT 2012

1.  suMMArY of signifiCAnt ACCounting 
PoliCiEs

(a) the trusts
the ingenia communities Fund (formerly the ing Real estate 
community Living Fund) (icF or the “Fund”) and the ingenia 
communities management trust (formerly the ing Real estate 
community Living management trust) (“icmt”) (collectively 
the “trusts”) were constituted on 22 november 2003 and 
24 november 2006, respectively.

the responsible entity for the trusts from 4 June 2012 is ingenia 
communities Re Limited (“icRe”), a wholly owned subsidiary 
of ingenia communities Holdings Limited (“icH”). From that 
date, icH and the trusts form the stapled entity known as 
ingenia communities group (the “group”).

the constitutions of icH and the trusts require that, for as long 
as they remain jointly quoted on the australian stock exchange, 
the number of shares in icH and of units in each trust shall 
remain equal and that shareholders in icH and unitholders 
in each trust shall be identical.

the stapling structure will cease to operate on the 
first to occur of:

(a) icH or either of the trusts resolving by special resolution 
in accordance with its constitution to terminate the 
stapling provisions; or

(b) the commencement of the winding up of icH or 
either of the trusts.

Previously, the trusts operated as a stapled entity known as 
ing Real estate community Living group. the responsible 
entity for both trusts until 4 June 2012 was ing management 
Limited. ing management Limited is an australian domiciled 
company and is a wholly owned company within the ing groep 
nV group of companies.

(b) Basis of preparation
the financial report is a general purpose financial report that 
has been prepared in accordance with australian accounting 
standards (“aasB”), australian interpretations, other 
authoritative pronouncements of the australian accounting 
standards Board (the “Board”) and the Corporations Act 2001.

in accordance with accounting standard aasB 3 Business 
combinations, the stapling of both trusts, which terminated on 
4 June 2012, was regarded as a business combination and the 
Fund was identified as the parent for preparing consolidated 
financial reports.

as permitted by class order 05/642, issued by the australian 
securities and investments commission, this financial report 
is a combined financial report that presents the financial 
statements and accompanying notes of both the ingenia 
communities Fund and ingenia communities management 
trust. the financial statements and accompanying notes of 
the trust have been presented in the attached associated 
financial report.

the financial report complies with australian accounting 
standards as issued by the australian accounting standards 
Board and international Financial Reporting standards (iFRs) 
as issued by the international accounting standards Board.

the financial report is presented in australian dollars and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000) 
unless otherwise stated.

the financial report is prepared on an historical cost basis, 
except for investment properties, retirement village resident 
loans and derivative financial instruments, which are 
measured at fair value.

(c)  adoption of new and revised accounting standards
in the current year, the trusts adopted all the new and 
revised standards and interpretations issued by the australian 
accounting standards Board that are relevant to its operations 
and effective for the current annual reporting period. there was 
no material effect on the financial statements.

(d) Principles of consolidation
the Fund’s consolidated financial statements comprise the 
parent and its subsidiaries (including icmt and its subsidiaries 
until 4 June 2012). icmt’s consolidated financial statements 
comprise icmt and its subsidiaries. subsidiaries are all those 
entities (including special purpose entities) whose financial 
and operating policies a trust has the power to govern, so as 
to obtain benefits from their activities.

the financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for 
the same reporting period as the parent, using consistent 
accounting policies. adjustments are made to bring into line 
dissimilar accounting policies. inter-company balances and 
transactions including unrealised profits have been eliminated.

subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the 
parent obtains control. they are de-consolidated from the 
date that control ceases. as the Fund lost control of icmt 
on internalisation on 4 June 2012, it de-consolidated icmt 
from that date.

investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost in the parent’s 
financial statements.

(e) Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition 
method. the cost of an acquisition is measured as the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at 
acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business 
combination, the trusts elect whether it measures the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in 
other expenses.

when the trusts acquire a business, it assesses the financial 
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification 
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, 
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the 
acquisition date.

if the business combination is achieved in stages, the 
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the 
acquisition date through profit or loss.

goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount 
recognised for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable 
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assets acquired and liabilities assumed. if this consideration 
is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary 
acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

(f) Discontinued operations and assets held for sale
the trusts have classified certain components as discontinued 
operations. a discontinued operation is a component of the 
entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held for 
sale and that represents a separate major line of business 
or geographical area of operations, or is part of a single co-
ordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or area 
of operations. the results of discontinued operations are 
presented separately on the face of the income statement.

components of the entity are classified as held for sale if 
their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a 
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. they are 
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell, except for assets such as investment property, 
which are carried at fair value.

an impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent 
write-down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less 
costs to sell. a gain is recognised for any subsequent increases 
in fair value less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group), 
but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously 
recognised. a gain or loss not previously recognised by the 
date of the sale of the non-current asset (or disposal group) 
is recognised at the date of derecognition.

non-current assets classified as held for sale, and the assets 
of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented 
separately from the other assets on the face of the balance 
sheet. the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for 
sale are presented separately from other liabilities on the face 
of the balance sheet.

Details of discontinued operations and disposal groups are 
given at note 7.

(g) Distributions
a liability for any distribution declared on or before the end of 
the reporting period is recognised on the balance sheet in the 
reporting period to which the distribution pertains.

(h) Foreign currency

(i) Functional and presentation currencies
the functional currency and presentation currency of the trusts 
and their subsidiaries, other than foreign subsidiaries, is the 
australian dollar.

(ii) translation of foreign currency transactions
transactions in foreign currency are initially recorded in 
the functional currency at the exchange rate prevailing at 
the date of the transaction. monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currency are retranslated at the rate 
of exchange prevailing at the balance date. all differences 
in the consolidated financial report are taken to the income 
statement with the exception of differences on foreign currency 
borrowings designated as a hedge against a net investment 
in a foreign entity. these are taken directly to equity until 
the disposal of the net investment at which time they are 
recognised in the income statement.

a non-monetary item that is measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency is translated using the exchange rates at the date 
when the fair value was determined.

(iii)  translation of financial statements of 
foreign subsidiaries

the functional currency of certain subsidiaries is not the 
australian dollar. at reporting date, the assets and liabilities of 
these entities are translated into the presentation currency of 
the trusts at the rate of exchange prevailing at balance date. 
Financial performance is translated at the average exchange 
rate prevailing during the reporting period. the exchange 
differences arising on translation are taken directly to the 
foreign currency translation reserve in equity.

on disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount 
recognised in equity relating to that foreign operation is 
recognised in the income statement.

(i) Leases
Finance leases, which transfer to the trusts substantially all 
the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased 
item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair 
value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned 
between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability 
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability. Finance charges are recognised as an expense 
in the income statement.

Finance leases, which transfer away from the trusts 
substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership 
of the leased item, are recognised at the inception of the lease. 
a finance lease receivable is recognised on inception at the 
present value of the minimum lease receipts. Finance lease 
receipts are apportioned between the interest income and 
reduction in the lease receivable to achieve a constant rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the receivable. interest is 
recognised as income in the income statement.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risk and 
benefits of ownership are classified as operating leases. For 
operating leases for which the trusts are the lessor, initial direct 
costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to 
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as 
an expense over the term of the lease on the same basis as 
the lease income.

operating lease payments are recognised as an expense 
in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease.

(j) Financial assets and liabilities
current and non-current financial assets and liabilities within 
the scope of aasB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement are classified as at fair value through profit or 
loss; loans and receivables; held-to-maturity investments; or 
as available-for-sale. the trusts determine the classification of 
their financial assets and liabilities at initial recognition with the 
classification depending on the purpose for which the asset or 
liability was acquired or issued. Financial assets and liabilities 
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable 
transaction costs unless their classification is at fair value 
through profit or loss. they are subsequently measured at fair 
value or amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
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changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are 
recorded directly in equity. changes in fair values of financial 
assets and liabilities classified as at fair value through profit or 
loss are recorded in the income statement.

the fair values of financial instruments that are actively traded 
in organised financial markets are determined by reference 
to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the 
balance sheet date. For those with no active market, fair values 
are determined using valuation techniques. such techniques 
include: using recent arm’s length market transactions; 
reference to the current market value of another instrument 
that is substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis 
and option pricing models, making as much use of available 
and supportable market data as possible and keeping 
judgemental inputs to a minimum.

(k) impairment of non-financial assets
assets other than investment property and financial assets 
carried at fair value are tested for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. an impairment loss is recognised for 
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. the recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the 
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from 
other assets or groups of assets. non-financial assets [other 
than goodwill] that have suffered impairment are reviewed 
for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

(l) cash and cash equivalents
cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet and cash flow 
statement comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term 
deposits that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(m) trade and other receivables
trade and other receivables are recognised initially at 
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any provision for 
impairment. an allowance for impairment is made when there 
is objective evidence that collection of the full amount is no 
longer probable.

(n) Derivative financial instruments
the trusts use derivative financial instruments such as foreign 
currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its risks 
associated with foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations. 
such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at 
fair value on the date in which the derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently remeasured to fair value.

For hedge accounting, hedges are classified as fair value 
hedges when they hedge the exposure to changes in the 
fair value of a recognised asset or liability; cash flow hedges 
where they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that 
is attributable either to a particular risk associated with a 
recognised asset or liability or to a forecast transaction; or 
hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

any gain or loss arising from measuring fair value hedges that 
meets the conditions for hedge accounting is recognised in 
the income statement. any gain or loss on the hedged item 
attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying 
amount of the relevant financial instrument.

any gain or loss arising on cash flow hedges, which hedge 
firm commitments and which qualify for hedge accounting, is 
recognised directly in equity. amounts accumulated in equity 
are recycled in the income statement in the periods when the 
hedged item affects profit or loss.

any gain or loss arising on hedges of a net investment in 
a foreign operation that qualify for hedge accounting is 
recognised directly in equity in foreign currency translation 
reserve. on disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative 
amount of any such gains and losses is transferred to 
profit or loss.

For derivatives that do not meet the documentation 
requirements to qualify for hedge accounting and for the 
ineffective portion of qualifying hedges, any gains or losses 
arising from changes in fair value are recognised in the 
income statement.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedge instrument 
expires, is sold, exercised, terminated or no longer deemed 
effective. any cumulative gains or losses relating to the hedge 
that were previously recognised in equity are transferred to the 
income statement.

(o) investment property
Land and buildings have the function of an investment and are 
regarded as composite assets. in accordance with applicable 
accounting standards, the buildings, including plant & 
equipment, are not depreciated.

investment property includes property under construction.

it is the trusts’ policy to have all investment properties 
externally valued at intervals of not more than three years 
and that such valuation be reflected in the financial reports 
of the trusts. it is the policy of the Responsible entity to 
review the fair value of each investment property every six 
months and to cause investment properties to be revalued to 
fair values whenever their carrying value differs materially to 
their fair values.

Fair value represents the amount at which an asset could be 
exchanged between a knowledgeable, willing buyer and a 
knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm’s length transaction at 
the date of valuation. it is based on current prices in an active 
market for similar property in the same location and condition 
and subject to similar lease and other contracts, adjusted 
for any differences in the nature, location or condition of the 
property, or in the contractual terms of the leases and other 
contracts relating to the property.

in the absence of current prices in an active market, the 
Responsible entity considers information from a variety 
of sources, including current prices in an active market for 
properties of different nature, condition or location, adjusted 
to reflect those differences, recent prices of similar properties 
on less active markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes 
in economic conditions since the date of the transactions that 
occurred at those prices, and discounted cash flow projections 
based on reliable estimates of future cash flows, using discount 
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1.  suMMArY of signifiCAnt ACCounting 
PoliCiEs ContinuEd
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rates that reflect current market assessments of the uncertainty 
in the amount and timing of the cash flows.

in determining fair values, expected net cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a market determined 
risk adjusted discount rate. the assessment of fair value of 
investment properties does not take into account potential 
capital gains tax assessable. changes in the fair value of an 
investment property are recorded in the income statement.

(p) equity accounted investments
a jointly controlled entity is a joint venture that involves the 
establishment of a corporation, partnership or other entity in 
which each venturer has an interest. a contractual arrangement 
between the venturers establishes joint control over the 
economic activity of the entity. associates are those entities 
over which the trusts have significant influence, but not control. 
Jointly controlled entities and associates, and investments 
in those entities, are referred to as “equity accounted 
investments”. equity accounted investments are accounted 
for in the parent’s financial statements using the cost method 
and in the consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method. the trusts’ share of net profit is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement and its share of any movement 
in reserves is recognised in reserves in the consolidated balance 
sheet. the accumulation of post-acquisition movements in 
the trusts’ share of net assets is adjusted against the carrying 
value of the investment. Distributions received or receivable 
are recognised in the trusts’ income statements and reduce 
the carrying value of the investment in their consolidated 
financial statements.

(q) Payables
trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and due 
to their short-term nature are not discounted. they represent 
liabilities for goods and services provided to the trusts prior to 
the end of the financial year that are unpaid and are recognised 
when the trusts become obliged to make future payments 
in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. the 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 60 days 
of recognition.

(r) Retirement village resident loans
these loans, which are non-interest bearing and repayable on 
the departure of the resident, are classified as financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit and loss with resulting fair value 
adjustments recognised in the income statement. the fair 
value of the obligation is measured as the ingoing contribution 
plus the resident’s share of capital appreciation to reporting 
date. although the expected average residency term is 
around eleven years, these obligations are classified as current 
liabilities, as required by accounting standards, because the 
trusts do not have an unconditional right to defer settlement 
to more than twelve months after reporting date.

this liability is stated net of deferred management fee accrued 
to reporting date, because the trusts’ contracts with residents 
require net settlement of those obligations.

(s) Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recorded at the fair value of the 
consideration received less directly attributable transaction 
costs associated with the borrowings. after initial recognition, 

borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method. under this method 
fees, costs, discounts and premiums that are yield related are 
included as part of the carrying amount of the borrowing and 
amortised over its expected life.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the trusts 
do not have an unconditional right to defer settlement to more 
than twelve months after reporting date.

Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred except where they 
are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset. when this is the case, they 
are capitalised as part of the acquisition cost of that asset.

(t) issued units
issued and paid up units are recognised at the fair value of 
the consideration received by the trusts. any transaction 
costs arising on issue of ordinary units are recognised 
directly in unitholders’ interest as a reduction of the units 
proceeds received.

(u) Revenue
Revenue from rents, interest and distributions is recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will 
flow to the entity and the revenue can be reliably measured. 
Revenue brought to account but not received at balance date 
is recognised as a receivable.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. contingent rentals 
are recognised as income in the financial year that they 
are earned. Fixed rental increases that do not represent 
direct compensation for underlying cost increases or capital 
expenditures are recognised on a straight-line basis until the 
next market review date.

Reflecting this accounting policy, deferred management 
fee income is calculated as the expected fee to be earned 
on a residents ingoing loan, allocated pro-rata over the 
resident’s expected tenure, together with any share of 
capital appreciation that has occurred at reporting date.

interest income is recognised as the interest accrues using 
the effective interest rate method.

(v) income tax

(i) current income tax
under the current tax legislation, the Fund is not liable to 
pay australian income tax provided that its taxable income 
(including any assessable capital gains) is fully distributed to 
unitholders each year. tax allowances for building and fixtures 
depreciation are distributed to unitholders in the form of the 
tax-deferred component of distributions.

However, icmt and its subsidiaries are subject to australian 
income tax.

current tax assets and liabilities for the current period are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from, or 
paid to, the taxation authorities based on the current period’s 
taxable income. the tax rates and tax laws used to compute the 
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date.
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the subsidiaries that hold the trusts’ foreign properties may 
be subject to corporate income tax and withholding tax in 
the countries in which they operate. under current australian 
income tax legislation, unitholders may be entitled to receive a 
foreign tax credit for this withholding tax.

(ii) Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax represents tax (including withholding tax) 
expected to be payable or recoverable by taxable entities on 
the differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset 
is realised through continuing use or the liability is settled, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at reporting date. income taxes related 
to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity 
and not against income.

(w) goods and services tax (“gst”)
Revenue, expenses and assets (with the exception of 
receivables) are recognised net of the amount of gst to the 
extent that the gst is recoverable from the taxation authority. 
where gst is not recoverable, it is recognised as part of the 
cost of the acquisition, or as an expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of gst. the net 
amount of gst recoverable from or payable to the tax authority 
is included in the balance sheet as an asset or liability.

cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross 
basis. the gst components of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities, which are recoverable from or payable 
to the tax authorities, are classified as operating cash flows.

(x) Pending accounting standards
aasB 9 Financial Instruments is applicable to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. the trusts have 
not early adopted this standard. it includes requirements 
for the classification and measurement of financial assets 
resulting from Phase 1 of the iasB’s project to replace ias 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (aasB 
139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement). 
these requirements improve and simplify the approach for 
classification and measurement of financial assets compared 
with the requirements of aasB 139. it also requires that 
portion of a change of fair value relating to the entity’s own 
credit risk for financial liabilities measured at fair value utilising 
the fair value option to be separately presented in other 
comprehensive income, except when that would create an 
accounting mismatch. the trusts are currently evaluating the 
impact of this standard.

aasB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities is applicable to 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 
the trusts have not early adopted this standard. it includes 
all disclosures relating to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, 
joint arrangements, associates and structures entities. new 
disclosures have been introduced about the judgements made 
by management to determine whether control exists, and to 
require summarised information about joint arrangements, 
associates and structured entities and subsidiaries with non-
controlling interests.

other new accounting standards, amendments to accounting 
standards and interpretations have been published that are 
not mandatory for the current reporting period. these are not 
expected to have any material impact on the trusts’ financial 
reports in future reporting periods.

2. ACCounting EstiMAtEs And JudgEMEnts
the preparation of financial statements requires the use 
of certain critical accounting estimates. it also requires the 
responsible entity to exercise its judgement in the process of 
applying the trusts’ accounting policies. the areas involving 
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements, are disclosed below.

estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances.

(a) critical accounting estimates and assumptions
the trusts make estimates and assumptions concerning the 
future. the resulting accounting estimates, by definition, will 
seldom equal the related actual results. the estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(i) Valuation of investment property
the trusts have investment properties with a carrying amount 
of $327,632,000 (2011:$344,490,000) (refer note 11), and 
retirement village resident loans with a carrying amount of 
$162,602,000 (2011: $150,761,000), which together represent 
the estimated fair value of the trusts’ interest in retirement 
villages. in addition, the carrying amount of the Fund’s equity 
accounted investments of $nil (2011: Fund $45,407,000 (refer 
note 12) also reflects investment properties carried at fair value. 
these carrying amounts reflect certain assumptions about 
expected future rentals, rent-free periods, operating costs and 
appropriate discount and capitalisation rates. in forming these 
assumptions, the responsible entity considered information 
about current and recent sales activity, current market rents, 
and discount and capitalisation rates, for properties similar to 
those owned by the trusts, as well as independent valuations 
of the trusts’ property.

(ii) Fair value of derivatives
the fair value of derivative assets and liabilities is based on 
assumptions of future events and involves significant estimates. 
given the complex nature of these instruments and various 
assumptions that are used in calculating mark-to-market values, 
the trusts rely on counterparty valuations for derivative values. 
the counterparty valuations are usually based on mid-market 
rates and calculated using the main variables including the 
forward market curve, time and volatility.

(iii) Valuation of intangibles
the valuation of transitional services and Rental support 
provided as part of the internalisation is based on the estimated 
market value of these services if they were to be obtained by a 
third party at arms length.

1.  suMMArY of signifiCAnt ACCounting 
PoliCiEs ContinuEd
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(iv)  Valuation of assets acquired in business combinations
upon recognising the acquisition, management uses estimations and assumptions of the fair value of assets and liabilities assumed 
at the date of acquisition, including judgements related to valuation of investment property as discussed above.

(b)  critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies
there were no judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the 
entity’s accounting policies that had a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial report.

3. EArnings PEr unit
ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 

fund
ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012  2011  2012  2011

earnings per unit
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations  (2,683)  (5,603)  1,881  6,768

Profit from discontinued operations ($'000)  31,807  18,654  6,855  3,086

net profit for the year ($'000)  29,124  13,051  8,736  9,854

weighted average number of units 
outstanding (thousands)  441,029  441,029  441,029  441,029

Basic and diluted earnings per unit from continuing 
operations (cents)  (0.6)  (1.3)  0.4  1.5

Basic and diluted earnings per unit from discontinued 
operations (cents)  7.2  4.2  1.6  0.7

Basic and diluted earnings per unit (cents)  6.6  3.0  2.0  2.2

4. gAin on intErnAlisAtion
on 4 June 2012, management of the trusts was internalised and the stapled entity known as ingenia communities group 
(consisting of the company and the trusts) was formed (“internalisation”), after the internalisation was approved by unitholders at 
meetings held on 31 may 2012. the internalisation involved:

•	 a capital distribution by the Fund which was applied towards the issue of shares in the company to unitholders of the trusts 
(other than foreign resident unitholders);

•	 the change of the responsible entity of the trusts from ing management Limited to icRe; and

•	 the stapling of each share in the company to each unit in each trust to form the new stapled securities of ingenia 
communities group.

Financial support for internalisation was provided by the previous Responsible entity and its related parties ing groep nV at no 
cost to the trusts. the gain resulting from this financial support, after deducting transaction costs, was:

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

waiver of accrued management fees (1)  2,279  –  220  –

gain on acquisition of 10% interest in new 
Zealand students (2)  –  –  566  –

transaction costs (3)  (1,840)  –  –  –

 439  –  786  –

(1) ing groep nV waived accrued management fees of $2,500,000.
(2) ing groep nV transferred its 10% equity (and 100% voting power) in the new Zealand students portfolio to icmt for no consideration. Further 

details on this gain are given in note 26(b).
(3) the trusts incurred transaction costs in relation to internalisation.

additional financial support was provided by ing groep nV to icH and is not included in the financial statements of either trust.
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ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

5. finAnCE EXPEnsE
interest paid or payable  8,521  9,578  4,897  2,174

Less interest capitalised  –  (180)  –  (127)

 8,521  9,398  4,897  2,047

6. inCoME tAX EXPEnsE
(a) income tax benefit
current tax  –  14  (4)  –

Decrease in deferred tax liabilities 15  (158)  (1,389)  (34)  (1,389)

 (158)  (1,375)  (38)  (1,389)

(b)  Reconciliation between tax expense and 
pre-tax net profit

Profit/(loss) before income tax  (2,841)  (6,978)  1,843  5,379

income tax at the australian tax rate of 
30% (2011: 30%)  (852)  (2,093)  553  1,614

tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/
(taxable) in calculating taxable income:

 australian income  694  718  (591)  (3,003)

income tax benefit  (158)  (1,375)  (38)  (1,389)

7. disContinuEd oPErAtions
(a) Details of discontinued operations
on 23 november 2009, the trusts announced that they would cease to provide financial support to their united states students 
business, which had previously enabled that business to meet its interest and principal payments on debt. the cessation of 
this support resulted in a breach of borrowing agreements. since then management has worked with debt holders to dispose 
of all of the united states students properties. the final property was the subject of a foreclosure sale on 9 February 2012.

the trusts’ investment in the new Zealand students business (u-stay) was classified as a discontinued operation at 
30 June 2011, consistent with the previously announced strategy to focus on transitioning to an actively managed australian 
seniors living business. Following internalisation the trusts hold a 100% interest in three facilities in wellington, new Zealand 
that provide student accommodation under a minimum rental guarantee to Victoria university of wellington. Prior to 
internalisation the Fund held a 90% interest in this investment.

the trusts’ investment in the united states seniors Living portfolio (the Bristals) was classified as a discontinued operation 
at 31 December 2011. this investment comprises a 50% interest in five seniors living communities and a 100% interest in one 
community (Lynbrook), all located on Long island, new York. on 23 may 2012, the trusts announced that they had entered 
into a conditional contract for the sale of this portfolio for approximately us$173.3m. settlement is conditional upon receiving 
all necessary united states regulatory and property level debt approvals, which are anticipated to be received in late 2012.

aasB5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations requires, when a component of an entity is classified as 
a discontinued operation, comparative financial data to be restated in the income statements. Balance sheets and cash flow 
statements are not restated. accordingly, comparative income statements and associated notes have been restated to reflect 
the united states seniors Living portfolio being a discontinued operation.
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(b) Financial performance
the financial performance of components of the trusts disposed of or classified as discontinued operations at 30 June 2012 were:

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

Revenue  4,046  6,626  2,869  1,943

net gain on change in fair value of

investment properties  740  6,101  5,765  2,800

other income  6,536  206  –  –

expenses  (3,127)  (4,837)  (2,074)  (1,927)

share of net profit of equity accounted investments  27,751  10,622  549  271

Profit from operating activities before income tax  35,946  18,718  7,109  3,087

income tax benefit/(expense)  235  (64)  (181)  (1)

Profit from operating activities  36,181  18,654  6,928  3,086

Loss on sale of discontinued operations 
before income tax  (4,374)  –  (73)  –

income tax expense thereon  –  –  –  –

loss on sale of discontinued operations  (4,374)  –  (73)  –

net profit for the year  31,807  18,654  6,855  3,086

(c) cash flows
the cash flows of components of the trusts disposed of or classified as discontinued operations at 30 June 2012 were:

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

net cash flow from operating activities  3,185  85  781  –

net cash flows from investing activities:

Proceeds on sale of discontinued operations  29,898  –  598  –

other  (712)  (340)  1,556  –

net cash flow from financing activities  –  –  (150)  –

net cash flows from discontinued operations  32,371  (255)  2,785  –
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7. disContinuEd oPErAtions ContinuEd
(d) assets and liabilities
the assets and liabilities of components of the trusts classified as disposal groups at each reporting date were:

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

assets
cash and cash equivalents  100  186  3,151  –

trade and other receivables  3,140  662  3,934  –

investment properties  43  5,325  46,533  –

Plant and equipment  –  –  1,440  –

equity accounted investments  40,131  3,874  727  –

total assets  43,414  10,047  55,785  –

Liabilities
Payables  515  114  1,995  –

Borrowings  –  5,561  42,962  –

Deferred tax liabilities  –  –  227  –

total liabilities  515  5,675  45,184  –

net assets of disposal groups  42,899  4,372  10,601  –

(e) Details of disposals
the trusts disposed of investment properties within three us student LLcs during the period for no consideration which had 
investment property carried at us$6,672,000 and interest bearing liabilities of us$6,672,000.

the trusts also disposed a 50% interest in 15 of their 21 us seniors communities to its joint venture partner chartwell seniors 
Housing Real estate investment trust. this transaction settled on 4th november 2011 and leaves the trusts with a 100% interest in 
Lynbrook and 50% in 5 other properties located on Long island, new York. this transaction was completed at a $4,447,000 loss 
including selling costs (icF:$4,374,000, icmt:$73,000) and resulted in cash proceeds of $29,898,000 which were commercially 
hedged by foreign currency forward contracts.

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

8. CAsH And CAsH EQuiVAlEnts
cash at bank and in hand 21  2,331  8,398  2,878  3,095

short term deposits 21  18,346  6,457  –  10

 20,677  14,855  2,878  3,105

Reconciliation to statements of cash flows
cash and cash equivalents attributable to:

 continuing operations  20,677  14,855  2,878  3,105

 Discontinued operations  100  186  3,151  –

cash at end of the year as per cash flow statement  20,777  15,041  6,029  3,105
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ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

9. trAdE And otHEr rECEiVABlEs
current
Rental and other amounts due  24  116  106  116

Finance lease receivable from stapled entity 21  3,003  –  –  –

accrued income, prepayments and deposits  244  4,136  2,220  3,593

 3,271  4,252  2,326  3,709

non-current
Finance lease receivable from stapled entity 21  34,607  –  –  –

amount receivable from stapled entity  –  –  –  2,320

accrued income, prepayments and deposits –  1,297  2,187  2,490

 34,607  1,297  2,187  4,810

Rental and other amounts due are receivable within 30 days.

the Fund has leased certain of its properties to icmt under a lease that is a finance lease. the remaining term of each 
agreement varies between 94 and 98 years. there are no purchase options. minimum payments under the agreements and their 
present values are:

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

minimum lease payments receivable:
 not later than one year  3,003  –  –  –

 Later than one year and not later than five years  12,011  –  –  –

 Later than five years  275,616  –  –  –

 290,630  –  –  –

unearned finance income  (253,020)  –  –  –

net present value of minimum lease payments  37,610  –  –  –

net present value of minimum lease 
payments receivable:

 not later than one year  3,003  –  –  –

 Later than one year and not later than five years  9,461  –  –  –

 Later than five years  25,146  –  –  –

 37,610  –  –  –

Finance income recognised and included in interest 
income in the income statement  385  –  –  –

information about the related finance lease payable by icmt is given in note 14.
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ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

10. dEriVAtiVEs
current assets
Foreign exchange options 21  1,659  –  –  –

current liabilities
interest rate swap contracts 21  970  213  –  –

non-current liabilities
interest rate swap contracts 21  –  269  –  –

11. inVEstMEnt ProPErtiEs
(a) summary of carrying amounts
completed properties  97,093  342,820  223,083  241,545

Properties under construction  3,874  1,670  3,582  300

 100,967  344,490  226,665  241,845

(b) movements in carrying amounts

completed investment property
carrying amount at beginning of year  342,820  346,163  241,545  203,152

exchange rate fluctuations  1,056  (5,309)  1,056  (5,309)

additions to existing property  814  1,640  1,188  21,160

transferred from property under construction  94  8,605  94  6,782

Disposals  (22,789)  (10,482)  (26,457)  –

Deconsolidation of icmt on internalisation  (227,938)  –  –  –

net change in fair value  3,036  2,203  5,658  15,760

carrying amount at end of year  97,093  342,820  223,083  241,545

Property under construction
carrying amount at beginning of year  1,670  6,660  300  3,560

additions  2,698  5,700  4,086  5,647

net change in fair value  (400)  (2,085)  (710)  (2,125)

transferred to investment property  (94)  (8,605)  (94)  (6,782)

carrying amount at end of year  3,874  1,670  3,582  300
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12. EQuitY ACCountEd inVEstMEnts
(a) Details of investments

ownErsHiP intErEst

nAME PrinCiPAl ACtiVitY  2012  2011

ingenia communities Fund
csH – ingRe LLc(1) Real estate investment  – 49%

ingenia communities management trust
csH – ingRe LLc(1) Real estate investment  – 1%

(1) this investment is now classified as a discontinued operation. the trusts’ share of its assets and liabilities are not included in the figures below 
from the date of its reclassification, being 31 December 2011. the trusts’ share of its results are not included in the figures below for both 2012 
and 2011 which have been restated as required by aasB5 (non-current assets Held for sale and Discontinued operations). Refer note 7.

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

note
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000
 2012

$’000
 2011

$’000

(b) share of assets and liabilities
total assets  –  272,783  –  5,456

total liabilities  –  (227,376)  –  (4,543)

net assets  –  45,407  –  913

13. PAYABlEs
current liabilities
trade and other payables  1,513  19,597  6,810  8,808

non-current liabilities
other payables  1,851  –  –  –

14. Borrowings
current liabilities 21

Bank debt (a)  81,739  –  –  –

Bonds (b)  –  266  –  266

Finance leases (c)  –  –  3,003  2,876

Loans from stapled entity (d)  –  –  –  24,379

 81,739  266  3,003  27,521

non-current liabilities
Bank debt (a)  –  96,161  –  –

Bonds (b)  –  25,354  –  25,354

Finance leases (c)  –  –  34,607  34,734

Loans from stapled entity (d)  –  –  –  –

 –  121,515  34,607  60,088
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14. Borrowings ContinuEd
(a) Bank debt
the australian dollar denominated bank debt of $81,739,000 (2011: $96,161,000) is a variable rate facility expiring in February 2013. 
the main financial covenants to be maintained include:

•	 loan to value ratios of 65% for completed rental villages and 50% for deferred management fee villages and properties 
under construction;

•	 a total leverage ratio (calculated on a look-through basis) of less than 85%, reducing to 80% from 1 January 2012; and

•	 an interest cover ratio of net income from mortgaged properties (including distributions from foreign assets) to facility 
interest expense of at least 1.4.

the trusts may not make distributions without prior consent of the bank (unless pursuant to a distribution reinvestment plan 
approved by the bank) until:

•	 following a capital raising and the loan to value ratio is not more than 50% and the interest cover ratio is at least 1.75; or

•	 without a capital raising and the loan to value ratio is not more than 40% and the interest cover ratio is at least 1.75.

the carrying value net of resident liabilities at reporting date of the Fund’s australian properties pledged as security is 
$165,029,000 (2011: $172,599,000) (iLmt $64,063,000; 2011: $69,954,000).

after reporting date, this borrowing was refinanced. Details are given in note 29.

(b) Bonds
this comprises two bonds whose terms exceed five years. the bonds are secured against a united states property with a carrying 
value of $27,966,000 (2011: $21,130,000).

(c) Finance leases
subsidiaries of iLmt have entered into agreements with subsidiaries of the Fund. the subject of each agreement is to lease 
a retirement village. the remaining term of each agreement varies between 94 and 98 years. there are no purchase options. 
minimum payments under the agreements and their present values are:

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

minimum lease payments:
within one year  –  –  3,003  3,003

Later than one year but not later than five years  –  –  12,011  12,011

Later than five years  –  –  275,616  275,616

total minimum lease payments  –  –  290,630  290,630

Future finance charges  –  –  (253,020)  (253,020)

Present value of minimum lease payments  –  –  37,610  37,610

Present value of minimum lease payments:
within one year  –  –  3,003  2,876

Later than one year but not later than five years  –  –  9,461  9,461

Later than five years  –  –  25,146  25,273

 –  –  37,610  37,610

(d) Loan from stapled entity
icmt has an outstanding borrowing from the Fund. the loan is unsecured and repayable on demand.
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ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

15. dEfErrEd tAX liABilitiEs
the balance comprises temporary differences 
attributable to:

investment properties  –  8,047  7,921  8,047

Deferred tax benefit recognised in the income 
statement in respect of deferred tax liabilities is 
attributable to temporary differences arising from:

investment properties  (158)  (1,389)  (34)  (1,389)

16. issuEd units
(a) carrying amounts
at beginning of year  486,693  490,044  3,351  3,351

capital distribution(1)  (6,000)  –  –  –

at end of year  480,693  490,044  3,351  3,351

the closing balance is attributable to the unitholders of:

 ingenia communities Fund  480,693  486,693  –  –

 ingenia communities management trust  –  3,351  3,351  3,351

 480,693  490,044  3,351  3,351

(1) the capital distribution applied towards the issue of shares in icH to unitholders of the trusts (other than foreign resident unitholders) as part  
of internalisation.

(b) number of issued units
ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 

fund
ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012
thousands

 2011
thousands

 2012
thousands

 2011
thousands

at beginning and end of year  441,029  441,029  441,029  441,029

(c) terms of units
all units are fully paid and rank equally with each other for all purposes. each unit entitles the holder to one vote, in person or by 
proxy, at a meeting of unitholders.
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ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

17. rEsErVEs
Foreign currency translation reserve
Balance at beginning of year  (20,240)  (11,481)  (560)  (2,397)

translation differences arising during the year  2,663  (8,759)  (54)  1,837

Deconsolidation of icmt  681  –  –  –

Balance at end of year  (16,896)  (20,240)  (614)  (560)

the closing balance is attributable to the unitholders of:

 ingenia communities Fund  (16,896)  (19,680)  –  –

 ingenia communities management trust  –  (560)  (614)  (560)

 (16,896)  (20,240)  (614)  (560)

the foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of 
foreign subsidiaries. it is also used to record the effect of hedging net investments in foreign operations.

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

18. rEtAinEd EArnings
Balance at beginning of year  (352,165)  (368,541)  (3,325)  (13,179)

net profit for the year  23,571  13,051  8,736  9,854

Balance at end of year  (328,594)  (355,490)  5,411  (3,325)

19. CoMMitMEnts
commitments for capital expenditure on investment property contracted but not provided for at reporting date amounted to 
$455,500 (2011: nil), all payable within one year.

a subsidiary of icmt has entered into a non-cancellable operating lease for its Brisbane office. the lease has a remaining 
life of 2 years.

Future minimum rentals payable under this lease as at reporting date were:

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

within one year  –  –  95,000  –

Later than one year but not later than five years  –  –  95,000  –

Later than five years  –  –  –  –

 –  –  190,000  –
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20. CAPitAl MAnAgEMEnt
the capital management of icF and icmt is not managed separately, but rather, is managed at a consolidated group level (icH 
and subsidiaries).

at the group level, the aim is to meet strategic objectives and operational needs and to maximise returns to security holders 
through the appropriate use of debt and equity, while taking account of the additional financial risks of higher debt levels.

in determining the optimal capital structure, the group takes into account a number of factors, including the views of investors 
and the market in general, the capital needs of its portfolio, the relative cost of debt versus equity, the execution risk of raising 
equity or debt, and the additional financial risks of debt including increased volatility of earnings due to exposure to interest rate 
movements, the liquidity risk of maturing debt facilities and the potential for acceleration prior to maturity.

in assessing this risk, the group takes into account the relative security of income flows, the predictability of expenses, debt profile, 
the degree of hedging and the overall level of debt as measured by gearing.

the actual capital structure at a point in time is the product of a number of factors, many of which are market driven and to 
various degrees outside of the control of the group, particularly the impact of revaluations on gearing levels, the availability of 
new equity and the liquidity in real estate markets. while the group periodically determines the optimal capital structure, the 
ability to achieve the optimal structure may be impacted by market conditions and the actual position may often differ from the 
optimal position.

the group’s capital position is primarily monitored through the ratio of total liabilities to total assets (“Leverage Ratio”), calculated 
on a look-through basis, in which the group’s interest in its joint ventures and associates are proportionately consolidated based 
on the group’s ownership interest.

in addition, the trusts monitor the ratio of debt to total assets (“gearing Ratio”), calculated on a look-through basis.

21. finAnCiAl instruMEnts
(a) introduction
the trusts’ principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, interest bearing liabilities, other financial liabilities, cash 
and short-term deposits and derivative financial instruments.

the main risks arising from the trusts’ financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
the trusts manage the exposure to these risks primarily through the treasury Policy. the policy sets out various targets aimed 
at restricting the financial risk taken by the trusts. management reviews actual positions of the trusts against these targets on a 
regular basis. if the target is not achieved, or forecast not to be achieved, a plan of action is, where appropriate, put in place with 
the aim of meeting the target within an agreed timeframe. Depending on the circumstances of the trusts at a point in time, it may 
be that positions outside of the treasury Policy are accepted and no plan of action is put in place to meet the treasury targets, 
because, for example, the risks associated with bringing the trusts into compliance outweigh the benefits. the adequacy of the 
treasury Policy in addressing the risks arising from the trusts’ financial instruments is reviewed on a regular basis.

while the trusts aim to meet the treasury Policy targets, many factors influence the performance, and it is probable that at any 
one time, not all targets will be met. For example, the trusts may be unable to negotiate the extension of bank facilities sufficiently 
ahead of time, so that they fail to achieve their liquidity target. when refinancing loans they may be unable to achieve the desired 
maturity profile or the desired level of flexibility of financial covenants, because of the cost of such terms or their unavailability. 
Hedging instruments may not be available, or their cost may outweigh the benefit of risk reduction or they may introduce other 
risks such as mark to market valuation risk. changes in market conditions may limit the trusts’ ability to raise capital through the 
issue of units or sale of properties.

the main risks arising from icmt’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
these risks are not separately managed. management of these risks for the Fund may result in consequential changes for icmt.

(b) interest rate risk
the trusts’ exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates arises primarily from its use of borrowings. the main 
consequence of adverse changes in market interest rates is higher interest costs, reducing the trusts’ profit. in addition, one or 
more of the trusts’ loan agreements may include minimum interest cover covenants. Higher interest costs resulting from increases 
in market interest rates may result in these covenants being breached, providing the lender the right to call in the loan or to 
increase the interest rate applied to the loan.

the trusts manage the risk of changes in market interest rates by maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and floating rate 
borrowings. Fixed rate debt is achieved either through fixed rate debt funding or through derivative financial instruments 
permitted under the treasury Policy. the policy sets minimum and maximum levels of fixed rate exposure over a ten-
year time horizon.

at 30 June 2012, after taking into account the effect of interest rate swaps, approximately 70% of the trusts’ borrowings are at a 
fixed rate of interest (30 June 2011: 70%) (icmt:100%; 30 June 2011: 100%).

exposure to changes in market interest rates also arises from financial assets such as cash deposits and loan receivables subject to 
floating interest rate terms. changes in market interest rates will also change the fair value of any interest rate hedges.
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21. finAnCiAl instruMEnts ContinuEd
(c) interest rate risk exposure
the Fund’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rates on financial instruments at reporting date were:

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs fund

 fiXEd intErEst MAturing in:

30 June 2012

 Floating
interest

rate
 Less than

 1 year
 1 to 5
 years

 more than
 5 years  total

Principal amounts $'000
financial assets

cash at bank  2,331  –  –  –  2,331

short term deposits  18,346  –  –  –  18,346

financial liabilities

Bank debt denominated in auD  81,739  –  –  –  81,739

interest rate swaps:

 – denominated in auD; Fund pays fixed rate  (60,000)  60,000  –  –  –

the Fund’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rates on financial instruments at the end of the previous 
financial year was:

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs fund

 fiXEd intErEst MAturing in:

30 June 2011

 Floating
interest

rate
 Less than

 1 year
 1 to 5
 years

 more than
 5 years  total

Principal amounts $'000
financial assets

cash at bank  8,398  –  –  –  8,398

short term deposits  6,457  –  –  –  6,457

financial liabilities

Bank debt denominated in auD  96,161  –  –  –  96,161

Bonds denominated in usD  –  266  1,250  24,104  25,620

interest rate swaps:

 – denominated in auD; Fund pays fixed rate  (60,000)  60,000  –  –  –

icmt’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rates on financial instruments at reporting date were:

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs MAnAgEMEnt trust

 fiXEd intErEst MAturing in:

30 June 2012

 Floating
interest

rate
 Less than

 1 year
 1 to 5
 years

 more than
 5 years  total

Principal amounts $'000
financial assets

cash at bank  2,878  –  –  –  2,878

financial liabilities

Bank debt denominated in nZD  16,287 –  –  –  16,287

Finance leases  –  3,003  9,461  25,146  37,610

Bonds denominated in usD  –  –  –  26,675  26,675
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icmt’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rates on financial instruments at the end of the previous 
financial year were:

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs MAnAgEMEnt trust

 fiXEd intErEst MAturing in:

30 June 2011

 Floating
interest

rate
 Less than

 1 year
 1 to 5
 years

 more than
 5 years  total

Principal amounts $'000
financial assets

cash at bank  3,095  –  –  –  3,095

short term deposits  10  –  –  –  10

financial liabilities

Finance leases  –  2,876  9,461  25,273  37,610

Bonds denominated in usD  –  266  1,250  24,104  25,620

other financial instruments of the trusts not included in the above tables are non-interest bearing and are therefore not subject to 
interest rate risk.

(d) interest rate sensitivity analysis
the impact of an increase or decrease in average interest rates of 1% (100 basis points) at reporting date, with all other variables 
held constant, is illustrated in the tables below. this analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence at balance 
sheet date. as the trusts have no derivatives that meet the documentation requirements to qualify for hedge accounting, there 
would be no impact on unitholders’ interest (apart from the effect on profit).

(i) increase in average interest rates of 1%
the effect on net interest expense for one year would have been:

EffECt on Profit AftEr tAX

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

HigHEr/(lowEr) HigHEr/(lowEr)

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

Variable interest rate instruments denominated in:

 australian dollars  (817)  (1,273)  (430)  –

the effect on change in fair value of derivatives would have been:

EffECt on Profit AftEr tAX

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

HigHEr/(lowEr) HigHEr/(lowEr)

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

Fixed interest rate instruments denominated in:

 australian dollars  293  973  –  –
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21. finAnCiAl instruMEnts ContinuEd
(ii) Decrease in average interest rates of 1%
the effect on net interest expense for one year would have been:

EffECt on Profit AftEr tAX

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

HigHEr/(lowEr) HigHEr/(lowEr)

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

Variable interest rate instruments denominated in:

 australian dollars  (817)  (1,273)  (430)  –

the effect on change in fair value of derivatives would have been:

EffECt on Profit AftEr tAX

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

HigHEr/(lowEr) HigHEr/(lowEr)

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

Variable interest rate instruments denominated in:

 australian dollars  (298)  (979)  –  –

(e) Foreign exchange risk
By holding properties in offshore markets, the trusts are exposed to the risk of movements in foreign exchange rates. Foreign 
exchange rate movements may reduce the australian dollar equivalent of the carrying value of the trusts’ offshore properties, 
and may result in lower australian dollar equivalent proceeds when an offshore property is sold. in addition, foreign exchange 
rate movements may reduce the australian dollar equivalent of the earnings from the offshore properties while they are 
owned by the trusts.

the trusts reduce exposure to the foreign exchange risk inherent in the carrying value of its offshore properties and interests 
in offshore investments by partly or wholly funding their acquisition using borrowings denominated in the particular offshore 
currency, and by using derivatives. the treasury Policy sets a target for minimum and maximum hedging of the carrying value 
of its offshore properties.

the trusts’ exposure to the impact of exchange rate movements on earnings from offshore properties is partly mitigated by 
the foreign denominated interest expense of its foreign denominated borrowings and any derivative hedges. the trusts aim to 
reduce any residual exposure to earnings arising because of investment in offshore markets by using forward exchange contracts. 
the treasury Policy sets out targets of minimum and maximum hedging of earnings from offshore properties over a five-
year time horizon.

the trusts’ net foreign currency monetary exposure, after taking into account the effect of foreign exchange derivatives, as at 
reporting date is shown in the following table. the net foreign currency exposure reported is of foreign currencies held by entities 
whose functional currency is the australian dollar. it excludes assets and liabilities of entities, including the trusts’ united states 
subsidiaries and equity accounted investments, whose functional currency is not the australian dollar.

nEt forEign CurrEnCY AssEt/(liABilitY)

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

united states dollars  2,310  4,065  –  –

new Zealand dollars  8  3  –  –

 2,318  4,068  –  –
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(f) Foreign exchange sensitivity analysis
the impact of an increase or decrease in average foreign exchange rates of 10% at reporting date, with all other variables held 
constant, is illustrated in the tables below. this analysis is based on the foreign exchange risk exposures in existence at balance 
sheet date. in these tables, the effect on unitholders’ interest excludes the effect on profit after tax.

(i) effect of appreciation in australian dollar of 10%:
EffECt on Profit AftEr tAX

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

HigHEr/(lowEr) HigHEr/(lowEr)

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

Foreign exchange risk exposures denominated in:

 united states dollars  (231)  (407)  –  –

(ii) effect of depreciation in australian dollar of 10%:
EffECt on Profit AftEr tAX

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

HigHEr/(lowEr) HigHEr/(lowEr)

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

Foreign exchange risk exposures denominated in:

 united states dollars  231  407  –  –

(g) Foreign exchange derivatives held
the following tables detail the forward exchange contracts, options and foreign exchange swaps outstanding at reporting date. 
these have been taken out to mitigate the effect of foreign exchange movements on the financial statements.

at balance sheet date, none of the following foreign exchange derivatives qualifies for hedge accounting and gains and losses 
arising from changes in fair value have been taken to the income statement. the consolidated gain for the year ended was $111,000 
(2011: loss $2,149,000).

icF held a usD put/auD call option at 30 June 2012 for a principal amount of auD$44.1m with a strike price of 1.0000 and expiry 
of 28 november 2012.

(h) credit risk
credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty defaults on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the trusts.

the major credit risk for the trusts is default by tenants, resulting in a loss of rental income while a replacement tenant is secured 
and further loss if the rent level agreed with the replacement tenant is below that previously paid by the defaulting tenant.

the trusts assess the credit risk of prospective tenants, the credit risk of in-place tenants when acquiring properties and the credit 
risk of existing tenants renewing upon expiry of their leases. Factors taken into account when assessing credit risk include the 
financial strength of the prospective tenant and any form of security, for example a rental bond, to be provided.

the decision to accept the credit risk associated with leasing space to a particular tenant is balanced against the risk of the 
potential financial loss of not leasing up vacant space.

Rent receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and arrears actively followed up in order to reduce, where possible, 
the extent of any losses should the tenant subsequently default.

the Responsible entity believes that the trusts’ receivables that are neither past due nor impaired do not give rise to any 
significant credit risk.

credit risk also arises from deposits placed with financial institutions and derivatives contracts that may have a positive value 
to the trusts. the trusts’ treasury Policy sets target limits for credit risk exposure with financial institutions and minimum 
counterparty credit ratings. counterparty exposure is measured as the aggregate of all obligations of any single legal entity or 
economic entity to the trusts, after allowing for appropriate set offs which are legally enforceable.

the trusts’ maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date in relation to each class of financial instrument is the carrying 
amount as reported in the balance sheet.
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21. finAnCiAl instruMEnts ContinuEd
(i) Liquidity risk
the main objective of liquidity risk management is to reduce the risk that the trusts do not have the resources available to meet 
their financial obligations and working capital and committed capital expenditure requirements. the trusts’ treasury Policy sets 
a target for the level of cash and available undrawn debt facilities to cover future committed expenditure in the next year, loan 
maturities within the next year and an allowance for unforeseen events such as tenant default.

the trusts may also be exposed to contingent liquidity risk under term loan facilities, where term loan facilities include covenants 
which if breached give the lender the right to call in the loan, thereby accelerating a cash flow which otherwise was scheduled for 
the loan maturity. the trusts monitor adherence to loan covenants on a regular basis, and the treasury Policy sets targets based 
on the ability to withstand adverse market movements and remain within loan covenant limits.

the trusts monitor the debt expiry profile and aims to achieve debt maturities below a target level of total committed debt 
facilities, where possible, to reduce refinance risk in any one year.

the contractual maturities of the trusts’ non-derivative financial liabilities at reporting date are reflected in the following table. 
it shows the undiscounted contractual cash flows required to discharge the liabilities including interest at market rates. Foreign 
currencies have been converted at rates of exchange ruling at reporting date.

although the expected average residency term is around eleven years, retirement village resident loans are classified as current 
liabilities, as required by accounting standards, because the trusts do not have an unconditional right to defer settlement to more 
than twelve months after reporting date.

the contractual maturities of icF’s non-derivative financial liabilities at reporting date, on the same basis, were:

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs fund

2012

 less than
 1 year
$’000

 1 to 5
 years
$’000

 More than
 5 years

$’000
 total

$’000

trade & other payables  1,515  –  –  1,515

Borrowings  81,739  –  –  81,739

 83,254  –  –  83,254

2011

trade & other payables  19,597  –  –  19,597

Retirement village residents loans  150,761  –  –  150,761

Borrowings  10,607  110,194  31,526  152,327

 180,965  110,194  31,526  322,685

the contractual maturities of icmt’s non-derivative financial liabilities at reporting date, on the same basis, were:

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs MAnAgEMEnt trust

2012

 less than
 1 year
$’000

 1 to 5
 years
$’000

 More than
 5 years

$’000
 total

$’000

trade & other payables  6,812  –  –  6,812

Retirement village residents loans  162,602  –  –  162,602

Borrowings  3,003  –  34,607  37,610

 172,417  –  34,607  207,024

2011

trade & other payables  8,808  –  –  8,808

Retirement village residents loans  150,761  –  –  150,761

Borrowings  1,937  7,717  31,526  41,180

 161,506  7,717  31,526  200,749
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the contractual maturities of the Fund’s derivative financial liabilities at reporting date are reflected in the following table. it 
shows the undiscounted contractual cash flows required to discharge the instruments including interest at market rates. Foreign 
currencies have been converted at rates of exchange ruling at reporting date.

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs fund

2012

 less than
 1 year
$’000

 1 to 5
 years
$’000

 More than
 5 years

$’000
 total

$’000

Liabilities
Derivative liabilities – net settled  970  –  –  970

the contractual maturities of the Fund’s derivative financial liabilities at 30 June 2011, on the same basis, were:

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs fund

2011

 less than
 1 year
$’000

 1 to 5
 years
$’000

 More than
 5 years

$’000
 total

$’000

Liabilities
Derivative liabilities – net settled  213  269  –  482

icmt did not have any derivative financial liabilities at either 30 June 2012 or 30 June 2011.

(j) other financial instrument risk
the trusts carry retirement village resident loans at fair value with resulting fair value adjustments recognised in the income 
statement. the fair value of these loans is dependent on market prices for the related retirement village units. the impact of an 
increase or decrease in these market prices of 10% at reporting date, with all other variables held constant, is shown in the table 
below. this analysis is based on the retirement village resident loans in existence at reporting date.

EffECt on Profit AftEr tAX

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

HigHEr/(lowEr) HigHEr/(lowEr)

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

increase in market prices of investment properties of 10%  –  (14,700)  (16,000)  (14,700)

Decrease in market prices of investment properties of 10%  –  14,700  16,000  14,700

However, these effects are largely offset by corresponding changes in the fair value of the trusts’ investment properties.

the effect on unitholders’ interest would have been the same as the effect on profit.

(k) Fair value
the trusts use the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

Level 1: fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active markets;

Level 2:  fair value is calculated using inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and

Level 3: fair value is calculated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

Quoted market price represents the fair value determined based on quoted prices on active markets as at the reporting date 
without any deduction for transaction costs. the fair value of the listed equity investments are based on quoted market prices.

the fair value of derivatives was calculated as the net present value of future payment obligations discounted at market rates 
adjusted for the trusts’ credit risk. the fair value of retirement village resident loans was measured as the ingoing resident’s 
contribution plus the resident’s share of capital appreciation to reporting date, less deferred management fee accrued to reporting 
date. these valuation techniques use both observable and unobservable market inputs.

Financial instruments that use valuation techniques with only observable market inputs or unobservable inputs that are not 
significant to the overall valuation include derivatives.
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21. finAnCiAl instruMEnts ContinuEd
the fair value of retirement village resident loans is based on valuation techniques using market data that is not observable. Refer 
to note 2 for assumptions used in valuing the loans.

the following tables present the trusts’ financial instruments that were measured and recognised at fair value at reporting date.

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs fund

2012
 level 1
$’000

 level 2
$’000

 level 3
$’000

 total
$’000

Financial assets
Derivatives  –  1,659  –  1,659

Financial liabilities
Derivatives  –  970  –  970

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs MAnAgEMEnt trust

2012
 level 1
$’000

 level 2
$’000

 level 3
$’000

 total
$’000

Financial liabilities
Retirement village resident loans  –  –  162,602  162,602

the following tables present the trusts’ financial instruments that were measured and recognised at fair value at 30 June 2011.

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs fund

2011
 Level 1
$’000

 Level 2
$’000

 Level 3
$’000

 total
$’000

Financial liabilities
Retirement village resident loans  –  –  150,761  150,761

Derivatives  –  482  –  482

 –  482  150,761  151,243

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs MAnAgEMEnt trust

2011
 Level 1
$’000

 Level 2
$’000

 Level 3
$’000

 total
$’000

Financial liabilities
Retirement village resident loans  –  –  150,761  150,761

the following table presents the changes in icmt’s level 3 instruments for the financial year.

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust
rEtirEMEnt VillAgE 

rEsidEnts’ loAns

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

opening balance  150,761  140,945

net (gain)/loss on change in fair value of resident loans  284  (182)

accrued deferred management fee income, net of cash collected  (3,654)  (3,074)

Proceeds from resident loans  20,885  15,178

Repayment of resident loans  (5,977)  (2,106)

other  304  –

closing balance  162,303  150,761
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the current market value of the independent living units is an input to the valuation of retirement village resident loans. changing 
the value used for this input by an increase of 10% would increase the fair value of these loans by $16,000,000 (2011: $14,700,000).

the change has been calculated in accordance with the formula set out in the contracts with the residents and incorporates the 
market value of the property and the expected tenure of each resident.

the carrying amounts of the trusts’ other financial instruments approximate their fair values.

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012
$

 2011
$

 2012
$

 2011
$

22. Auditor’s rEMunErAtion
amounts received or receivable by ernst & Young for:

audit or review of financial reports of the Fund and any 
other entity in the consolidated entity  406,603  332,220  –  –

other services – assurance related  33,020  6,338  –  –

 439,623  338,558  –  –

23. ContingEnCiEs
there are no contingent liabilities noted by the trusts.

24. rElAtEd PArtiEs
(a) Responsible entity
the responsible entity for both trusts from 4 June 2012 is ingenia communities Re Limited (“icRe”). ingenia communities Re 
Limited is an australian domiciled company and is a wholly owned subsidiary of ingenia communities Holdings Limited.

until 4 June 2012, the responsible entity for both trusts was ing management Limited (“imL”), a member of the ing group of 
companies for which the ultimate holding company is ing groep nV, a company incorporated in the netherlands.

(b) Fees of the Responsible entity and its related parties
ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 

fund
ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

note
 2012

$
 2011

$
 2012

$
 2011

$

ing management Limited:

 asset management fees  1,830,036  1,836,014  477,646  379,000

ingenia communities Re Limited:

 asset management fees  57,564  –  94,744  –

 1,887,600  1,836,014  572,390  379,000

ing management Limited:

 Fees waived 4  (2,279,213)  –  (220,324)  –

 (391,613)  1,836,014  924,456  379,000

the Responsible entity is entitled to a fee of 0.5% of total assets. in addition, it is entitled to recover certain expenses.

as part of the internalisation of the trusts that occurred on 4 June 2012, imL waived its right to receive $2,500,000 in fees that 
accrued to 30 June 2011.

the amount accrued and recognised but unpaid at reporting date was:

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012
$

 2011
$

 2012
$

 2011
$

current trade payables  57,564  10,513,449  94,744  913,791

these are included in current trade payables in the balance sheet.
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24. rElAtEd PArtiEs ContinuEd
(c) Holdings of the responsible entity and its related parties
there were no holdings of the Responsible entity and its related parties (including managed investment schemes for which a 
related party is the responsible entity) as at 30 June 2012.

Holdings of those parties as at 30 June 2011 were:

name
 number

of units held

ing Real estate international investments iii BV  28,285,706

there were no distributions received or receivable for either financial year by those parties.

(d) other transactions with the responsible entity and its related parties
Details of the financial support provided by ing groep nV for internalisation are given in note 4.

(e) Key management personnel
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director of the responsible entity.

the names of the directors of icRe, and their dates of appointment or resignation if they were not directors for all of the 
financial year, are:

Jim Hazel (chairman) appointed 27 march 2012
Philip clark am appointed 4 June 2012
amanda Heyworth appointed 16 april 2012
simon owen (managing Director) appointed 25 november 2011
greg inkson appointed 25 november 2011; resigned 24 april 2012
Peter Day appointed 25 november 2011; resigned 24 april 2012

the names of the directors of imL, and their dates of appointment or resignation if they were not directors for all of the period 
from 1 July 2011 to 4 June 2012, are:

michael coleman (chairman) appointed 1 July 2011
Hein Brand
Philip clark am Resigned 4 June 2012
michael easson am
scott macDonald Resigned 13 July 2011

the names of other key management personnel, and their dates of appointment or resignation if they did not occupy their 
position for all of the financial year, are:

simon owen managing Director
nicole Fisher chief operating officer
tania Betts chief Financial officer; appointed 14 may 2012
Denis Hickey imL chief executive officer; resigned 31 august 2011
Danny agnoletto imL chief Financial officer; resigned 31 august 2011
greg inkson imL chief executive officer; appointed 1 september 2011
Peter Day imL chief Financial officer; appointed 1 september 2011
sarah wiesener imL general counsel; appointed 1 september 2011

Key management personnel do not receive any remuneration directly from the trusts. they receive remuneration from the 
Responsible entity or its related parties in their capacity as directors or employees of the Responsible entity or its related parties. 
consequently, the trusts do not pay any compensation as defined in accounting standard aasB 124 Related Parties to its key 
management personnel.
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units in the Fund and icmt held directly, indirectly or beneficially by each key management person, including their 
related parties, were:

 2012  2011

stapled securities
Jim Hazel

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  –  –

 acquisitions  500,000  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  500,000  –

Philip clark am

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  90,151  90,151

 acquisitions  –  –

 Disposals  –  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  90,151  90,151

amanda Heyworth

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  –  –

 acquisitions  200,000  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  200,000  –

simon owen

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  367,600  367,600

 acquisitions  1,073,150  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  1,440,750  367,600

there were no distributions received or receivable from the trusts by any key management person in either financial year.

Performance quantum rights held by key management personnel were:

 2012  2011

Performance quantum rights
simon owen

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  –  –

 granted  2,260,000  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  2,260,000  –

nicole Fisher

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  –  –

 granted  791,000  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  791,000  –

tania Betts

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  –  –

 granted  791,000  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  791,000  –
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24. rElAtEd PArtiEs ContinuEd
Retention quantum rights held by key management personnel were:

 2012  2011

Retention quantum rights
simon owen

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  –  –

 granted  1,070,000  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  1,070,000  –

nicole Fisher

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  –  –

 granted  374,000  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  374,000  –

tania Betts

 Held at the beginning of the financial year  –  –

 granted  374,000  –

 Held at the end of the financial year  374,000  –

25. PArEnt finAnCiAl inforMAtion
summary financial information about the Parent of each trust is:

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

current assets  29,101  24,974  65  8,269

total assets  202,597  207,802  3,628  9,178

current liabilities  33,865  10,861  3,083  1,734

total liabilities  114,914  109,822  3,310  9,713

unitholders equity:

 issued units  480,694  486,694  3,351  3,351

 Foreign currency translation reserve  1  –  (33)  –

 accumulated losses  (393,013)  (388,814)  (2,999)  (3,886)

 total unitholders' equity  87,682  97,880  319  (535)

Loss from continuing operations  (1,968)  (9,032)  (1,821)  (155)

net loss attributable to unitholders of each trust  (1,968)  (9,032)  (1,821)  (155)

total comprehensive income  (1,967)  (9,032)  (1,854)  (155)
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26. suBsidiAriEs
(a) names of subsidiaries
the consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance with 
the accounting policy described in note 1(d):

ownErsHiP intErEst

name country of residence
2012

%
 2011

%

subsidiaries of ingenia communities Fund
Bridge street trust australia  100  100

Browns Plains Road trust australia  100  100

casuarina Road trust australia  100  100

edinburgh Drive trust australia  100  100

ina community Living subsidiary trust no. 2 australia  100  100

ina community Living oak tree subsidiary trust no.1 australia  100  100

ina community Living subsidiary trust no. 1 australia  100  100

ina Kiwi communities subsidiary trust no. 1 australia  100  100

ina sunny trust australia  100  100

Jefferis street trust australia  100  100

Lovett street trust australia  100  100

Regency subsidiary trust australia  100  100

settlers subsidiary trust australia  100  100

sunnycove gladstone unit trust australia  100  100

sunnycove Rockhampton unit trust australia  100  100

taylor street (1) trust australia  100  100

taylor street (2) trust australia  100  100

ing community Living Fund inc united states of america  100  100

ing community Living LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 1, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 10, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 11, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 12, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 13, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 14, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 2, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 3, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 4, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 5, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 6, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 7, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 8, LLc united states of america  100  100

ing us students no. 9, LLc united states of america  100  100
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ownErsHiP intErEst

name country of residence
2012

%
 2011

%

subsidiaries of ingenia communities management trust
garden Villages management trust australia  100  100 

ina community Living Lynbrook trust australia  100  100 

ina community Living oak tree subsidiary trust no.2 australia  100  100 

ina Real estate cc trust no. 1 australia  100  – 

Regency operations trust australia  100  100 

settlers operations trust australia  100  100 

ina nZ subsidiary trust no 1 (1) new Zealand  10  – 

csH Lynbrook gP LLc united states of america  100  100 

csH Lynbrook LP united states of america  100  100 

ing community Living ii LLc united states of america  100  100 

Lynbrook Freer street member LLc united states of america  100  100 

Lynbrook management, LLc united states of america  100  100 

(1) on 4 June 2012, icmt acquired a 10% economic interest and all of the voting rights in respect of this trust, and consequently consolidates it 
from that date.

the trusts’ voting interest in all other subsidiaries is the same as the ownership interest.

(b) acquisition of subsidiary
as noted above, icmt acquired a 10% economic interest and all of the voting rights (controlling interest) in respect of ina nZ 
subsidiary trust no 1 (“nZs”) for no consideration, as part of the internalisation of management of the trusts. at the date of 
acquisition, nZs owned the trusts’ new Zealand students portfolio.

the fair value of the assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition, and their carrying amounts in the financial statements of nZs 
immediately prior to the acquisition were:

 Fair
 values
$’000

 carrying
 amounts

$’000

cash  2,268  2,268

Receivables  904  904

Property investments  19,843  19,843

Payables  (1,202)  (1,202)

Borrowings  (16,153)  (16,153)

net assets  5,660  5,660

non-controlling interest – icF  (5,094)  (5,094)

icmt share of net assets acquired  566  566

26. suBsidiAriEs
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the purchase consideration compares to net assets acquired as follows:

$’000

Purchase Price  –

icmt share of net assets acquired  566

gain on acquisition  566

the net inflow of cash resulting from the acquisition was:

$’000

cash paid  –

cash included in net assets  2,268

inflow of cash  2,268

given icmt acquired 100% of the voting rights in nZs, it is deemed to have a controlling interest and therefore consolidates 
100% of the net assets in the financial statements of icmt showing separately a 90% non-controlling interest attributable to icF. 
icF continues to hold its 90% economic interest as an equity accounted investment which from 30 June 2011 was reclassified as  
a discontinued operation.

the acquisition of nZs contributed a $863,000 gain to the net profit for the financial year.

if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the 2012 financial year, icmt revenue would have been $29,586,000 and net 
profit would have been $10,058,000.

27. sEgMEnt inforMAtion
(a) Description of segments
the trusts invest in seniors accommodation properties located in australia. the rental villages in australia comprise the garden 
Villages segment, the rental villages that are moving to a deferred management fee structure comprise the DmF conversion 
segment and the deferred management fee properties comprise the settlers segment. the trusts have identified the operating 
segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the chief operating decision maker in assessing 
performance and in determining the allocation of resources. other parts of the trusts are neither an operating segment nor part  
of an operating segment. assets that do not belong to an operating segment are described below as “unallocated”.

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

(b) segment revenue
Revenues from external customers:

 garden Villages  18,032  21,643  19,012  21,643

 DmF conversion  1,204  –  1,325  –

 settlers  4,572  4,804  4,997  4,804

 total segment revenue  23,808  26,447  25,334  26,447

interest income  1,244  468  85  79

total revenue  25,052  26,915  25,419  26,526
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ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

27. sEgMEnt inforMAtion ContinuEd

(c) segment result
garden Villages  5,327  7,214  346  (5,146)

DmF conversion  1,121  –  (2,229)  –

settlers  1,084  2,822  866  3,515

 total segment result  7,532  10,036  (1,017)  (1,631)

interest income  1,244  468  85  79

net foreign exchange loss  (225)  (448)  (123)  81

net gain on disposal of investment properties  (109)  2,256  –  –

gain/ (loss) on acquisition  (2,934) –  2,934 –

net gain on change in fair value of:

 investment properties  2,636  (2,189)  4,948  11,327

 Derivatives  111  (2,149)  –  –

 Retirement village resident loans  (322)  182  (284)  182

gain on internalisation  439  –  786  –

Finance costs  (8,521)  (9,398)  (4,897)  (2,047)

Responsible entity's fees  (1,888)  (1,836)  (572)  (379)

other expenses  (804)  (1,157)  (17)  (161)

gain on revaluation of newly constructed 
retirement villages  –  (2,743)  –  (2,072)

income tax benefit  158  1,375  38  1,389

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations  (2,683)  (5,603)  1,881  6,768

(d) segment assets
garden Villages  113,005  124,270  37,408  34,384

DmF conversion  –  –  3,234  –

settlers  48,503  205,015  193,841  192,093

total segment assets  161,508  329,285  234,483  226,477

now discontinued  43,414  79,681  55,785  25,019

unallocated  16,869  11,691  –  3,195

 221,791  420,657  290,268  254,691
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ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
fund

ingEniA CoMMunitiEs 
MAnAgEMEnt trust

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

 2012
$’000

 2011
$’000

28.  notEs to tHE CAsH flow stAtEMEnts
(a)  Reconciliation of profit to net cash flows from operations
net profit for the year  29,124  13,051  8,736  9,854

adjustments for:

 gain on internalisation  (439)  –  (786)  –

 unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/loss  225  653  (123)  (46)

 net (gain)/loss on disposal of investment properties  2,934  (2,256)  (2,934)  –

 net (gain)/loss on change in fair value of:

  investment properties – continuing  (2,636)  2,189  (4,948)  (11,327)

  investment properties – discontinued  5,562  (4,474)  (2,884)  (2,801)

  Derivatives  (111)  2,149  –  –

  Retirement village resident loans  322  (182)  284  (182)

 us students borrowings forgiven  (6,922) – – –

  excess of distributions received from equity accounted 
investments over share of profits  (25,539)  (7,237)  (418)  (253)

 Deferred tax expense/(benefit)  412  (1,389)  (34)  (1,389)

 other non-cash items  158  –  393  –

operating profit/(loss) for the year before changes in 
working capital  3,090  2,504  (2,715)  (6,144)

changes in working capital:

 (increase)/decrease in receivables  (376)  (1,956)  (13,710)  1,358

 (increase)/decrease in other assets  (237)  –  (119)  –

 increase in retirement village resident loans –  8,675  14,907  9,150

 increase/(decrease) in other payables  1,053  (590)  4,305  2,724

net cash provided by operating activities  3,530  8,633  2,669  7,088

29. suBsEQuEnt EVEnts
on 13 July 2012, ingenia communities acquired Ridge estate Village, a partially developed deferred management fee retirement 
village, in gillieston Heights, nsw. the purchase price was $2,025,000 and was funded from cash reserves.

on 28 august 2012, icF refinanced its variable rate australian dollar denominated bank debt facility, which was due to expire in 
march 2013. the new facility is a market competitive variable rate revolving debt facility of $82.0m with commonwealth Bank of 
australia expiring 30 september 2015.

on 13 august 2012, the expiry date of the Bank of new Zealand debt facility, which funds the nZ students portfolio, was extended 
by six months to 31 march 2013. all other terms and conditions remain unchanged.
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 in accordance with a resolution of the directors of ingenia communities Re Limited, i state that:

1. in the opinion of the directors:

(a) the financial statements and notes of ingenia communities Fund and of ingenia communities management trust are in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of each trust’s financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of their performance for the year 

ended on that date; and
(ii) complying with accounting standards and Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that ingenia communities Fund and ingenia communities management trust will 
be able to pay their debts as and when they become due and payable.

2. the notes to the financial statements include an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with international financial 
reporting standards at note 1(b).

3. this declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in accordance with 
section 295a of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2012.

on behalf of the Board

Jim Hazel 
chairman

sydney, 29 august 2012

directors’ declaration
 YeaR enDeD 30 June 2012
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  Liability limited by a scheme approved 
under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

 

 

Independent auditor’s report to the unitholders of Ingenia Communities 
Fund and Ingenia Communities Management Trust (“the Trusts”) 

Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report which has been prepared in accordance with ASIC 
class order 05/642 and comprises: 

• the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2012, the consolidated income statement, the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in unitholders’ interest 
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors' declaration of 
Ingenia Communities Fund, comprising Ingenia Communities Fund and the entities it controlled at 
year end or from time to time during the financial year. 

• the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2012, the consolidated income statement, the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in unitholders’ interest 
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors' declaration of 
Ingenia Communities Management Trust, comprising Ingenia Communities Management Trust and 
the entities it controlled at year end or from time to time during the financial year. 

Directors' Responsibility for the Financial Report 

The directors of Ingenia Communities RE Limited as Responsible Entity of the Trusts are responsible for 
the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal controls as the directors 
determine are necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1 (b), the directors also state, in accordance with 
Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements 
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditor's responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity's preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's 
internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial report. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting our audit we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001.  We have given to the directors of the company a written Auditor’s Independence Declaration, a 
copy of which is included in the directors’ report. 

Opinion 
In our opinion: 

1. the financial report of Ingenia Communities Fund and Ingenia Communities Management Trust is 
in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

i giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Trusts  as at 30 June 2012 and of 
their performance for the year ended on that date; and 

ii complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 
and 

2. the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed 
in Note 1 (b) 

 
 
 

 
Ernst & Young 
 
 

 
 
Chris Lawton 
Partner 
Sydney 
29 August 2012 
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top 20 unitholders

Rank name of securityholder
number of securities held 

at 31 august 2012 %

1 nationaL nominees LimiteD 44,372,878 10.06%

2 J P moRgan nominees austRaLia  LimiteD  <casH income a/c> 31,145,801 7.06%

3 J P moRgan nominees austRaLia LimiteD 30,750,328 6.97%

4 citicoRP nominees PtY LimiteD 27,812,368 6.31%

5 citicoRP nominees PtY LimiteD  <coLoniaL FiRst state inV a/c> 17,291,972 3.92%

6 mcneiL nominees PtY LimiteD 16,653,533 3.78%

7 uBs nominees PtY LtD 16,619,651 3.77%

8 mR simon maRais 15,688,264 3.56%

9 RBc inVestoR seRVices austRaLia nominees PtY 
LimiteD  <BKcust a/c>

15,353,569 3.48%

10 inDia eQuities FunD LimiteD 14,104,177 3.20%

11 BonD stReet custoDians LimiteD  <mosaic sPeciaL situat a/c> 11,159,188 2.53%

12 BnP PaRiBas noms (nZ) LtD  <DRP> 9,799,253 2.22%

13 meRcantiLe inVestment comPanY LtD 9,470,823 2.15%

14 HsBc custoDY nominees (austRaLia) LimiteD 9,363,554 2.12%

15 aust eXecutoR tRustees sa LtD  <tea custoDians LimiteD> 4,867,847 1.10%

16 BLueFLag HoLDings PtY LtD  <tHe BLueFLag a/c> 4,000,000 0.91%

17 aBn amRo cLeaRing sYDneY nominees PtY LtD  <custoDian a/c> 3,461,654 0.78%

18 Y s cHains PtY LtD 3,200,000 0.73%

19 mRs moniKa BatKin  <est J s w BatKin a/c> 3,100,000 0.70%

20 HsBc custoDY nominees (austRaLia) LimiteD  <nt-comnwLtH 
suPeR coRP a/c>

2,721,323 0.62%

total 290,936,183 65.97%

rAngE of sECuritYHoldErs

Range no of Holders %

1 to 1,000 189 5.08

1,001 to 5,000 710 19.09

5,001 to 10,000 767 20.62

10,001 to 100,000 1,781 47.89

100,001 and over 272 7.31

total 3,719 100.00
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investor relations

Enquiries relating to ingenia Communities group (AsX code: 
inA) can be directed to the link Market services investor 
information line on 1300 554 474 (or from outside Australia 
+61 2 8280 7111). this service is available from 8:30am to 
5:30pm (sydney time) on all business days.

www.ingeniacommunities.com.au
You can visit the ingenia communities group website to 
find information on the group and its property portfolios. 
while visiting the website, all securityholders can access 
their investment details including holding balance and 
payment history. Past annual Reports along with all asX 
announcements made by the group are also available.

distribution Payments and Annual taxation statement
ina paid a distribution for the 2012 financial year. the 2011/2012 
annual tax statement was issued to securityholders.

2012/2013 securityholder Calendar
annual general meeting  20 november 2012
2013 annual Report  september 2013

Privacy Policy 
ingenia communities Re Limited is committed to ensuring the 
confidentiality and security of your personal information. the 
ingenia communities Re Limited Privacy Policy, detailing our 
handling of personal information, is available on our website 
www.ingeniacommunities.com.au 

Complaints 
any securityholders wishing to register a complaint should 
direct it to investor services in the first instance, at the 
Responsible entity’s address listed in this Report. 

ingenia communities Re Limited is a member of an 
independent dispute resolution scheme, the Financial 
ombudsman service (Fos). if a securityholder feels that a 
complaint remains unresolved or wishes it to be investigated 
further, Fos can be contacted as below: 

By telephone: 1300 780 808 

in writing: Financial ombudsman service  
gPo Box 3, melbourne Vic 3001  
By email: info@fos.org.au  
website: www.fos.org.au 
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Corporate directory

ingenia Communities group
ingenia communities management trust 
aRsn 122 928 410

ingenia communities Fund 
aRsn 107 459 576

ingenia communities Holdings Limited 
acn 154 444 925

responsible Entity
ingenia communities Re Limited 
acn 154 565 990

registered office 
Level 6, 345 george street sydney nsw 2000

telephone: +61 2 9033 1000  
Facsimile: +61 2 9033 1060 

email: investor@ingeniacommunities.com.au 
website: www.ingeniacommunities.com.au 

directors of inA (as at 31 August 2012) 
J Hazel (chairman) 
a Heyworth 
P clark am 
s owen

secretary 
L Ralph 
t Betts

unit registry 

Link Market Services Limited 
Level 12, 680 george street sydney nsw 2000  
Locked Bag a14 sydney south nsw 1235 

telephone: 1300 554 474 (local call cost)  
or from outside australia: +61 2 8280 7111  
Facsimile: +61 2 9287 0303

email: registrars@linkmarketservices.com.au 

Auditors 

Ernst & Young 
680 george street sydney nsw 2000

disclaimer
this report was prepared by ingenia communities Holdings 
Limited (acn 154 444 925) and ingenia communities 
Re Limited (acn 154 565 990) as responsible entity for 
ingenia communities Fund (aRsn 107 459 576) and ingenia 
communities management trust (aRsn 122 928 410) (together 
ingenia communities group , ina or the group). information 
contained in this report is current as at 30 June 2012. this 
report is provided for information purposes only and has been 
prepared without taking account of any particular reader’s 
financial situation, objectives or needs. nothing contained in 
this report constitutes investment, legal, tax or other advice. 
accordingly, readers should, before acting on any information 
in this report, consider its appropriateness, having regard to 
their objectives, financial situation and needs, and seek the 
assistance of their financial or other licensed professional 
adviser before making any investment decision. this report 
does not constitute an offer, invitation, solicitation or 
recommendation with respect to the subscription for, purchase 
or sale of any security, nor does it form the basis of any 
contract or commitment. 



www.ingeniacommunities.com.au




